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ABOUT CMC REIT

REIT PROFILE

CMC REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT” or “CMC REIT”) is a real estate
investment trust constituted by the trust deed (“Trust Deed”)
entered into between China Merchants Land Asset Management
Co., Limited, the manager of CMC REIT (“REIT Manager” or
“Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, the trustee
of CMC REIT (“Trustee”), on 15 November 2019. The units of
CMC REIT (“Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 10
December 2019 (“Listing Date”).

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with a sole purpose of managing the assets of CMC REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Land Limited (stock code: 00978).

OUR MISSION

CMC REIT’s key objectives are to provide investors with stable and
sustainable distributions and to achieve long term capital growth.
This aim of providing attractive total returns will be achieved
by proactive management of the properties in the CMC REIT’s
portfolio.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND
HIGHLIGHTS

Valuation
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS / %35 [2] g8 & 1 2

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020 Change
HZ12A3ALEE 20214 20204 )

(“Reporting  (“2020 Relevant

Year”) Year”)

(THREFE]D ([20201HEFE D)
Revenue (RMB’000) W (AREFT) 432,831 370,125 16.9%
Net Property Income (RMB’000) ERNFEARETFT) 320,304 273,943 16.9%
Distributable Income (RMB’000) DIRBAARETFIT) 170,403 162,667 4.8%
Payout Ratio DR E 100% 100% -
Distribution per Unit (HK$) FELEUER(ET) 0.1858 0.1721 8.0%
Distribution per Unit Yield BEL BN RIER 7.1%’ 7.0% -
Committed Distribution per Unit (HK$) Ee B REEGET) 0.2541 0.2360 77%
Committed Distribution per Unit Yield — BE& B9 REAGZRGE R 9.7%? 9.6% -

Notes:

(1) Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on 31 December 2021 and

the distribution per unit for the year ended 31 December 2021.

() Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on 31 December 2021 and
the committed distribution per unit for the year ended 31 December 2021.

i

(1) ZRBEREEEREFAESMN2021F12A31HESEN
W EREZE2021F12A31B LFENTES B
DIRETE

(2) RBEREERTESN2021F12A3MBES B
WM EREZE2021F12A31B L FENTESEN
AIRAEETH -

[N

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 Change

k)|

Total Assets (RMB million) wEE(ANREBET) 7,564 7,207 5.0%

) e
st 6 e SRR 4,007 0910 2%
Net Assets per Unit Attributable EeBMRA AN %ﬁﬁ 3.55 3.47 23%
to Unitholders (RMB) BUBEESMEARET)

Value of Portfolio (RMB million) HEBBEAREEET) 6,746 6,644 1.5%
Gearing Ratio EARBER 29.2% 27.9% 4.7%
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DISTRIBUTION

DISTRIBUTION

Total distributable income is the consolidated profit after tax,
before distribution to the unitholders of CMC REIT (“Unitholders”)
as adjusted to eliminate the effects of the Adjustments as set out
in the Trust Deed (“Distributable Income”). Distributable Income
for the Reporting Year was RMB170.40 million (2020 Relevant
Year: RMB162.67 million). Based on the Distributable Income,
the distribution per unit to Unitholders for the Reporting Year is

HK$0.1858 (equivalent to RMB0.1511).

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, CMC REIT is required to distribute
to the Unitholders no less than 90% of its distributable income
of each financial period. The Manager intends to distribute to the

Unitholders 100% of the distributable income for 2021.

Pursuant to the DPU Commitment (as defined in the offering
circular of CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 (the “Offering
Circular”)), Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”), being
the holding company of the Vendor (as defined in the Offering
Circular), has undertaken to make a cash payment to the Trustee (in
its capacity as trustee of CMC REIT) for the benefit of CMC REIT if
the Annualised Provisional DPU (as defined in the Offering Circular)
is less than the Annualised Committed DPU for the Relevant Period
(as defined in the Offering Circular), so that in such circumstances
the annualised distribution per Unit of CMC REIT for the Relevant
Period shall be equal to the Annualised Committed DPU. The
Annualised Committed DPU for year ended 31 December 2021 is

HK$0.2541 per Unit.

Including cash payments received under the DPU Commitment,
the final distribution per unit for the period from 1 July 2021 to 31
December 2021 is HK$0.1502 (“Final Distribution”). Together
with the paid interim distribution per unit of HK$0.1039, the
total distribution per unit for the Reporting Year amounted to
HK$0.2541, equivalent to a distribution yield of 9.7%, based on the
closing price of CMC REIT on 31 December 2021 (being HK$2.61).

The Final Distribution will be paid to entities regarded as
Unitholders as at the record date (as described in detail under the
heading of “CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS”). As
such, those who are not regarded as Unitholders on the record

date have no entitlement to receive the Final Distribution.

papli

A RRAREAR T RBEREERTES
MNESBEMEEA(TRESBEMEEA DR
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FEE - ARM16267EETT) - BIEAI9IKWK
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k4018588 T (FEE N ARKE0.15117T) °
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The Final Distribution payable to Unitholders will be paid in Hong
Kong dollar. The exchange rate of the distribution per unit for the
Reporting Year is the average central parity rate as announced by
the People’s Bank of China for the five business days preceding
the date of the 2021 annual results announcement.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS

For the purpose of determining entitlement for the Final Distribution,
the register of Unitholders was closed from Tuesday, 12 April
2022 to Thursday, 14 April 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of units was registered, and the record
date was on Thursday, 14 April 2022. In order to qualify for the
Final Distribution, all unit certificates with completed transfer forms
must be lodged with the unit registrar of CMC REIT, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 11 April
2022. The payment of the Final Distribution will be made on Friday,
27 May 2022.
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MILESTONE

hina Merchants

OELLEEE

e Awarded “Listed Company
Awards of Excellence” by Hong
Kong Economic Journal

e Held the first Unitholder’s
Extraordinary General Meeting

12 A

o REEWMEHEEE FTAE
HEAH]

o BMEARESBNFEARR
e

Nov

e Awarded the “Most Investment
Value Award in the Greater Bay
Area” by Hong Kong Ta Kung
Wen Wei Media Group

11 A

o BRANEGHESEERENEE
BARER&xEREEEE]

Announcement of 2021
Interim results. Total revenue
and net property income
was RMB211,802,000 and
RMB161,024,000, respectively,
and total distributable income
was about RMB97,600,000.
Distribution per unit is
HK$0.10309.

Awarded the Honors Award
(Cover Photo/Design — Real
Estate Management Category)
by ARC Awards 2021 and the
Silver Award (PDF Cover) and
the Bronze Award (PDF Interior
Design) by IADA.

NHE2021F R HAZE LS - 54
BENMMERAFRE D BIEEE A
R #211,802,000 7T K& A R #&
161,024,0007C * Al DRI AL
AER#97,600,0007T © GES
BRI 5K A0.103976 7T °

S S EFRARCHEE20214)
[HEAEM Bt - BiESE
45 |5 EE - | ADARI[ HE R
5HPDFh 1SR 22 &% [ A B :&5TPDF
Fi |8 2%

Disclosed quarterly operating
statistics announcement.

FIGRBFTELLBEAS -

Announcement of the first
annual results after listing for
the whole year. Total revenue
and net property income
are RMB370,125,000 and
RMB273,943,000, respectively,
and total distributable income
is about RMB162,667,000.
Committed distribution per unit
is HK$0.2360.

N EHEE D TESE
PHEEE  WBZBRBR
EWRAZFBED RS A
# 370,125,000 7T & A B
273,943,0007T © Al 2R YA
ARB162,667,0007T © HH %
B9k (HF5)0.23607 7T ©

B2 F A S



Dec

e Awarded “The Outstanding Listed
Companies Award” by the Hong
Kong Institute of Financial Analysis
and Professional Commentators
Limited

o Setting up the Environment, Social
and Governance (ESG) working
group under the board of directors

12 A

s REEBERESWMMHERE LHA
GEIENd

o REFFINRURIE -
(ESG) T /)M

HERER

Oct

e Payment of HK$0.0951 as
distribution per unit for the period
from the listing date to 30 June
2020.

10 A

e F{FB EWMHEZE2020F6H30H8
ZBESEMHIK0.0951ETT

Aug

e  Announcement of 2020 Interim
results. Total revenue and net property
income are RMB177,906,000 and
RMB138,703,000, respectively,
and distributable income is about
RMB81,932,000, distribution per unit

is HK$0.0809.

8 A

o NM2020F R HIFEE - W= B
BEHIWAFEDFIGEA
R # 177,906,000 7T )Si AR
138,703,0007T * AJ D RMA LI AR

/l

#81,932,0007T - BE B HIK
0.0809% 7T °

o Publishing of the first Environment,
Social and Governance (ESG)
Report

< %%LW@:ET RE -#HEk
&6 (ESG) W&

e Announcement of the first
performance results after listing
covering the period from date
of listing till 31 December
2019 when approximately
RMB12,245,000 in distributable
income was recorded and
distribution per unit was
HK$0.0142.

s NMEMREMEEARS -
LT AEE201912431H 1k
HE - R KKRAKNAR
#12,245,0007T * S EE B
7IK0.0142/8 7T °

2019

Listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code
01503.HK

REBE M ERAENE L - £
MHRIR 01503.HK

1979

China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co.,
Ltd. (001979.S2), the sponsor
of China Merchants Commercial
REIT, is established and
becomes the flagship company
of China Merchants Group’s
urban integrated development
and operation sector.
BERAERTES ZERA—
B Br 0 TEEERRNDE
A&l (001979.8Z2) &3 - B
AR REEE T M iRE R
BEENRIR AR -
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CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

DEAR UNITHOLDERS,

CMC REIT has been striving aheay
amid the hard hit by the volatile
pandemic situation since its listing.
The lingering pandemic in the past
year dealt a blow to the global
economy. Continued high inflation
abroad, coupled with the slowdown
in domestic economic growth
exert pressure on the operations
of CMC REIT. The REIT Manager
proactively embraced challenges
by continuous tracking market
dynamics and developing various
flexible business strategies to meet
its annual performance targets. | am
pleased to take this opportunity to
review the achievements of CMC REIT
in 2021 and share my vision for the
future with Unitholders.
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PERFORMANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Reporting Year"),
CMC REIT achieved good growth momentum in both operating
income and Distributable Income. Operating income for the
year amounted to RMB432.8 million, representing a year-on-
year growth of 16.9%, while the Distributable Income reached
RMB170.4 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 4.8%.
The REIT Manager intends to distribute 100% of the Distributable
Income to Unitholders. The distribution per unit for the period from
1 July 2021 to 31 December 2021 is HK$15.02 cents. Together
with the interim distribution per unit of HK$10.39 cents, the total
distribution per unit for the Reporting Year amounted to HK$25.41
cents, equivalent to a distribution yield of 9.7%, based on the unit
closing price on 31 December 2021.

MARKET AND OPERATION REVIEW

The year 2021 is the first year of the 14th Five-Year Plan. In the
past year, China has built a moderately prosperous society in
all aspects with an economic growth rate of 8.1%, making a
good start for the 14th Five-Year Plan. Shenzhen also delivered
remarkable results with a year-on-year GDP growth of 6.7%
exceeding RMBS3 ftrillion for the first time. The total retail sales of
consumer goods reached RMB949.8 billion, up 9.6% year-on-year,
just one step away from achieving trillions. The Central Government
announced the expansion of Qianhai Free Trade Zone in 2021,
which boosted the market's confidence in Shenzhen's economic
development.

CMC REIT’s Property Portfolio comprise four office buildings and
one shopping centre in Shekou, Shenzhen. The overall occupancy
rate of property portfolio increased 3.4 percentage points from
84.3% at the end of 2020 to 87.7% in 2021. The occupancy rate
of the Technology Building increased significantly to 100%, with
a 15% year-over-year increase in rental rates. The rental rates
of the remaining four properties also recorded a 3% to 6% year-
over-year growth and stable occupancy rates, with both Garden
City Shopping Centre and New Times Plaza reaching over 90%
occupancy rate at the end of the year.

EER DK

RENEE2021F12 A1 B IEFE ([FHEF
El) BERmERTESERTER 1D
IR AEIERNR TS - 2FEREERA
AR#E4328B 8T - #LFHER16.9% * Al DIk
IWAZEARE17048 87T © FLLIERLIE8% © 5
AEEIEARAES EAFE AKE100%890] 5
IRUEA » 8202147 1B E2021F12831H 1t
HRMBES BN DR A15.028(l - ERESHE
SEMFEDIR10.398l - MEFENTES
BRI AR £25.4178 1 - #2021412 A 31
BESBMBMERE + 2RKEER7% °

% &AL E O R
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To unlock and enhance the value of properties, the REIT Manager
and the operation team have been actively pushing ahead with
the upgrades and renovations of properties. Notwithstanding
the confirmed cases of COVID-19 reported in Shenzhen from
time to time during the year, the upgrade and renovation work
of the common areas of Technology Building 2 and Cyberport
Building were completed on time, while the progress of the asset
enhancement within New Times Plaza and Garden City Shopping
Centre is on track. It is expected that the upgrade and renovation
work will be largely completed by the opening of Shenzhen Metro
Line 12, bringing in more high-quality tenants and generating
greater benefits for CMC REIT. Attributable to the outstanding
performance in both rental rate and occupancy rate of the overall
asset portfolio, the valuation of property assets continued to
improve. During the year, the valuation of CMC REIT's properties
increased by 1.5% year-on-year to RMB6,746 million.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

At the beginning of 2022, the geopolitical conflicts caused volatility
and disruptions to the domestic and international economic
markets in the ever-changing and increasingly severe external
environment. The Central Government expects stability would be
the top priority of the economic development in 2022 with a growth
rate of about 5.5%, a medium-high rate of economic growth from
a high base number. The REIT Manager will adjust its management
strategy timely to ensure that CMC REIT can achieve stability with
growth in 2022 and deliver outstanding results.

While Shenzhen's retail property and office markets rebounded in
2021, the overall commercial market is expected to remain highly
competitive in the coming future. With the new supply of office
buildings of millions square meters to be delivered over the next
five years, the market competition is expected to be intensified.
Most of the new office buildings will be built in emerging areas
which could have an impact on the Shekou area where our
projects are located. Despite the headwinds from online shopping
and COVID-19 faced by the retail and commercial sectors, the
community-based shopping centers covering a large number of
residents are expected to continue to benefit from the upgrading
consumption of residents and the emerging "doorstep" spending
pattern.

RERARFAMEEE FRERARELH
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CMC REIT’s sponsor, CMSK, has set a “double 100" target for
2021, striving to achieve 100 shopping centers and RMB10 billion
in operating income from the properties portfolio by 2025. The
REIT Manager will actively work with CMSK to identify suitable
investment targets to inject, expand the overall asset management
scale beyond Shenzhen and diversify the overall asset portfolio.

Taking stability as the top priority, in 2022, the REIT Manager
will be more proactive in managing its properties and advancing
the enhancement of its assets to increase competitiveness in the
market and the operation performance of its properties, thereby
unlocking the value of its assets. | am confident that in the coming
year, the REIT Manager and the operating team will continue to
stay calm and vigilant against various uncertainties of the current
situation with vigorous deployment, driving the REIT’s performance
to a higher level in 2022!

APPRECIATION

Finally, 1 would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all Unitholders for their trust and support in CMC REIT.
| would also like to thank the Manager and operations team for
their dedicated efforts and contributions over the last year.

HUANG Junlong
Chairman

25 April 2022
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ETERFYITES

HUANG Junlong

E3]

Mr. Huang, aged 56, was appointed as a Director and the
Chairman of the REIT Manager on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Huang is a non-executive director of China Merchants
Land Limited (“CML”, stock code: 00978.HK) and the chief
financial officer of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK”, stock code: 001979.SZ2). Prior to
that, he served successively as a deputy general manager of
the finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Company Limited* (@B O TER AR A7) (currently
known as CMSK), the chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.* (FJIBEAILARRAF),
China Merchants Port Service Co., Ltd.* (BEBERMDBRAR])
and China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (HEBYWiER
AR A 7)), the deputy in charge of the finance department of China
Merchants Group and the supervisor of China Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (B BibEEikkmH AR A ) (“CMPD?,
a company merged with CMSK in December 2016).

Mr. Huang obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from Changsha
Institute of Communications in 1988, majoring in financial
accounting of engineering. He obtained a Master of Business
Administration from China Europe International Business School
in 2008. Mr. Huang was appraised and approved as a senior
accountant of the PRC in 1998. He obtained a Qualification
Certificate for Secretary of the Board of Directors* (EE @M EE K
) issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2015.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BITES

GUO Jin

HE

Mr. Guo, aged 53, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.
He is also one of the Responsible Officers and the Chief Investment
and Asset Management Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Guo has extensive experience in the real estate and financial
industry. He used to serve at Savills Investment Management (Hong
Kong) Limited from June 2014 to January 2019 where he took the
position of the Head of Greater China and was also a responsible
officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 9 regulated activities from
August 2017 to January 2019. Prior to that, he worked at ICBC
International Holdings Limited (LiRBERIZERER A F) from
November 2009 to November 2012, where he took the position of
the executive director of the investment management department.
He was a licensed representative for Type 1 and Type 4 regulated
activities at Standard Chartered Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
from August 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of
Property from the University of Auckland in September 2003. He
was a CFA charterholder and a member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (Valuation).
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHITES

LIU Ning

g

Ms. Liu, aged 53, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Ms. Liu is a non-executive director of CML and a director of China
Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd (stock code:
001914.S2). She is also the deputy general manager, the secretary
of the board of directors of CMSK and the general manager of
the China Merchants Apartment department of CMSK. She was
appointed as a representative for securities affairs of CMPD in
2001 and the secretary to the board of directors of CMPD from
2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu was a member of the listing committee
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from September 2016 to
September 2018. She acted as an expert on pre-listing review of
corporate bonds of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from May 2017
to May 2019. Previously, Ms. Liu also acted as an independent
director of Han’s Laser Technology Industry Group Co., Ltd.* (&
YT KSR R D B R A ], stock code: 002008) from June
2017 to December 2018, Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co., Ltd.”
(FRYITEERERMN AR AR, stock code: 002681) from March
2015 to February 2019, Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd.* (&
YT B A IR B R AT, stock code: 300044) from September
2017 to February 2019 and Shenzhen Kingsino Technology Co.,
Ltd.* ORI 2 ERFHAR D BR A A, stock code: 002548)
from May 2017 to February 2019, all of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu completed courses of Master of Business Administration
at Nankai University in 2000 and obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Macau University of Science and Technology in
2003. Ms. Liu holds a Qualification Certificate for Secretary of the
Board of Directors* (EE&WMEE K EZ) issued by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in October 2004.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHITES

YU Zhiliang

RER

Mr. Yu, aged 43, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Yu has been an executive director of CML since June 2012.
He has also served as the general manager of CML since August
2016. Mr. Yu is responsible for the strategic development and the
facilitating and implementation of strategies and business plans of
CML and its subsidiaries. Mr. Yu was CML’s chief financial officer
from June 2012 to August 2016. Mr. Yu has been a director of
Champion Apex Limited (£ 55 G R A 7]) since January 2013 and a
director of Harvest Allied Investments Limited ((EZ=&EBR AR
since April 2013.

Mr. Yu used to serve as the chief financial officer of China
Merchants Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.* (BEmtE(EFM)ERA
7)) and Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.*(f& &
Bt R EFIEE A R 2 7). Mr. Yu is a director of China Merchants
Properties Development Ltd. (FHiE B E&EE AR A 7)), Wahsheung
Finance Ltd. ZERBt B R A ) and certain major subsidiaries of
CML.

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of Administration (majoring in
accounting) from Xiamen University in 2001 and a Master of
Business Administration in Finance from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in December 2009. Mr. Yu obtained the Qualification
Certification of Specialty and Technology for Accountancy issued
by the Ministry of Personnel of the PRC in May 2005.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
WYY TES

LIN Hua

e

Mr. Lin, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin established Shanghai HeYi Information Technology Limited
(g Mi%E BRI R AR A F) as its controlling shareholder. He
was appointed as an independent director and a member of the
audit and related transactions control committee of Industrial Bank
Co., Ltd.* (H%4R1T) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601166) in July 2015, and has accumulated
extensive experience in reviewing financial statements of a public
company since then as part of his responsibilities pursuant to The
Rules Governing the Work of the Audit and Related Transactions
Control Committee of Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.* (B ZRITIRNDE
PRARIE =G EFHEAN R 51EH1Z 8 TERA. Mr. Lin has been
an independent non-executive director of Zhenro Properties Group
Limited (IF&&hEEBE AR AT (@ company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 6158) since June 2019, and he is also an
independent director of Generali China Asset Management Co.,
Lid* (FEEEEEEREFE2AF]) and an adviser of King & Wood
Mallesons. He used to work at Jin Yuan Capital Management
(Xiamen) Co., Ltd.* (REIEAEIE (BEFT) AR AF]) and Xiamen
Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (EFfTAIZEEZREBRAF]) (a fund of
funds of the Xiamen Municipal People’s Government) as general
manager.

Mr. Lin obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
University of California, Irvine in June 2007. Mr. Lin is a Chartered
Financial Analyst.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYKHITES

LIN Chen

9=

Mr. Lin, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin has been the Chair of Finance and Stelux Professor in
Finance of The University of Hong Kong since 2013, the Associate
Dean of the Faculty of Business and Economics of The University
of Hong Kong, Director of the Centre for Financial Innovation and
Development, and the Associate Director of the HKU-SCF FinTech
Academy. He is a member of the Currency Board Sub-Committee
of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee.

Mr. Lin obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from the South China
University of Technology in 2000 and an MBA (2004), M.A. (2005)
and Ph.D. (2006) from University of Florida.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYEHITES

WONG Yuan Chin Tzena
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Ms. WONG, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 28 July 2021.

Ms. Wong has extensive experience in real estate project
management. Ms. WONG is the founder and director of Abierto
Limited. Ms. WONG is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, in which she is a council member of the Quantity
Surveying Division. Ms. WONG is also a professional member
of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a visiting
lecturer at the School of Professional Education and Executive
Development, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Asian American
Studies from University of Massachusetts at Boston, a
Postgraduate Diploma in Surveying and a Master of Science
degree in Construction Project Management from The University of
Hong Kong.
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Information on the business and working experience of the senior
executives of the REIT Manager is set out below:

GUO Jin

Mr. Guo is the Chief Investment and
Asset Management Officer and one of the
Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is
also the executive Director of the REIT Manager
and information on his business and working
experience has been set out in “Executive
Director” in this section.
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CHOO Chong Yao, Patrick

Mr. Choo is the Head of Compliance and Risk
Management of the REIT Manager, and one of
the Responsible Officers.

Mr. Choo was a director and Chief Investment Officer at Swenson
Asset Management Limited and Swenson Capital Limited from
April 2018 to September 2019, Mr. Choo served as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and acted as the Chief Investment Officer at
Kingdom Investment Managers Limited from October 2015 to
December 2017. Mr. Choo served as the Chief Investment Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited, the manager of Champion REIT, from March
2006 until July 2015, during which he was responsible for the
strategic planning and management of Champion REIT and for
communicating and liaising with unitholders of Champion REIT.
Prior to joining Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, Mr. Choo
served at Kingsway Fund Management Limited from May 2001
until November 2005, where he took the position of director. Mr.
Choo first entered the asset management industry in 1989 when
he joined DBS Asset Management in Singapore.

Mr. Choo graduated magna cum laude from the University of
Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Electrical
Engineering) in 1989.
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_ ZHONG Ning
— Mr. Zhong is the Chief Operating Officer, Head

= of Information Technology, Deputy Investment

and Asset Management Officer and one of the

- '- Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is
employed by the Onshore Manager Subsidiary.

Mr. Zhong was an investment director of CML from February 2017

until October 2019.

Mr. Zhong obtained a Bachelor of Management from Shenzhen
University in June 2006 and a Master of Business Administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2017.
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ZHANG Zhe
Mr. Zhang is the Chief Financial Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Zhang has over ten years of experience in the field of finance
and business management. He held the positions of DFC of Hilton
Shenzhen Shekou Nanhai, the financial controller of business
management segment of commercial properties and hotels
of China Merchants, the financial controller of industrial park
incubation segment of China Merchants, the financial controller of
China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care Services Co., Ltd.*, the
financial controller of Beijing-Shanghai Fund Shanghai BangXin
Enterprise Management Consulting Co. Limited* and the financial
manager of China Merchants Land. Prior to these, he served
as the senior manager of the UK Elite Center of internal audit
department of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. from July 2010 to
February 2012, a project manager of Dezhengxin Asset Appraisal
Co. Ltd.” from September 2009 to July 2010, and a senior auditor
of Shenzhen Branch of Ernst & Young from February 2007 to
September 2009.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Deakin University in Australia in 2005
with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Accounting,
Economics).

++
[=[=]

RAEERBTERE AN EHEE o

REETEMISESREEERRERE TE2FNE
5 o WEMRYI 0% RIERE SRS EEZME
BE BEREREESEIEIRR S EE
REERR IR ISR - Baaf2aE
REBRARFBEE - REES HEFME
XERBRARVHEE  BEREMY L
I o AT HR2010F7 AE201242 A Hi A
EARMAR AT ANBRPREBRAP LS RL
I - 20099F9 A £2010F7 A B AERIEEE
FHEBR AR HERLLIE - 200742 A 2200949
BB ALK T BBETRYI D e R E st

B o

SRITENR2006F BEMNBRANTAS AL - &

BIHERS(R - EER) -



SR FER REREEEEES

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE / E£= e BB ABREE

CHEN Yan PR 35
Ms. Chen is the Internal Auditor of the REIT Manager. Rzt AEEEE AR RIEAD -

Ms. Chen is a certified internal auditor designated by the Institute R+ BB AN ISR T 8 E 2 BB M
of Internal Auditors. Ms. Chen is currently the chief financial officer NEPETRD o MR TIRFEFFEEE A E
of CML. She previously served as the vice-financial controller of  #8E5 - #if 8201745 H E20184F1 A LT8R
CML from May 2017 to January 2018. Prior to joining CML, she BHH M FSEIAE - MIIABE BT - HIE
was a senior manager of the financial department of CMSK. T+ e O B A5 2B Y = A S TR o

Ms. Chen obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business &t 20025 SR || K E@ st EEEY
Studies from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002. She was qualified as T2 o {HHR2002E K AFH A BRI XS
a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in 2002. =AM o
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MARKET REVIEW 5 eIk
In 2021, the economy was still in the stage of recovery. With the = 2021 & B HIEE B ER @ BEZ A&

continuous increase in the number of people vaccinated in China
and the government’s adherence to the policy of dynamic “zero
infection”, the negative impact of the epidemic on the economy
has declined, and the overall economic performance of China
in 2021 was relatively good. In 2021, the annual GDP increased
by 8.1% year-on-year to RMB114 trillion. According to urban
surveys, the national unemployment rate for the year was 5.1% in
average, which was lower than the macro-control target of 5.5%.
The unemployment rate remained generally stable. The overall
consumer market in China expanded steadily, with total retail sales
of consumer goods reaching RMB44.1 trillion, representing a year-
on-year increase of 12.5%. The per capita disposable income was
RMB35,128, representing an actual year-on-year increase of 8.1%.
2021 was also a milestone year for China. China has achieved its
first centenary goal — building a society of common prosperity for
all. This is a monumental solution to the historic problem of income
inequality and poverty that has initiated the path to a modern
socialist country on all fronts.
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MARKET REVIEW (continued)

Despite some cases of COVID-19 appeared in Shenzhen during
year 2021, the overall economic development remained positive.
In September, the central government announced the expansion
of Qianhai, Shenzhen, which boosted market confidence in the
economic development of Shenzhen. Shenzhen’s GDP grew by
6.7% year-on-year, exceeding RMB3 trillion for the first time. The
total retail sales of consumer goods increased by 9.6% year-on-
year to RMB949.8 billion, which was within a short distance to
reach trillions.

In 2021 the office market in Shenzhen was relatively robust with net
absorption exceeding new supply throughout the year, resulting
in a decline in the office vacancy rate in the city. However, as the
existing vacancies accumulated from previous years had not been
fully absorbed, competition for tenants remained fierce. As most
landlords opted for the quantity over price strategy, overall office
rentals in the city still dropped marginally year-on-year. Within the
Nanshan District, active leasing demand from the TMT sector led
to a significant decline in vacancy rates. As these companies are
less sensitive to cost, rents within the Nanshan District have also
increased in general.

In 2021, there were several commercial launches outside
Shenzhen’s core business district, but this had no significant
impact on the overall market. The continuous inflow of people and
expectations of strong economic expansion continue to provide a
solid foundation for the development of the retail sector in the city.
With tenant’s increasing confidence in the Shenzhen retail market,
vacancy rates in retail market have declined while rents have
increased year-on-year.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW YIENE
Occupancy rate (%) as at Valuation (RMB million) as at Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.) as at
AR (%) R CEONEEE) BRES(ARE/TAKR

3142201 30/06/2021  31/12/2020  31/42/2021  30/06/2021 31/12/2020  31/12/2021  30/06/2021  31/12/2020
New Times Plaza TERES 91.9 886 919 20m 2,074 2,065 1794 1783 17456
Cyberport Building EAR 73 76.7 729 1,085 1057 1,042 1269 1269 1233
Technology Bulding BEAE 100.0 1000 837 888 888 868 1196 1153 104.1
Technology Building 2 MEAE=H 81.2 795 744 1,101 1006 1,082 116.1 1148 1119
Garden City Shopping Centre  7ZE 90.5 89.0 915 1,615 1,593 1,587 176.8 1731 166.6
Total Property Portfolio ST 87.7 87.1 843 6,746 6,708 6,644
Over the Reporting Year, the occupancy rate of the overall  RIREEE - BEYEAS S EHEEH20204%

properties portfolio increased from 84.3% as at 31 December
2020 to 87.7% as at 31 December 2021, representing an increase
of 3.4 percentage points. In particular, the average occupancy rate
of office buildings increased by 4.7 percentage points from 82.2%
on 31 December 2020 to 86.9% on 31 December 2021. At the
Garden City Shopping Centre, occupancy weakened marginally.

Over the Reporting Year, the passing rent of all our properties saw
an increase, ranging from 2.7% to 14.9%. In particular, passing
rent of Technology Building saw a significant increase of 14.9%
and of the Garden City Shopping Centre, there was an increase of
6.1%.

A revaluation of our properties was carried out as at 31 December
2021, by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent property
valuer and CMC REIT’s principal valuer. The market value of our
portfolio increased from RMB6,644 million as of 31 December
2020 to RMB6,746 million as of 31 December 2021, an increase of
RMB102 million.
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New Times Plaza

New Times Plaza performed well in 2021 with an average
occupancy rate of over 90% for the year. The occupancy rate
at the end of the year increased to 91.9%. Due to more flexible
leasing strategies adopted by the Manager during the year and
additional value-added services, the passing rent increased
gradually from RMB174.6/sq.m. to RMB179.4/sq.m. over the
Reporting Year, an increase of approximately 3%.

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2

The occupancy rate of Cyberport Building decreased slightly from
72.9% to 71.3% in 2021 as some tenants moved out upon the
expiration of their leases to avoid the inconvenience caused by
renovation and enhancement works. The Manager is currently
conducting leasing promotions through various channels and one
of the priorities of the operations manager in 2022 is to fill most of
the vacant space.

Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone Hospital, the major
tenant of Technology Building has commenced operations and
the occupancy rate remains at 100% as this tenant continues to
expand its leased area by taking up all the spaces vacated by other
tenants. Some of the tenants have been moving to Technology
Building 2, and as a result, the occupancy rate of Technology
Building 2 increased from 74.4% to 81.2% over the Reporting
Year. The passing rents of the Net Valley Properties experienced
increases ranging from 2.9% to 14.9% during 2021.

Garden City Shopping Centre

Throughout 2021 Shenzhen’s commercial complexes were
affected by the recurring impact of the ongoing COVID-19
epidemic, but Garden City Shopping Centre managed to sustain
commercial activity at a stable level over the year. On top of
maintaining an occupancy rate of over 88% during the Reporting
Year, passing rents were lifted 6.1% by RMB10.2/sg.m. through
the introduction of select emerging commercial brands more in line
with current consumer habits during tenant turnover.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Total revenue of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year was RMB432.8
million, an increase of RMB62.7 million over the revenue for 2020
Relevant Year. This significant increase of 16.9% was mainly a
reflection of stable recovery from last year’s epidemic outbreak and
the proper operational strategies and efforts made by the Manager.
In general, leasing on both the office and retail fronts are picking
up, albeit gradually.

The property operating expenses of CMC REIT for the Reporting
Year were RMB112.5 million. At RMB55.5 million, property
management expenses were the largest component 49.3% of
property operating expenses. Operation manager’s fee and other
taxes contributed to 17.0% and 27.3% of the property operating
expenses respectively. After deducting property operating
expenses, net property income was approximately RMB320.3
million for the Reporting Year.

The appraised value of the CMC REIT’s portfolio increased
RMB102.0 million compared to 31 December 2020. Financial
costs for the Reporting Year were RMB59.3 million, comprising
approximately RMB54.5 million in interest expense on bank
borrowings, with the remainder consisting of amortization of
upfront payments.

BRER

RRARAEETEENREFENKRE LA
ANREE432.8HETT © B2020f8FEIE AR
2. 7EBIT - 16.9%MAIRIGIRE S XM T/&
BREETENEBEERNINEEAZENL
ERBEANTBE N  SFERTEMHEH
preE o

RBEFE  BHREESTESHMELE
A ABAREI125BET - WEEERIAA
R¥555F 8T  h YL ERTM49.3% (&
ALLE)  BBEEBEABAREMRIESFMED
HEEBFT RI17.0% M27.3% o IR £ &
A% REFENMERSZFEOBARE
3203BETT °

RERmERTESREHANTHEAR
2020F12 A31 HIZMMARKE102.08 BT © 3k
EFEENMEXNAAEARKSOIEETT B
BITEROFNEATHOARB455ELRIE
RER S o

Rental Income for each property BEMENESWA

2020
Reporting Year Relevant Year Change
WEFE 20201HBEF E BE

RMB million RMB million

AREBER ARBEER
New Times Plaza R RES 124.3 115.4 7.7%
Cyberport Building HEKE 41.6 34.9 19.2%
Technology Building RHEAE 52.6 42.8 22.9%
Technology Building 2 R KE—H 47.5 40.9 16.1%
Garden City Shopping Centre TR, 107.6 78.5 37.1%
Total &zt 373.6 312.5 19.6%

The rental income of Reporting Year was RMB373.6 million, with
a significant increase of 19.6% when compare to 2020 Relevant
Year.
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Capital Structure

Total net borrowings of CMC REIT were RMB2,209.9 million,
equivalent to a gearing ratio of 29.2%. This ratio is lower than
the permitted limit of 50% as stipulated by the amended Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) gazetted in
December 2020. Gross liabilities (excluding net assets attributable
to unitholders) as a percentage of gross assets were 47.03% (2020
year end: 45.75%).

Pursuant to the onshore facility agreement and offshore facility
agreement entered into between the banks and the PRC Property
Companies (as defined in the Offering Circular) in November 2019,
CMC REIT has obtained onshore loan facility and offshore loan
facility of RMB100 million and RMB2,400 million, respectively. As
at 31 December 2021, CMC REIT has drawn down an amount of
RMB2,214.5 million from the abovementioned loan facility, which
is secured and will mature at the end of 2022. The secured term
loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.2%-4.5% per annum or
HIBOR plus 0.9% per annum, respectively.

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

As at 31 December 2021, net assets attributable to Unitholders
amounted to RMB4,007 million (31 December 2020: RMB3,910
million) or RMB3.55 per Unit, equivalent to HKD4.34 per Unit (31
December 2020: RMB3.47 per Unit, equivalent to HKD4.12) based
on central parity rate as announced by the People’s Bank on 31
December 2021, representing a 66.3% premium to the closing unit
price of HKD2.61 on 31 December 2021.
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RENOVATION AND ENHANCEMENT

The Manager is in the midst of an asset enhancement program
encompassing all our properties except Technology Building.
These renovations are currently underway and are expected to
enhance the overall quality of the properties and help them remain
competitive in the face of the new office and retail developments
coming online in 2022.

New Times Plaza has commenced its renovation of the common
areas on each floor, and we expected these to be completed
by the first half of 2022. Some floors are not being renovated
as yet due to the existing tenants’ business requirements and
those are not included in the enhancement plan at present. There
construction of the adjacent subway project which occupies parts
of the building’s outdoor area is behind schedule. Consequently,
our renovations of the outdoor landscape and billboards will be
delayed as these external projects are dependent on the progress
of the subway’s construction.

The renovations and enhancements for the common areas and
lobbies of both Technology Building 2 and Cyberport Building have
been completed and normal operations have resumed. In 2022,
the feedback and experience of tenants will be used to determine
whether further renovations and upgrades shall be conducted.

The renovations of Technology Building will be performed
according to the operational needs of Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou
Free Trade Zone Hospital, the major tenant which will eventually
lease the building in its entirety.

q

N

A

A

i

1T

-

BERM

BIEAEEET - RYBRBMBEKREZINAE
WMEEHREERITOE - BAT SEEHI

RBGETRERETT @ B SBRBIEAME
mE - NEBEA2022F B F B RRA TS

HRERMAIERT @ RMESFE N -

MERESDEIENARSEEARRIENI
MBCET IR - AR E2022F L FANTK °
HhHrBEHREFESKETE  BFE
1T30GE - 8B AR R B8 D M ABUER Bl -
RIES - A BLARRO e T T - HIAR
ERFRRESHYEINRE - Bt =INRE
MESEEIIBERERENEREBRLAE
T EERMIEX -

MK E — SIMBEIB A E S B e A H R 5 A
RENBCERTT  YEWELEEERR - 12022
FEBEARRYEEPREMEAER K
RIE R EITHE — THBCEMTAR -

MERENEAMEFPFNMAGEO B ERE
FEASiRIE QLR EAITEITRER - %E
FReEBEMRAE -




TR EER/ AERREERER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS / &3 [E 5 s 2 5 4T

RENOVATION AND ENHANCEMENT (continued)

The passage connecting Garden City Shopping Centre with the
subway has obtained the written approvals from the Shenzhen
Government and Shenzhen Metro Group and the preparation of
a fire safety report and the issuing of a construction tender is in
progress, and is expected to be completed in the first half of 2023.
The interior and exterior facade design and landscape design are
close to being finalized and are undergoing final amendments.
Upgrading works at the Garden City Shopping Centre and the
construction of the passage to the subway will be executed in
parallel.

PREVENTION OF COVID-19

In 2021, COVID-19 continued to recur, but was generally under
control in Mainland China. The Manager strictly implemented the
government’s epidemic prevention requirements throughout the
year, and a comprehensive set of epidemic prevention measures
were in place. Therefore, no suspected or confirmed cases were
identified in all properties throughout the year.

The four office buildings carried out the following epidemic
prevention work as an integral part of their daily duties: disinfection
and cleaning of office areas and public areas multiple times a day;
installation of thermometers at entrances and exits; assignment of
special inspectors to check the proper wearing of masks and verify
health codes; and cleaning and disinfection of air filtration equipment
and ensuring adequate internal air circulation. Apart from these,
Technology Building is the largest vaccination point in the
Zhaoshang Subdistrict and the only vaccination point for foreigners
in the city. The largest nucleic acid testing site in Zhaoshang
Subdistrict was set up in the outdoor area of Technology Building
2. During the year, New Times Plaza coordinated with hospitals to
provide on-site nucleic acid testing services twice for tenants and
applied for, received and distributed public epidemic prevention
resources to every tenant.

Throughout the year, Garden City Shopping Centre has never
relaxed even when the epidemic was temporarily under control
with no confirmed cases were reported. Epidemic prevention
requirements such as temperature measurement, mask wearing,
public area disinfection and fresh air supply were implemented.
During the year, Garden City Shopping Centre provided sites for
large-scale nucleic acid testing more than ten times, with on-site
coordination provided by staff.

In 2021, the Manager placed heavy emphasis on epidemic
prevention and control, fulfilling its social responsibilities and
contributing to the battle against COVID-19.
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OUTLOOK

In the beginning of 2022, the recovery of the economics remains
challenging amid the lingering uncertainty arising from the
resurgence of COVID-19, inflation, dynamism international relations
and the ongoing deleveraging campaign. In the “2022 REPORT ON
THE WORK OF THE GOVERNMENT”, China has set the growth
of GDP to around 5.5%. The stabilisation is coming to be the key
strategy for the coming year.

By 2025, the competition in Shenzhen office market will further
intensify as the amount of new supply will be close to the stock of
the last decades. Although most of the office buildings coming on
stream are located in emerging peripheral districts, they could have
an impact on the established business districts. Over the same
timeframe the trend of stronger consumer spending is expected
to continue, and the overall retail commercial market should
remain resilient looking forward however the competition for quality
tenants will become increasingly fierce.

The Manager will adopt proactive asset management measures to
continuously enhance the market competitiveness and operating
performance of its assets to generate stable returns for the
investors. Fortunately, several stations of Shenzhen Metro Line 12
connecting the Shekou and Baoan launching in 2022 are located
around our properties, and their accessibility will be significantly
enhanced. The Manager intends to maximize asset value by taking
advantage of the situation and actively accelerating the progress of
asset enhancement and renovation.

Looking ahead to 2022, the Manager will actively arrange
refinancing to lock in the current low interest rate and take the
opportunity to stagger the expiry of debt and optimize the overall
capital structure. This will make CMC REIT more resilient against
financial risk. At the same time, the Manager will also actively
look for suitable properties in first and second tier cities across
the market to be injected into CMC REIT, so as to increase the
AUM and diversify the portfolio under management. Currently,
the Manager is actively in negotiations with the China Merchants
Group as well as external parties, with a view to executing the asset
injection that increases returns for unitholders as soon as possible.
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THE TOP FIVE REAL ESTATE AGENTS AND FHAE#ERENAEHE

CONTRACTORS

Value of
Contract/
Real estate agents Commission
and contractors Nature paid
aHEE
EERERACE RIEHE 2fAE %
RMB’000
AR®T T
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Property Management 19,092 65.95%
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AEArEERECRIDBERAR MEER
Shenzhen Wenye Decoration Design Renovation and Maintenance 5,617 19.05%
Engineering Co., Ltd
RYIXER R TR AR AR KIE R e
Shenzhen Xibu City Construction Renovation and Maintenance 935 3.23%
Engineering Co., Ltd.
YIS TR AR AR KIERHEE
Shenzhen Yidao Environment Renovation and Maintenance 551 1.90%
Air-Condition Engineering Co.,Ltd.
RYTESRREATEERAA KiER#EE
Shenzhen Building Decoration Renovation and Maintenance 394 1.36%

(Group) Co., Ltd.
YIRS (@) AR AT

R Lue

Note: The English name is for identification only.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS

China Merchants Commercial REIT’s portfolio comprises the
following five properties (“Properties”) in Shekou, Shenzhen, all of
which are (i) well-served by public transportation network and (ii)
equipped with car parking spaces:

New Times Plaza, a Grade A office building with an aggregate
Gross Floor Area (“GFA”) of 87,337.0 sq.m. and Gross Rentable
Area (“GRA”) of 67,600.0 sg.m. located adjacent to the Sea World
commercial area and Prince Bay, the core area of Shekou;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and Technology Building
2, three office building complexes repurposed from industrial use
with an aggregate GFA of 124,545.0 sgq.m. and GRA of 125,079.1
sg.m. located in Shekou Net Valley, a business hub for high-
tech companies and startups which has been earmarked by the
Nanshan Government for promoting and developing emerging
industries;

Garden City Shopping Centre, the first large-scale comprehensive
commercial complex integrating shopping, dining, lifestyle and
entertainment facilities in Shekou. The complex has an aggregate
GFA of 50,496.9 sg.m. and GRA of 56,225.5 sg.m..
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Tenant's Industry Profile

The following charts depict the industry profile of our tenants by
reference to their GRA as a percentage of the total GRA as at 31
December 2021, and their percentage contribution to Gross Rental
Income in December 2021:
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Manager.

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO / ¥ %484

HEmE(E)
B THBER

TEERHAFOITERR - HiK2EEAHE
BEE(RFR2021F 12 A1 HA T A ELmE
BOLUANREZEBERME2021F 12 AFAE KA

BENBEDL

h

MBEDL

Percentage of
Total Monthly Income
(E==LVONEE

Scientific and
Information
Technology
RHE2ER{Z SR
Real Estate

R E

Health Care
Service

TR R R

Leasing and
Business Service
THEMEBRH %
Department Store
BEAE

Food and
Beverage

RBEK

3.3%

W3.7%

H1.9%

T1.1%

1.1%

10.3%

0.3%

1.8%
Life Service

E RS
Logistics
Wi
Finance

Gl

Construction and
Engineering
TR
Petroleum
V=P
Wholesale and
Retail
HERTE
Hotel

B E
Supermarket
i)
Education
o
Manufacturing
sUE

Others

Hith

Vacant

HE

it - EPTTETIABEE AR D FERRLE



CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO / M %48 &

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) BEEE ()
Tenant’s Industry Profile (continued) HPTEMRE)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties YIS 2 HAEER
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza

New Times Plaza was completed in 1997 and is a Grade A office
building with a total GRA of 67,600.0 sg.m. It comprises (a) a
2-storey podium; (b) a 34-storey office tower; and (c) 212 car
parking spaces. New Times Plaza is acclaimed for the excellence
of its architectural design and the high quality of its construction
and workmanship. It has received numerous awards through the
years, such as:

e the China Construction Engineering Luban Prize bestowed
by the Ministry of Construction of the PRC (currently known
as the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of
the PRC) and the China Construction Industry Association in
1999;

e  the Shenzhen Outstanding Building for Property Management
from the Housing and Construction Bureau of Shenzhen in
1999;

e recognition as a Building of National Standard because
of its building management quality, from the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC (currently known as the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC) in 2000;
and
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E)
New Times Plaza (continued) HEERES(E)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties YA S 2 HAEER
[l Percentage
of GRA
. EAEE
S SEROE

[l Percentage of
Monthly Rental
Income
HAES
WANBE D

8.0% 7.8% 84%
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0.4% 0.5% e e 0% 0.0% | NN N oo
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 and beyond Vacant
2021 4 2022 & 2023 & 2024 & 2025 & 20264 B L% =
Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate RFEe R HAR

‘ Passing Rent
(RMB/sq.m.)
178.3 179.6 179.4 REEHEE

174.6 177.5 (ARH [FH3K)

Occupancy Rate
(%)
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91.9% 90.1% 88.6% 91.9% 91.9% (%)
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CYBERPORT
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building

Cyberport Building was completed in 2009. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 40,441.3 sg.m. comprising (a)
a 9-storey office building and a 6-storey office building connected
on Levels 1 and 2; (b) commercial space for retail units located
at Level 1; and (c) 255 car parking spaces. Cyberport Building
features a central garden between its two buildings and glass
facades that allow natural sunlight to penetrate into the property,
creating an airy and spacious environment for tenants.

Cyberport Building is located on the western side of Nanhai
Avenue, in a district designated for e-commerce. There is a
kindergarten, a large scale hypermarket, a shopping centre,
reputable banks and a local hospital nearby, and these surrounding
amenities form a sustainable complimentary community that
provides great convenience to its tenants. The area is also well-
served by public transportation; Cyberport Building is a 10-minute
walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line
12 commences operations in 2022, it will take only 1 minute to
walk to Sihai Station of Line 12.

A eGP

BB ARE
HIERKER2000FEK - B—RLPEERT
C AE RIS AmTE40,441.3F 5K - i@ —
HROERKERMBTE  H—E R ZEER
FRE 5 (o) MNAIEIES EARMEmEZH - k()
255 (EE BRI AARK o HIE A E £ IR A E  ERR
EFREN  KEMAREIEEFEARLERE
A% - AP EERREMARE -

BBEREUREEREAR  REFEH
HE-MEEYHRE  AEEM  BYF
LD EERFNRTAEHEREFRER
BEKAFERBROLER  SHEFREHR
BARER - s ZEZBERN  BHX
[ 5 B 8 2 SR AR K M s UE 10 0 B RR AR
PR EETEAT 20224 F A 2 E RO i1 23R AR P 3
BUE R B0 ERIE -



PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building (continued)
Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
EAIEEEE
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO / ¥ %484

HEREE)

IR KE (&)
HEITEER

Percentage of
Monthly Rental Income
HAEERA
WEDL
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties
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HERERE)
BIEAE (E)
W EDIR
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HAHEE
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2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 and beyond Vacant
2021 4 2022 4 2023 4 2024 2025 20264 R bAtE =g
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building

Technology Building was completed in 2002. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 41,546.3 sg.m. The building
complex comprises (a) a 7-storey main building; (b) a 6-storey
annex building; and (c) 110 car parking spaces. Technology
Building is a building focusing on tenants from high-tech industries
in Shekou. Technology Building adopts a clean and sleek design
with glass facades and from time to time organises networking
events to support its high-tech industry tenants.

Technology Building is located on the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in the Shekou Net Valley, an e-commerce area integrated
with high-tech and cultural industries including publishing, the fine
arts, advertising and design. Schools, hotels, restaurants, food
streets and reputable banks are nearby. Technology Building and
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary
community that is of great convenience to tenants. The area
is well-served by public transportation; Technology Building is
a 15-minute walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and
when Metro Line 12 commences operations in 2022, it will take
approximately 5 minutes to walk to Gongye 6th Road Station of
Metro Line 12.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building (continued)
Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
GRS EE
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) MEEEE)
Technology Building (continued) BEKEE)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties VI RFE S 2 HAHEER

[l Percentage
of GRA

32.5% HRERNED L
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0-0% OIOOA) I
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 was completed in 2010. It is a Grade B
office building complex. Technology Building 2 has a total Gross
Rentable Area of 43,091.5 sg.m. The complex comprises (a) two
6-storey industrial workshops; and (b) 220 car parking spaces.

Technology Building 2 is located at the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in Shekou Net Valley. The surroundings of office building
complex are similar to those of Technology Building. There are
schools, hotels, restaurants, food streets and reputable banks
near the complex and these community amenities provide
great convenience to tenants. The area is well-served by public
transportation; Technology Building 2 is 15 minutes on foot
from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line 12
commences operations in 2022, it will take a minute to walk to
Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEEEE)

Technology Building 2 (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO / M %48 &

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)
Technology Building 2 (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties

HEREE
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre

Garden City Shopping Centre was completed in 2006 and is the
first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring shopping,
dining, lifestyle and entertainment activities in the Shekou sub-
district. Garden City Shopping Centre’s total GRA has been
renovated to 56,255.5 sq.m. after a renovation of a sub area of
Garden City Shopping Centre in 2020. It comprises (a) 5-storeys
or retail shops; (b) 644 car parking spaces; and (c) a 2-storey
basement with ancillary facilities that enhance the retail experience
of shoppers at the complex.

Garden City Shopping Centre is located at the eastern side of
Nanhai Avenue and the southern side of Dong Bin Tunnel. There
are hotels, restaurants, reputable banks and a hypermarket nearby
and it is a one minute walk from Garden City Shopping Centre to
the neighbouring residential complex via a footbridge. The complex
is located in a commercial cum residential area that is well-served
by public transportation such as franchised buses and taxis. One
of the exits of Metro Line 12, expected to commence operations in
2022, will be directly connected to Garden City Shopping Centre.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWEE
Garden City Shopping Centre (continued) TEEH(Z)
Tenant’s Industry Profile HETHEBR
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO / M %4 &

HERERE)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, Bt sa =P 4 ==y =
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) REVIEW

China Merchants Commercial REIT is managed by the Manager
who in turn has delegated the functions of operations management
and property management to China Merchants Shekou Enterprise
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Investment
Promotion Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. respectively
pursuant to the Operations Management Agreement and the
Property Management Agreements. China Merchants Commercial
REIT (together with the Manager and parties who have been
delegated functions are collectively referred to as “we” hereinafter)
established an ESG working group (“ESG Working Group”) led
by the members of the Board of Directors of the REIT Manager
(“Board”), to lead, organise, and execute our strategies, policies
and approaches on environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues. The ESG Working Group also assists the Board
in evaluating and monitoring ESG issues, developing and
reviewing our ESG policy, following up on the progress of ESG-
related objectives, and reviewing ESG reports to ensure that the
disclosures comply with the Listing Rules. The ESG Working Group
at least meets and reports to the Board once a year.

To management ESG risks effectively, this year, we continued to
actively pour resources to promote sustainability, and embedded
ESG issues in our business development strategy. Facing various
environmental issues, we monitored our environmental performance
by reviewing our historical environmental performance data and
setting environmental targets for greenhouse gas emissions,
energy consumption, water consumption, and hazardous waste
management according to national policies and peer practices. We
take various environmental initiatives to improve energy efficiency
and water efficiency in the properties we manage, and properly
dispose of and reduce wastes, and add green elements, so as to
reduce the impact of business development on the environment
and reach our environmental targets.

We are aware of the risks and threats that climate risk poses
to our business operations and the world. To this end, we have
commissioned a third-party consultant to conduct climate
risk assessment and identify significant climate risks to our
business in the Reporting Year. Policy and regulatory risks, as
well as technology risks, were identified as the most significant
transformational risks to our operations. Strong winds, coastal
flooding, and rising temperatures were identified as significant
physical risks. We will assess the significant climate risks identified
and implement measures to continuously strengthen our resilience
to climate change.

HHARAXETECHEREAETE  MEREA
BEREEEEBRMEXEER S LEEE
EOEEENBEDHER THAEOEEE
BORINBRARLRY|IBEDEERERA
A - HERREEEES (EREEARERR
BERBR TR T XA HPIDKL T BEFEE
BAESS((EEE)NERENRE HE
NERIIFE(TESGTHEMA]) - NEE - fiH
WEBRMERR  HE@RER(ESG)EEH
EEREE - BERNMITE © H5 - ESGT AR
BEEESHNITHESGEEM N EREE » Hi
E R EZRFIWESGHUER - IRAEESGHE B R
WERIBR - WEMESGHREAEREEAR
A LEmRE - ESGTREABFE VBT X
&% UTIMNEF-RAZFSETER

RAEMEIRESGRR - AFERMEEEERR
ABERAMeEAFERR - WHESGEEMA
BRPMERHEREE - B TRREZE - &
MEBEGEFELRRRRUE - AHIEE
RIBERIAKRRTTIER - R TS ER =R
W BEIRAEE - KB URBAEEEMER
MIRERR  UERKERMNRERR - &
MeREEEENYETRISRRESERX
RRKERBENRRERE  ZERENRD
BEEYI MAZEITE - URERKERYIR
BEKRNTZENERRERR

BAEEIRREREEHEL I ERIRA®
KRB NEE - Rt RPIEZEF =T
RIETT RIRE R G - WEANREFE A
POERBARSNEAREELR ° BRMER
R - ARSMTRRK@ER S FIEERRE
EEER o Mg - ek - RRR
FHARBBBR REAERAR - HAKFMEE
BRI EXRIRER - 5% B RS HEIATE
IR FINERIRECRIBET »



TR EER/ AERREERER

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“‘ESG”) REVIEW / IR3% « 1t & N E R E

We believe that an equal and diverse work environment is the
cornerstone of our employees’ career development. We are
committed to providing equal opportunities for employees from
different backgrounds, and actively promote diversity and inclusion
in the workplace. We ensure that all employees are treated fairly
and transparently, and attract and retain talents through open
communication and regular employee care activities. Through a
well-established training system, we are committed to helping
the growth of our employees in their posts and develop their
knowledge of the industry and corporate culture. We see the well-
being, safety and health of our employees as an integral part of
our business and developed an occupational health and safety
compliance assessment form for their self-evaluation to protect our
staff and workers from any occupational safety hazards. During
the outbreak of COVID-19, we strived to provide a safe working
environment for our employees by actively implementing prevention
and control measures in response to the pandemic.

We strive to achieve customer satisfaction and gain their trust
by providing standard, professional and all-round property
management services and innovative intelligent services. We
value feedback from our tenants in order to provide them with
quality products and services. We regularly conduct tenant visits,
workshops, seminars, internal and third-party customer satisfaction
surveys across our five properties to gather feedback and improve
the customer experience through enhancement initiatives. We are
also committed to protecting the privacy of our tenants by ensuring
that tenants’ personal information and privacy are handled properly
and confidentially.

We included our supply chain into our sustainability commitment.
Most of our suppliers and contractors are local supplies, which
further reduced our environment impact and showed our support
to local economy. In the selection and tender management of
suppliers and contractors, we adopted standardised procedures
to ensure that they are qualified and capable of providing quality
products and services. Our procurement procedures follow the
principles of openness and transparency, and we have built
mutually beneficial long-term partnerships with our suppliers and
service contractors.

Moreover, we are devoted to making a positive impact on the
community and fulfilling corporate social responsibilities to build
and give back to the community. We join hands with different
stakeholder in the community and organise various community
activities aiming to contribute to community welfare, urban
development, people’s health and environmental protection.

For details of the environmental, social and governance issues,
please refer to the ESG Report that will be published in May.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, policies and procedures have been put
in place to promote the operation of CMC REIT in a transparent
manner and with built-in checks and balances. The Manager
has adopted a compliance manual (the “Compliance Manual”)
which sets out corporate governance policies as well as the
responsibilities and functions of each key officer. The Compliance
Manual also clearly defines reporting channels, workflows,
and specifies procedures and forms designed to facilitate the
compliance of the REIT Manager with various provisions of the
Trust Deed, the Securities and Futures Ordinance(Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”), the Code on Real Estate
Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) and other relevant rules and
regulations.

The corporate governance policies of CMC REIT have been
adopted having due regard to the requirements under Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), with necessary
changes as if those rules were applicable to REITs.

Throughout the Reporting Year, the Manager and CMC REIT has
complied with the REIT Code, the relevant provisions of the SFO,
the Listing Rules applicable to CMC REIT, the Trust Deed and the
Compliance Manual in all material respects.

Set out below is a summary of the key components of the
corporate governance policies that have been adopted and will be
followed by the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. Such policies may
be amended by a simple majority vote of all of the directors.

AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

CMC REIT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) under
section 104 of the SFO and regulated by certain laws, regulations
and documents including the REIT Code.

The REIT Manager has been authorised by the SFC under
section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of asset
management. The REIT Manager has three persons who are
approved as Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements
of the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo Jin, Mr. Choo
Chong Yao, Patrick and Mr. Zhong Ning.

The Trustee is registered as a trust company under section 77 of
the Trustee Ordinance. The Trustee is qualified to act as a trustee
for collective investment schemes authorized under the SFO
pursuant to the REIT Code.
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ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent of each other.

The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the safe
custody of the assets of CMC REIT on behalf of Unitholders and for
overseeing the activities of the REIT Manager for compliance with
the relevant constitutive documents of, and applicable regulatory
requirements applicable to CMC REIT.

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to manage
CMC REIT and its assets in accordance with the Trust Deed, and
in particular to ensure that the financial and economic aspects
of CMC REIT’s assets are professionally managed in the sole
interests of the Unitholders. In accordance with the REIT Code, the
REIT Manager is required to act in the best interests of Unitholders,
to whom it owes a fiduciary duty.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprises seven members,
three of whom are independent non-executive directors. The
Board oversees the management of the REIT Manager’s affairs
and the conduct of its business and is responsible for the overall
governance of the REIT Manager. The Board exercises its general
powers within the limits defined by its constitutional documents,
with a view to ensuring that management discharges its duties
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound internal control
policies and risk management systems are maintained. The Board
will also review major financial decisions and the performance of
the REIT Manager.
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Members of the Board Position Gender Age Director
EEgHE Bifu 451 Fie BEESFH
Huang Junlong Chairman and Non-executive Director Male
=l EREENTEE Bt o0 2
Guo Jin Executive Director Male
95 HITEE B o3 2
Liu Ning Non-executive Director Female
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Yu Zhiliang Non-executive Director Male
SER ENTEE B 3 2
Lin Hua Independent Non-executive Director Male
i B IEHTES St 40 2
Lin Chen Independent Non-executive Director Male 43 5
HE BIFATEF Elsd
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena Independent Non-executive Director Female
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board composition will be reviewed regularly to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and
that the directors being appointed have the relevant expertise and
experience in discharging their duties.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

o the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive
director;

o the Board should have a balance of skill, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of
CMC REIT’s business and should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption;

e the Board should have a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board
which can effectively exercise independent judgement;

e the Board should have a policy concerning diversity of the
board members which is appropriate for the requirements
of CMC REIT’s business, and shall disclose the policy
on diversity or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report;

e at least one-third of the Board and a minimum of three
members of the Board should be independent non-executive
directors and at least one independent non-executive
director must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise; and

e the re-election and further appointment of any independent
non-executive director serving on the Board for nine years
shall be subject to a separate Unitholders’ resolution.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Roles of the Key Board Members

The positions of Chairman and the Executive Director are held by
separate persons in order to maintain an effective segregation of
duties.

The Chairman leads the Board discussions and deliberations and
is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board meetings.
He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. He
promotes high standards of corporate governance and the
maintenance of effective communications with Unitholders.

The Executive Director is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Executive
Director executes the strategic plans set out by the Board and
ensures that the directors are kept updated and informed of CMC
REIT’s business through management reports.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the REIT Manager ensures that
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of the Board is
maintained. Selection of candidates is based on a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, gender, knowledge, length of service and professional
experience or skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. At present the board comprises 5 male directors and 2
female directors.

E -
BRESERENAG

R RATEEOBE B TAA LR - U
HARNBIED T -

TRBAEEEQETHRAER  YRETE
ExgedndiE IEEREAFTENER
THRESEEEH - TRARERITRKFH
CEEAREFEESBRFAANGRER

HTEFRARAEEANARREXERE
THEREE - ATEFRITESSHTHOR
BEMERTE) > WHEREFALEBEEREEMNA
B REEEAESEBNEINEF -

EEEZTLBR
FREEANEZTENEZTTILBRERES
SERE  BREZTICTHOHETE - &
FEREANBEEARZERNEZ - BREETR
KR - XERBEER - U5 - A3 - RS
FERBEERIRE - RERTEBBURIME
BANTBRHEARESTEHROER - B
Al - EEEHARBNEEIMEBELMESE
X o



m CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT / (P # & A E

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

Board meetings will normally be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. To ensure that directors
will be given sufficient time to consider the issues to be tabled
at the various Board meetings, details of the venue, time and
agenda of the meeting are required to be given at least 10 clear
days in advance of the meeting (except if there are exceptional
circumstances or if the majority of directors agree to a shorter
period of notice).

No Board meeting, or any adjourned Board meeting, will be
quorate unless a simple majority of directors are present at the
time when the relevant business is transacted. If a director who,
whether directly or indirectly, has a material interest in a contract or
proposed contract with the REIT Manager which is of significance
to the REIT Manager’s business, he must declare the nature of
his interest during the Board meeting or by giving a general notice
to the Board, whichever is earlier before the question of entering
into the contract is taken into consideration on behalf of the REIT
Manager. A director who is prohibited from voting by reason of a
conflict of interest or that the REIT Manager has excluded from
voting will not be counted for the purposes of establishing the
necessary quorum for the meeting.

Matters to be considered by the Board will be adopted on the
basis of a simple majority of votes.

Board Committees

The Board has the power to delegate to committees consisting
of such numbers of its body as it thinks fit. Four committees
have been established to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilities. The committees of the Board have been set up
with clear terms of reference to review specific issues or items
and then to submit their findings and recommendations to the full
Board for consideration and endorsement. Unless the decision
making power has been vested in the relevant committee by the
Board, the ultimate responsibility for making final decisions rests
with the full Board and not the committees. The committees of the
Board are currently as follows:
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises the Chief Investment and
Asset Management Officer and two directors one of whom shall
be an independent non-executive director. As at the date of
this report, the members of the Investment Committee are Mr.
Yu Zhiliang, Mr. Guo Jin and Mr. Lin Hua. Mr. YU Zhiliang is the
current chairman of the committee.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, evaluating and making recommendations on proposed
acquisitions and disposals of assets, approving budgets and
reviewing actual expenses on all key expenditures and reviewing
quarterly financial performance, forecasts and annual financial
plans of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Investment
Committee also reviews and recommends changes to delegated
authority, policies or procedures in areas such as accounting,
taxes, treasury, distribution payout, investment appraisal,
management and statutory reporting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members
appointed by the Board from among the non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors. A majority of the
members of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-
executive directors and at least one of them shall have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Audit Committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Lin Hua, Mr.
Lin Chen and Ms. Liu Ning. Mr. Lin Hua, is the current chairman of
the committee.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing and
maintaining an adequate internal control structure, effective
financial reporting and risk management systems and ensuring
the quality and integrity of financial statements. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for the nomination of independent
external auditors and reviewing the adequacy of external audits
in respect of cost, scope and performance. The Audit Committee
also ensures the existence and working of an effective system of
internal control and risk management, in respect of both the REIT
Manager and CMC REIT.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities also include:

e reviewing dealings of the REIT Manager and the directors on
a half-yearly basis;

e reviewing all financial statements and all external audit reports
and developing and implementing a policy on the engagement
of external auditors to supply non-audit services;

e  ensuring the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and guiding the management to take appropriate actions to
remedy any faults or deficiencies in internal controls which
may be identified;

e  assisting the Board in its monitoring of the entity’s overall risk
management profile and setting guidelines and policies to
govern risk assessment and risk management;

e periodically reviewing and monitoring all connected party
transactions and related party transactions; and

e reviewing the REIT Manager and CMC REIT’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed by the
Board from among the directors. A majority of the members of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall be independent
non-executive directors. The chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee shall be the Chairman or an independent
non-executive director. As at the date of this report, the members
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are Mr. Huang
Junlong, Mr. Lin Chen and Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Mr.
Huang Junlong is the current chairman of the committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include, among other things:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and its committees
at least annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the REIT
Manager’s corporate strategy;

e developing the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship;

e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors and succession
planning for directors;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
and retirement policies and packages for directors and
ensuring that no director is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors to determine their eligibility;

° reviewing, monitoring and reporting on the REIT Manager’s
board diversity policy; and

e reviewing the terms and conditions of employment of all staff
and directors, the manpower deployment plan (including the
succession plan for the management), remuneration and
retirement policies and packages.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee is appointed by the Board from
among the directors. The Disclosures Committee consists of
three directors, one of whom shall be an independent non-
executive director. As at the date of this report, the members of
the Disclosures Committee are Ms. Liu Ning, Mr. Guo Jin and Ms.
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Ms. Liu Ning is the current chairman of
the committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee includes reviewing matters
relating to the disclosure of information to Unitholders and public
announcements. The Disclosures Committee also works with the
management of the REIT Manager to ensure that the disclosure of
information is accurate, complete and not misleading.

The Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

e regularly reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on matters of corporate disclosure issues and
announcements regarding (without limitation) financial
reporting, connected party transactions, and potential areas
of conflicts of interest;

e overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency
of information disseminated by or on behalf of CMC REIT to
the public and applicable regulatory agencies;

° reviewing and approving all material non-public information
and all public regulatory filings of or on behalf of CMC REIT
prior to such information being disseminated to the public or
filed with applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable;

o reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other
information filed with regulatory bodies;

o reviewing press releases containing financial information,
information about material acquisitions or dispositions or other
information material to the Unitholders; and

e  reviewing correspondence containing financial information
disseminated to the Unitholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEE(F

Attendance HERR 8

The REIT Manager held four board meetings over the period from 1 EEEIE AMN2021F1 A1HE2021F12 A31H
January 2021 to 31 December 2021. The attendance of individual ~ Hifj @I iEEe 3 - SESHMEHE
directors at the Board Meetings and various Board Committee HMEEZe e33R SEELZ8e e FE0%
Meetings convened is as follows: mr

Committee Meetings ZE2 %

Nomination &

Members of the Board Board Meetings | Investment Audit Remuneration Disclosures
BEEENE EEgER RE E REREH w"E
Huang Junlong 3/4 - - 2/2 -
=R

Guo Jin 4/4 2/2 - - 2/2
P2

Liu Ning 4/4 - 3/3 - 2/2
2%

Yu Zhiliang 3/4 1/2 - - -
RER

Lin Hua 4/4 2/2 3/3 - -
MEE

Lin Chen 4/4 - 3/3 2/2 -
WE

Lau Sze Wan, Serena 2/2 - - 11 11
g

Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena 2/2 - - 1/1 1/1
BnE

Note: Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena was appointed as a director on 28 July 2021 Wiat : ERELZTHR2021F7A8BREZEAES - B
replacing Ms. Lau Sze Wan, Serena. Bt -
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the Board in
accordance with the articles of association of the REIT Manager
and applicable laws, rules and regulations. The REIT Manager shall
ensure that all conflicts of interest relating to CMC REIT shall be
managed and avoided. The following measures are taken in this
regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager to CMC REIT
and, unless with the approval of the SFC, the REIT Manager
will not manage any REIT other than CMC REIT nor manage
other real estate assets other than those in which CMC REIT
has an ownership interest or investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able to function
independently from its shareholders and all senior executives
and officers will be employed by the REIT Manager or the
Onshore Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and solely be
dedicated to the operations of CMC REIT;

e the REIT Manager has established procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest under its compliance manual;

e  The REIT Manager has established internal control systems to
ensure that connected party transactions between CMC REIT
and its connected persons are monitored and undertaken
according to procedures and/or on terms in compliance
with the REIT Code (or where applicable, in compliance with
the waiver conditions imposed by the SFC) and that other
potential conflicts of interest that may arise are monitored;

e all conflicts of interest involving a substantial Unitholder or a
director, or a connected person through such entities, will be
managed by a physical Board meeting rather than through a
written resolution and all independent non-executive directors
who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the
matter should be present at such Board meeting; and

e adirector who has material interests in a matter which is the
subject of a resolution proposed at a Board meeting of the
REIT Manager shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

All connected party transactions must be:

o carried out at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and
in an open and transparent manner;

e valued, in relation to a property transaction, by an independent
property valuer;

e consistent with CMC REIT’s investment objectives and strategy;

o in the best interests of Unitholders;
o properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the REIT Manager (or a committee thereof). Where the prior
approval of Unitholders is required, the independent non-
executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) shall confirm in a letter set out in the circular to
Unitholders, whether the terms and conditions of the
transaction are fair, reasonable and in the best interests of
Unitholders, and whether Unitholders should vote in favour of
the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the independent non-
executive directors and the Audit Committee that all connected
party transactions satisfy the foregoing criteria, which may entail
(where practicable) obtaining quotations from independent third
parties, or obtaining one or more valuation letters from independent
professional valuers.

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for connected party
transactions unless the Assets, Revenue, Consideration and Equity
Capital percentage ratio of the transaction (as defined under
paragraph 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are all less than five percent.
Save for the appointment or removal of the REIT Manager, a
Unitholder is prohibited from voting its Units at, or being part of
a quorum for, any meeting of Unitholders convened to approve
any matter in which the Unitholder has a material interest in the
business to be conducted and that interest is different from the
interest of other Unitholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of CMC REIT and
ensuring that these systems are effectively maintained.

INTERNAL

The Board will meet regularly to review the risks to the assets and
business of CMC REIT and discuss the implementation of risk
mitigations measures. Various risk areas relevant to real estate
investment trusts are analysed regularly and monitored by the REIT
Manager, including the following:

o Property Related Risks (broken down into Tenant Concentration
risk, Sector Concentration risk, Geographical Concentration
risk, Tenant Expiry risk and Property Damage risk)

U Legal Risks (broken down into Property Liability risk, Litigation
risk and Land Use risk)

e  Financing Risks (broken down into Interest Rate risk, Refinancing
risk and Gearing risk)

e Market Risks (essentially Currency risk)

e  Operational Risks (broken down into Premises Denial risk,
Cyber Security risk and Fraud risk)

The internal auditor of the REIT Manager (“Internal Auditor”)
conducts independent reviews to ensure the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of operational processes and internal
controls. The Board will consider and, if appropriate, act upon
any recommendations from the Internal Auditor. Based on a three
year strategic audit plan approved by the Audit Committee, the
Internal Auditor conducts financial, operations and compliance
reviews, recurring and ad-hoc audits, fraud investigation and
process efficiency reviews. A summary report with key findings,
improvement recommendations and implementation status is
provided to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

For the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of CMC REIT’s risk management and internal control systems,
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance. Based on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, the Board confirmed that the REIT Manager’s risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate, and identified no significant areas of concern.
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GENERAL MEETINGS OF UNITHOLDERS

CMC REIT will in each calendar year hold an annual general
meeting in addition to any other general meetings in that year. The
Trustee or the REIT Manager may at any time convene a meeting
of Unitholders. The REIT Manager will also convene a meeting of
Unitholders if requested in writing by not less than two Unitholders
registered as holding together not less than 10% of the Units
in issue. In general, a circular shall be sent within 15 business
days to holders after the issuance of an announcement. Where a
general meeting is to be held, the relevant circular shall be sent to
holders at the same time as or before the relevant notice of general
meeting. Such notice will specify the time and place of the meeting
and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered as
holding together not less than 10% of the Units for the time being
in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the transaction
of all business, except for the purpose of passing a Special
Resolution. The quorum for passing a Special Resolution will be
two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 25% of the Units in issue and
outstanding. The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall be such
number of Unitholders who are present in person or by proxy,
regardless of the number of Units held by them.

REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY

CMC REIT will prepare its accounts in accordance with IFRS with
a financial year end of 31st December and a financial half-year end
of 30th June. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual report
and accounts for CMC REIT will be published and sent to the
Unitholders no later than four months following each financial year-
end of CMC REIT. Semi-annual reports will be published and sent
to the Unitholders no later than three months following the end of
each financial half-year.

The REIT Manager shall ensure that a full valuation of each of
CMC REIT’s properties shall be conducted by a principal valuer
appointed in accordance with the Trust Deed at least once a
year, and may require the principal valuer to carry out additional
valuations or inspections in any other circumstance prescribed by
the REIT Code and at such occasions as the REIT Manager may
determine is necessary.
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REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY (continued)

The REIT Manager shall keep the Unitholders informed of any
material information pertaining to CMC REIT in a timely and
transparent manner as required by the REIT Code and the
provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO shall have effect, mutatis
mutandis, as if CMC REIT is a ‘listed corporation’ and as if the
Board of Directors of the REIT Manager are the Board of Directors
of a ‘listed corporation’. As required by the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager will inform Unitholders as soon as reasonably practicable
of any information or transaction concerning CMC REIT which:

o is necessary to enable Unitholders to appraise the position of
CMC REIT; or

o is necessary to avoid a false market in the Units; or

o might be reasonably expected to materially affect market
activity or the price of Units of CMC REIT; or

o requires Unitholders’ approval.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Under the Trust Deed at least one distribution shall be made in
respect of each financial year and paid no later than five months
after the distribution calculation date for the relevant distribution
period. CMC REIT’s present distribution policy is make two
distributions in respect of each year, being distributions with
respect to the six-month periods ending 30th June and 31st
December. Distributions to Unitholders will be declared and paid
in Hong Kong dollars. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager’s will distribute to Unitholders an amount of no less than
90% of CMC REIT’s Annual Distributable Income for each financial
year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, “Annual Distributable Income”
for a financial year is the amount calculated by the REIT Manager
to be the consolidated audited Net Profit After Tax of CMC REIT
and its subsidiaries for that financial year, adjusted for various
non-cash gains/losses or expenses including:

° unrealised property revaluation gain and losses, including
impairment provisions and reversals of impairment provisions;

e goodwill impairment (charged) and/or negative goodwill
(credited);

e  (differences between financial costs recognised on the financial
statements and interest paid and payable in accordance
with contractual obligations during that financial year or that
distribution period (as the case may be);

o realised gains or losses on the disposal of financial
instruments or the disposal of properties and/or disposal of
the Special Purpose Vehicle which holds such properties;

e fair value gains and losses on financial instruments;

e  deferred tax charges/credits in respect of property valuation
movements, fair value changes on financial instruments
and commercial building allowances/capital allowances,
withholding tax on retained profits to be distributed and other
tax losses or other deductions claimed;

e allocation of statutory reserve as required by applicable laws;

e the portion of the REIT Manager’s fee that is paid in the form
of Units;

o non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses;

e  costs of any public offering of Units, Convertible Instruments
or other forms of debt and/or securities that are expensed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income but are funded by proceeds from
the issuance of such Units, Convertible Instruments or other
forms of debt and/or securities;

e  depreciation and amortisation in respect of a real estate
directly or indirectly owned by CMC REIT, and its ancillary
machinery, equipment and other fixed assets;

e  the effects of any amount paid to CMC REIT for the express
purpose of distribution to Unitholders; and

o other material non-cash gains/losses, in each case as
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for the financial year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Distributable Income is
calculated after accounting for the Base Fee and the Variable
Fee payable to the REIT Manager and excludes any additional
discretionary distributions out of capital.

The REIT Manager has the discretion to direct the Trustee to
make distributions over and above the minimum 90% of Annual
Distributable Income if and to the extent CMC REIT, in the
opinion of the REIT Manager, has funds surplus to its business
requirements. The present policy is to distribute 100% of the
Annual Distributable Income.

The Trustee, the REIT Manager and Eureka Investment Company
Ltd (“Eureka”), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co. Ltd., have entered into an
agreement where Eureka will make cash payments as necessary to
the Trustee for the benefit of CMC REIT such that when such cash
is paid out to Unitholders in addition to the Annual Distributable
Income, the DPU of CMC REIT will be no less than the amounts
specified here:

Relevant Period
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Committed DPU

BEEAHM BERESENDIRAE
Listing Date to 31 December 2019 HK$0.0142
T HEE20195F12A31H 0.0142/87T
F/Y ended 31 December 2020 HK$0.2360
BZE2020F 12 A1 B IEW G E 0.23607% 70
F/Y ended 31 December 2021 HK$0.2541
HE2021F12 A1 B LV BEFE 0.25417% 7T
F/Y ending 31 December 2022 HK$0.2614
HZE2022F 12 A1 B IEHBEFE 0.26147% 7T

Pursuant to the agreement between the three parties, the REIT
Manager intends to distribute to Unitholders all of such payments
received from Eureka.

ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS

To minimise the possible material dilution of holdings of
Unitholders, any issue of Units will need to comply with the
preemption provisions contained in the REIT Code, the Trust Deed
and any other applicable laws and regulations. The REIT Code
provisions require that issues of Units be first offered on a pro rata
pre-emptive basis to existing Unitholders except that Units may be
issued:

e free of such pre-emption rights up to an aggregate
maximum in any financial year of 20% of the number of Units
outstanding at the end of the previous financial year; and

e free of pre-emption rights in other circumstances provided
that the approval of Unitholders by way of an Ordinary
Resolution is obtained.
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS (continued)

Subject thereto, Units may be issued as consideration for the
acquisition of additional real estate.

Unitholders’ approval is required for all issues of new Units to
connected persons unless a waiver has been granted by the SFC.
The SFC has granted, a waiver that allows the REIT Manager to
issue new Units to a connected person under these situations:

e  arights issue or as part of any offer made to all Unitholders
on a pro rata basis;

e g capitalisation issue in so far as such issue is offered to the
Unitholders on a pro rata basis;

e anissue of Units in respect of re-investment of a distribution
to Unitholders;

e the connected person receives a pro rata entitiement to Units
and/or Convertible Instruments in its capacity as a Unitholder
(provided that such issue will not increase the market
capitalisation of CMC REIT by more than 50%);

e top-up subscription by a connected person to facilitate a
placing of Units and/or Convertible Instruments to other
parties, subject to certain restrictions.

Where Unitholders’ approval is required for an issue of new Units
to a connected person, both the connected person subscriber and
any other person who has a material interest in the resolution to
approve such issue, and that interest is different from that of other
Unitholders, shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

During the Reporting Year under Review, there were no new Units
issued.

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

To prevent the misuse of inside information and to monitor and
supervise any dealings of Units, the REIT Manager has adopted
a code containing rules on dealings by the directors and the REIT
Manager equivalent to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to this code, all directors and employees of the
REIT Manager, subsidiaries of the REIT Manager or Special
Purpose Vehicles of CMC REIT who, because of his/her office
or employment is likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation CMC REIT (“Management
Persons”) wishing to deal in securities of CMC REIT must first
have regard to provisions in Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO with
respect to insider dealing and market misconduct as if those
provisions applied to the securities of CMC REIT.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

In addition, a Management Person must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any
use of such information for the advantage of himself/herself or
others. Management Persons who are aware of or privy to any
negotiations or agreements related to intended acquisitions or
disposals which are notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules as if applicable to CMC REIT or any connected party
transactions under the REIT Code or any inside information must
refrain from dealing in the securities of CMC REIT as soon as they
become aware of them or privy to them until proper disclosure of
the information in accordance all applicable rules and regulations.
Management Persons who are privy to relevant negotiations
or agreements or any inside information should caution those
Management Persons who are not so privy that there may be
inside information and that they must not deal in the securities of
CMC REIT for a similar period.

A Management Person must not, unless the circumstances are
exceptional, deal in any of the securities of CMC REIT on any day
on which CMC REIT’s financial results are published and:

e during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the period
from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

e  during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) or half-yearly
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.

The REIT Manager is subject to the same dealing requirements as
the directors, mutatis mutandis.

The provisions of Part XV of the SFO with respect to disclosure of
interests are deemed to apply to the REIT Manager, the directors
of the REIT Manager and each Unitholder and all persons claiming
through or under him. The REIT Manager has adopted procedures
for the monitoring of disclosure of interests by directors of the
REIT Manager, and the REIT Manager. Under the Trust Deed,
Unitholders with a holding of 5% or more of the Units in issue, and
the directors of the REIT Manager with an interest in the Units, will
have a notifiable interest and will be required to notify the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the REIT Manager of their holdings
in CMC REIT. The REIT Manager shall keep a register for these
purposes and it shall record in the register, against a person’s
name, the particulars provided pursuant to the notification and the
date of entry of such record. The said register shall be available for
inspection by the Trustee and any Unitholder at any time during
business hours upon reasonable notice to the REIT Manager.

EERERERBNES BN
E&E\a( Z)

o BEATTIEBREEMREREEZE
B SR AZEER BB M AZRS -

EEATEMERALTEZREEARFETAR
BELMARRAETOE(MERRNERRAERET
H)BET AR ZHWEES L EMmIEH R
BEE - KEFEESTRIE THERNREA
IRGHREAARBEE - YAEHMEHLTE
BABEBLARELESABRBEFAEDHN
&5 BHEMAERRRAZOEREERERE
BEERERLE - AT EEEBERIIH TN
MABHENEBRAL  EBREEYTRKLT
EEEMENNEERAL  BHRNEAEARHE
BX I 7ERBHREEREREEERAES
MRS

BRERIERIN  BERALTFRAMBEEBE
FERESVBEENTA AR TIHER
EEHmRRERETESNERNES

o EERAMESFEZEERRBHIA60HHME -
SBEEVRFESEER Z—“‘Wﬁ%ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ
HLFEIR (ARG E )

o EBRNMEFEXRBE(NB)RFFEXE
# HBIRTS0 R M HAR - BT ERFF
EHEGE B EE QM EERN A 8L HE
(ABHEE R -

FrEEIEANREST
FEETER) -

EEEETHEERTE (K

BENHEKRHIEXVEE BRESFENIEY
WEAERAREEIEEA  EAEEAEENR
BRESEUREAREBFESKENRSIE
ETRENFBEAL - BEEEANDRMER
EAEEANEENETEEEARZEESNE
Fr o IRIBIEFERY) - HE85% A LEHITES
BUMESEMNFEEA  UARESSEUES
EHNEAEIEANESE  BHEAAEDRER
FERME AR METEE AT BERRA
HREEEETESENERZ - BrEEEAEA
REEENFEELRM  WAEELREMA
EZAATHEE Ttk BRANNEE LT
SRR ER - REEARMEMESBMIFA AR RMA
EAEIE AR HAIBBME NS £ RRER
B s A o



TR EER/ AERREERER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT / (b % & 43R4

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with CMC REIT’s rules on
dealings by directors which are equivalent to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous disclosures
(including announcements, circulars and Offering Circular) issued
by the REIT Manager, there are no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significant subsisting during or at the end of the
Reporting Year in which a Director or any entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly.

MATTERS TO BE DECIDED BY UNITHOLDERS
BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
Special Resolution. Such matters include:

e changes in the REIT Manager’s investment policies or
strategies for CMC REIT;

e  disposal of any of real estate investments which have been
held for less than two years;

e any increase in the rate above the permitted limit or change in
structure of the REIT Manager’s or Trustee’s fees;

o certain modifications of the Trust Deed; and
. termination or merger of CMC REIT;

Unitholders may also, by way of a Special Resolution, remove the
Trustee or appoint new auditors in place of the existing auditors.

EMPLOYEES

CMC REIT is an externally managed trust and does not employ any
staff.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and as far as
the REIT Manager is aware, not less than 25% of the outstanding
units in issue of CMC REIT were held in public hands as of 31st
December 2021.
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TRUST DEED AMENDMENTS

As stated in an announcement dated 26 July 2021, amendments
were made to the Trust Deed via the First Amending and
Restating Deed (“First Amendment Deed”) on the same day
to effect certain amendments primarily to conform the Trust
Deed to changes that had been made to the REIT Code. These
amendments:

(i)  incorporate in the Trust Deed the requirements under the
latest REIT Code in respect of investments by REITs in
Minority-owned Properties;

(i) broadly align the scope of and requirements for connected
party transactions and notifiable transactions of CMC REIT
with the requirements applicable to companies listed on the
Stock Exchange under the Listing Rules;

(i) reflect in the Trust Deed the change in the borrowing limit of
REITs under the latest REIT Code.

For further background on these amendments, please refer to the
abovementioned announcement.

The Trustee has certified pursuant to Clause 31.1 of the Trust
Deed and 9.6 of the REIT Code that, in its opinion, the changes
under the First Amendment Deed:

() are necessary in order to comply with applicable fiscal,
statutory or official requirements;

(i) do not materially prejudice the interests of the Unitholders;

(i) do not to any material extent release the Trustee, the Manager
or any other person from any liability to the Unitholders;

(iv) do not increase the costs and charges payable from the
Deposited Property; or

(v) are necessary to correct a manifest error.

Accordingly, no specific approval from Unitholders was required for
these amendments to the Trust Deed.

AUDITORS

The final results of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year have been
audited by the independent auditor Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and reviewed by the Disclosures Committee and the
Audit Committee of the Board in accordance with their respective
terms of reference.
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REPORT OF TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS BESEBEMUFAANXTARS

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of China  BZEMME R BERE BERABERME
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC REIT”) WEETES ((BEREERTES ) nER
has, in all material respects, managed CMC REIT in accordance  AM20214F1 81HZE2021412 831 H |FHIfE -
with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 15 November 2019 (as A& EEHEDIRIE 2019F11 158517 H(E
amended from time to time) for the period from 1 January 2021 to  FERL (A B G ) 7R T e EBEEREEER

31 December 2021. AEE -

For and on behalf of R&

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited ESEEE(ERB)ERATE

(in its capacity as trustee of CMC Real Estate Investment Trust) (KB EAEE R ZEMERE FAEE THANE 1)

Hong Kong, 6 April 2022 BB 0 20224 A6H
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TRANSACTIONS [EEXE=E

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party transaction
governing transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group and its connected persons (as defined in paragraph
8.1 of the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute “connected
party transactions” for the purposes of the REIT Code.

In addition to “substantial Unitholders” (that is, holders of 10%
or more of the outstanding Units within the meaning of the REIT
Code), China Merchants Commercial REIT’s “connected persons”
will include, among others:

(1) the controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries and
associated companies of the “substantial Unitholders”, and
associates of the “substantial Unitholders” within the meaning
of the REIT Code;

(2) the REIT Manager as well as controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies of the
REIT Manager within the meaning of the REIT Code;

(8) the Trustee as well as controlling entities, holding companies,
subsidiaries and associated companies of the Trustee
within the meaning of the REIT Code. As a result, the list of
“connected persons” of China Merchants Commercial REIT
shall include Deutsche Bank AG (which indirectly wholly owns
the Trustee) and other members of the DB Group; and

(4) the directors, senior executives and officers of the REIT
Manager and Trustee, and their respective associates within
the meaning of the REIT Code.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH

TR EER/ AERREERER

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A £ 5

SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

The following sets out information on connected party transactions
between China Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected
persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code):

Connected Party Transaction — Income

RXRESEURAAKENEE
AERS

TRBIS R REREEEEES RHBEEA
+(EREREESTIES 1) MEALR
AR

BEALXRS -IWA

Nature of Income for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
BZ2021F
12A31AL
BEALERE ERBREXETES 2HE HEXSME FEEZBA
RMB’000
AEBFIL
China Merchants Taiping Bay Development and Associated company of CMSK Rental income 703
Investment Co., Ltd
BERXTEREREARAR] B ORBE AR HEBA
International Container Leasing Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 91
B ERMHEERR AR BEEANMERR] HEBA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 4,124
BE R RERRHEBRAT BE OB AT HEBA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holding company of a Substantial  Rental income 10,002
Holdings Co., Ltd Unitholder
BEREAIXRIERKROER AT FEESBENFAANERAR  HEWA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Rental income 7,810
HRINEYIR AR A A B OmBE AR G ON
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 34,395
AEEEHERRLAR w0 F R HaBA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK Rental income 8,643
Company Limited
BERRERRARAA A OMBERR B A
China Merchants Life Insurance Company Limited Associated company of CMSK Rental income 2,179
BERCHMASRERNERAT M OMBERR HeRA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 12,589
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AEEEHEREBRAT BEROKFRE HEHA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK Rental income 3,632
Technology Co., Ltd.
B RERRRARAR e[ YN HEHRA
(R4 B R E SR ARAR)
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd  Associated company of CMSK Rental income 669
AEERCRMBERAT B ORBE AR HEHA
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 5,945
Technology Co., Ltd
BEROHTRTRRERAA] REROKT AR HEBA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A X 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

RXRESEURAAKENREE
AERZ ()

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

Nature of Income for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
BZ2021F
12A31AL
BEALER ERBREXETES 2 HE BEXZHE L3 ON
RMB’000
AR®TT
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 489
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
BERACXERORI)ARAF BRELONFRF HEBA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 1,801
AYAEMEER AR AT ANBERR] G ON
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 232
HAERBERAR Rt O B E AT RN
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 446
BMBIEMBER AR PR O e AT RN
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 575
AEIEE B RE AR LA PR O ME AT BEKA
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology Co., Ltd  Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 35
ABENRERBRAER AR REROKT AR HEKA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holding company of a Substantial ~ Building management 148
Holdings Co., Ltd Unitholder fee income
AR IXEERRHERAR TRASERFAANERAR FEREKRA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK Building management 680
Technology Co., Ltd. fee income
B RERRRER AR W OB E AR EFEEBRA
(R% - 1R B s BB AR)
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Associated company of CMSK Building management 831
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
ABEEEREBRAA] A OHBE AR BFEBRBEURA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK Building management 1,098
Company Limited fee income
BERREERARRAA R AMERR EFEEBRA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 3,951
fee income
RYBREEHERRAF AL FRF BTERBHA
China Merchants Taiping Bay Development and Associated company of CMSK Building management 385
Investment Co., Ltd fee income

BRARAFEREREBRAA

el iamln)is YN

BFEEBERA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A £ 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Income (continued)

BXRESEURAAKENEE
AERZ ()

BEALRSZ -WAE)

Nature of Income for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
BZ2021F
12A31AL
BEALER EABREXETES 2 HE HEXSME FEEZBA
RMB’000
AREF
China Merchants Nine Commercial Management Associated company of CMSK Building management 430
(Shenzhen) Co., LTD fee income
BEAAEEERE (RY) BRAA BRTANBMERR BTEEBHA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co. LTD Associated company of CMSK Building management 362
fee income
AYAEMEER AR BAEANBERR BTERERA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Building management 1,453
fee income
HINEYIR B R A A B OmBEAR BEERERA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management 730
fee income
HERERERRNARAR T OmBsERR EFEBBEUA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management 37
fee income
WwARERBERAA HAE A NESEAR BFEREWA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management 91
fee income
ABIEEEREERAA] BrEE OB E AT BFEBBIA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd  Associated company of CMSK Building management 134
fee income
AEERIERMBRR AT BETANMERR BTERERA
International Container Leasing Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management 13
fee income
BRERMEERRAA s OB AR BFEBRBEUA
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 32
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd fee income
BRERACXER(RINERAA BALONTFRF BEEEBNA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management 71
fee income
BMEEMEER AR Rt O B E A F) BEERERA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A X 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

RXRESEURAAKENREE
AERZ ()

BEALRES - WA(E)

Nature of Income for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
BHZE2021F
12A31AL
BEALER BREREEETES ZEE BEXZHE FEZBA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 835
Technology Co., Ltd fee income
BEROHTRTRRERAA] BALAONFRF BTERERA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK Car park income 52
Technology Co., Ltd.
HBERBEBRRRARAR BSOS E AR EEIHIA
(R4 : B RERE SRR AR
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK Car park income 110
Company Limited
BRRRAERREBRAR OB AR 2 ON
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Car park income 56
RRAERBERAR B OmBEAR EEHWA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 252
A EEEMERRAR el AR N REHWA
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 23
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AEEEEREBRAT REROKFRA FEHBA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Car park income 72
FINEYIRB R DA A A NBEAR FEHKA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd  Associated company of CMSK Car park income 12
AEERIERMBEER AR BrEk OB AT FEHKA
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 22
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AEEEHEREBRAA AT A8FRa HA A
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 280
AEBEEMERRL A BREEA8FRa Hiphe A
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Other income 4
FINEMR AR AT R O A ) Hiph A
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Other income 1
AR R RERRNERAR Rt O BB E A F) HAA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A £ 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH HIEXrEHESBNEEASENEE
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP AxXX5 (%)

(continued)
Connected Party Transaction - Income (continued) BBEALRE -WA(E)
Nature of Income for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
BZE2021F
12A31AL
BEALER BREREEETES ZEE BEXZHE FEZBA
RMB’000
AREF
China Merchants Nine Commercial Management Associated company of CMSK Other income 31
(Shenzhen) Co., LTD
BEAAEEERE (RY) BRAA BRTANBMERR He A
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Associated company of CMSK Other income 9
Holdings Co., Ltd
BEREAIXRIERKROHERAT] BREANBERR Hep A
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 19
Technology Co., Ltd
BEROHTRHREERLF BAELONTFRF Hip A
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK Other income 1
Company Limited
BHRREERBRAR e[l o)i S YNG| EABA
Connected Party Transaction - Expenses BEALTRSZ-—%ZH
Nature of Expenses for
Relationship with connected the year ended
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions 31 December 2021
HZE2021F
12A31H L
BEALEE EABREEETES 2HE HEXSME FEZXH
RMB’000
ARETFT
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Associated company of CMSK Property management 55,480
Management Co., Ltd expense
AR ERFRAA B ORBERR] MEERE
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Associated company of CMSK Operations 19,092
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* management
BEROcEERORI)ARAR BEEAfMERR) expense
BEERE

The English names are for identification only.

RENAREHDE -
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A X 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

The REIT Manager applied for, and the SFC has granted a
waiver (the “2019 CPT Waiver”) from strict compliance with, the
disclosure and Unitholders’ approvals requirements under Chapter
8 of the REIT Code in respect of Leasing transactions, Operations
Management Agreement and Property Management Agreements
of connected party transactions between the China Merchants
Commercial REIT Group on the one hand and the persons who
are connected persons of China Merchants Commercial REIT by
virtue of their relationships (including but not limited to directors,
controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries or associated
companies) with CMSK (being the holding company of a
Substantial Unitholder) or the REIT Manager (the “CM Connected
Persons group”) on the other hand (“CM Continuing CPTs”).
The waiver is subject to annual caps, auditor’s review in each
relevant financial period, annual review by the Audit Committee and
the Independent Non-Executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and other
terms and conditions. Information of the waiver and its detailed
terms and conditions have been set out in the Offering Circular.

During the three years ended 31 December 2021, China Merchants
Commercial REIT complied with the requisite Waiver Conditions.
The aggregate transaction value of the CM Continuing CPTs didn’t
exceed the following annual caps set for the relevant period:

RXRESEURAAKENREE
AERZ ()

FREEAGRBRRAEETESEEER
HREE O (X E2ESBUFE ANZERA
AEEAEEANBR(BRETRRES -
B  ERAR - HBARKBERR)M
EBRRRRERTESBEALTZAL(EH
MEALEEDETHERS  2ETEHH
EMEERHZENEAEALRS ([ BERFER
BAXIRSRFE  MEEReCibERRERE
BTRERAESTRFSENRELESEMRA
AEHRE ([2019FBBEALRZHRE])
ZEMRAETEELR - RBEINEEBMEK
HRNEN BRZESMBIUFATES
(IBILFBTES ) WFEEHNLREMBERL
iRt - BRAR R REF MG LG NFED
REE B TIE -

REZE2021F12A31HIL=AFERN © BEB
BEETES BHETUERRIEHE - B
BRAEALRSMNARZEETL BB THIHE
RAHARI I FZ _EBR -

For the year For the year For the year

ended 31 ended 31 ended 31
December December December
2019 2020 2021

EZ2019F 20205 HZE2021F

12A31BLEE 12B31BLEE 12B31BLEEE

Categories of CM Continuing CPTs PEREREALRZES RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFIT AREFT AREFIT

Transactions under the CM Tenancies HEEHEEETHRS 78,070 112,040 125,476
Transaction under the Operations Management & &2 #3518 NHY

Agreement 5 4137 27,441 31,378
Transaction under the Property Management )2 &2 #3518 A

Agreements 5 57,345 64,228 71,250
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS / B:E A £ 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

The 2019 CPT Waiver expired on 31 December 2021, the
continuing connected party transactions of CMC REIT which
are the subject of the 2019 CPT Waiver will, upon such expiry,
be regulated with reference to Chapter 8 of the REIT Code and
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (modified as appropriate pursuant
to 2.26 of the REIT Code). The REIT Manger convened an
extraordinary general meeting of the unitholders on 29 December
2021 at which the Ordinary Resolutions to approve the CM
Continuing CPTs and the proposed annual caps applicable thereto
respectively were duly passed by way of poll.

BXRESEURAAKENEE
AERZ ()

2019F BIE A LR G E R ER2021F12H31H
[ - BEREEESAESAFEREA LR
(B A2019FBEA TR SRR ETR) AR
[EmE2ZEEAESTAENER ETHRAUE
TOAE (IRIEEAEETRIE2 265 E 15240
IICARRBR « Bt BB ABER2021F12H29H A
FESEMFEARIRE  RAgL - i
AR EREA TR REMBERAEZTE L
R RRZERE D RIARES R ERERBE -

For the year For the year For the year

ending 31 ending 31 ending 31

December December December

2022 2023 2024

HZ20226F HZ2023F HZ2024F

12A31ALEE 12A31ALEE 12A31ALEE

Categories of CM Continuing CPTs PREBEREALRZER RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T AR®FT ARETT

CM Tenancies HEHEE 114,200 122,194 130,748
Operations and Property Management BIENYEEERS

Transactions 82,987 89,610 91,814

The detailed terms of the CM Continuing CPTs are set out in the
circular of China Merchants Commercial REIT dated 10 December
2021.

The annual caps set out in the table above should not be taken
as the anticipated growth projections or indicators of the future
performance of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
REIT MANAGER

REIT Manager’s Fees

The REIT Manager’s fees amounted to RMB18,934,000 in relation
to the services provided for the Reporting Period.

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee, variable fee,
acquisition fee and divestment fee. For the Reporting Year, no
variable fee, acquisition fee and divestment fee were incurred or
payable. 10.0% of the base fee distributable income is calculated
based on the audited financial statements of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Reporting Period. The base fee will be
paid to the REIT Manager in cash.

EBRREEEREA T SNAMEREHR
HERRERTES B A2021F128108H
R o

ERABFRE ERTNERERERREFRETE
EARRRI|OTEHPE RI SIET -

HETEEANBEALRS

EAEEAER
RS HRRENEERENETEEAEZR
A AREE18,934,0007T °

FREEAZRAERBREAER FHEM W
BER LEER - RHREFE  URELRK
EZENEM  KBER LEER - EAXEB
A #H2 KK AB10.0% T RBE REEEE
HENBEHRNEERMBHRERAE - £X
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE CONNECTED
PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees

During the Reporting Period, the trustee’s fee of approximately
RMB1,322,000 was incurred for services provided by DB Trustees
(Hong Kong) Limited as the trustee of the China Merchants
Commercial REIT.

CONFIRMATION BY INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors has confirmed that have
reviewed the terms of all connected party transactions and are
satisfied that these transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of China
Merchants Commercial REIT;

(b) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are
comparable transactions) or, where there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to China
Merchants Commercial REIT than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement and the internal
policy governing such transaction by China Merchants
Commercial REIT on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of Unitholders as a whole.

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONNECTED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been engaged as the auditor of
China Merchants Commercial REIT, and report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the HKICPA and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Letter issued by auditor on
continuing connected transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules”. In accordance with the waiver granted by the SFC to
strictly comply with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 8 of
the REIT Code, the auditor has issued an unqualified opinion letter
on continuing connected transactions relating to rental income,
building management fee income and general banking and financial
services, containing the findings and summary of the continuing
connected transactions. A copy of the relevant auditor’s letter has
been provided by the REIT Manager to the SFC.
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DISCLOSURE OF
INTERESTS Eef=fit

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS

Based on the information available to the REIT Manager as at 31
December 2021, each of the following entities was considered as
a substantial Unitholder and hence a connected person of China
Merchants Commercial REIT under the REIT Code. The substantial
Unitholder held or was interested in the Units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT as follow:

Name of substantial unitholder

IRESBURBALE HRESENZHH

Capacity in which Units are held

TR EER/ AERREERER

TEESBNURE AR

BIEETEE AR021E12A31 I BHE
B TR EEREEAESTAWEAETE
EoBUHEA  TEUBBEESABEREER
AESHNBEEBEALT  TEHSEUEEATA
REpmERtEAeNESBENSNEPES
R

Approximate
percentage of
Interests in Units interests*

RESBEEE HOBRBEI(%)

China Merchants Group Limited Through controlled corporation 400,332,310 (L) 35.49

HEREEAR AR AR E 2 EZERE

China Merchants Shekou Industrial Through controlled corporation 400,332,310 (L)* 35.49

Zone Holdings Company Limited

BEREA IXRERRHERAR] B EERE

EUREKA INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED Beneficial owner 400,332,310 (L) 35.49
EREBA

HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee 146,798,000 (L)* 13.02
XFEA

CWL Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XFEA

K. Wah Properties (Holdings) Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
AR E 2 EZERE

Polymate Co., Ltd. Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
B 2 EESE

Premium Capital Profits Limited Beneficial owner 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
BaREBA

Star Il Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
BRI 2 ERSE

Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. Investment manager 137,192,000 (L)* 12.16
RERKE

(L) - Long position #f 72
# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of 1,127,819,549 # BN RTER20214F 12 A 31 HE #1712 1,127,819,549

units at 31 December 2021.

INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE REIT MANAGER

The REIT Code requires connected persons (as defined in
paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code) of China Merchants Commercial
REIT to disclose their interests in units. Further, certain provisions
of Part XV of the SFO in relation to disclosure of interests are
deemed, pursuant to the Trust Deed, to apply to the Manager itself
and the Directors or chief executive of the Manager, and persons
interested in units (including short positions).

EESBAASGTE -
EERANESNT AR
ﬁ

FREETARTARRREEREET < HE
AL (EERFERESTRIES ) ARERS
RESBM 2 - B - RIFEFERY - &
7 MAEIRPIFE XV AR E 2 & TR
BESERAREEAREEAZESTSIERS
TTHRAR  WRERES B EAER(BIEX
BlzAt-
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The interests of the REIT Manager’s directors in the Units recorded REiEBAEERHEITE AGTENZ LM
in the register maintained by the REIT Manager are as follows: ROERME S BEAEST ¢

As at 31 December 2021
A2021F12831H
Approximate

Name of director Number of Units percentage of interests*
EEpng ESENVHAE BAER T D (%)
Huang Junlong =19 Nil = -
Guo Jin Z[E 160,000 0.014
Liu Ning 2z Nil =& -
Yu Zhiliang &5 R 160,000 0.014
Lin Hua Rz Nil & -
Lin Chen #f & Nil & -
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena &)= & Nil & -
# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of # B RTER20214F 12 A 31 HE 472 1,127,819,549
1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2021. 1 Eo BB -

INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EXECUTIVES OF EBEANSRITHABSMEES
THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT Manager in the EiEEBASRITHRAEREESBMERN
Units are as follows: T

As at 31 December 2021
R2021512831H
Approximate

Name of senior executive Number of Units percentage of interests*
SRTHRABHSE ESEBVHE BHAERE D (%)
Zhong Ning % 32,000 0.003
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick k{2 Nil & -
Zhang Zhe R&5 Nil = -
Chen Yan PR3t Nil & -

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of # B RIER20214F 12 A 31 HE %172 1,127,819,549

1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2021. EESEEEETE -
INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER EEEIE AR
As at 31 December 2021, the REIT Manager did not hold any Units 7202112 A318 » FAEE AN R
in China Merchants Commercial REIT. PREEETESNERESEN -
INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER CONNECTED H{thEg# A LriEiER
PERSONS

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is not aware of any B EXFTHEEEIN - FEBEERALTHE - B
other connected persons of CMC REIT, including the Trustee, who 2021128318 « (HIEtBE B ERETE
are interested (or deemed to be interested) in any Units as at 31  &@MEEALT(RREZFTAN)FEIRAFEET
December 2021, I E & B o
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18 March 2022

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited

(in its capacity as REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust)

Room 2603-2606, 26/F,

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

(as trustee of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust)

52/F International Commerce Centre,

1 Austin Road West,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Dear Sirs,

Re: China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (the “China Merchants Commercial REIT”)
Valuation of 5 properties located in Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “Properties”)

27/F, One Island East B
Taikoo Place 0 £

18 Westlands Road EREE185%
Quarry Bay Kty

Hong Kong BERAPDTE

202243 H18H

HEREMEERR AR

(UEEBBE B EEHEREFTELFT
EEABG17)

&5

T35 18 168-2005%

EERLBERAE

26122603%E 2606

BESGEE(EB)BERAT
(tERIBE BB REMERBGTES

FAEA)
a5
k3
T EEFE1
IRIRE S ES52E
WEE

R RRREXRHEREFTES(EH
REXEREES NURPEARLANR
ERERYIHELERNSEE( W]
M fh{E

Instructions, Purpose &
Valuation Date

ER - BRMAERMY

We refer to the instructions from China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited (the “REIT Manager”) for us to prepare market valuations of the Properties
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (as detailed in the attached
valuation report). We confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant
enquiries and obtained such further information as we consider necessary for the
purpose of providing you with our opinion of the market values of the Properties as at
31 December 2021 (the “Valuation Date”) for the purpose of accounting reference.
FERMEHRENEEARAT([EREEADNNIET  GEMLNFEARLRE
(MPE DAY ENTISEE(FRAAMGERS) - E5HR - EF2EEYE - (EHE
BAEAERNEEERAVENEMER - UM B TRESTSEHWHEN2021F12A31
HIEEBHDTEZER  WMEREFEE -
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Basis of Valuation

fhEREE

Compliance
=y

Valuation Assumptions

HERR

Our valuation of each of the Properties represents its market value which in
accordance with HKIS Valuation Standards 2020 published by The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS”) is defined as “the estimated amount for which an asset
or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing
seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties
had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”.
EEHEMEZHEDNEETE REBIEMES((FBUEBMEE DAEMLEE
AEMPSHELER2020ZEEME @ NIEEEXBBLEETISHEREER  AEMEE
FEARERNHERRENS  FELTREAZBERTERZ RFRHAZBRZ
eI

In valuing the Properties, we have complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 6.8 of the Code on Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT Code”)
published by the Securities and Futures Commission and HKIS Valuation Standards
2020.

RETYEZMER  EECETEFRNEERERLZEMEN cFHEREST
ESTA([ERESTH ) F6.8E A B ASMEBS(HEER2020FTHRTE °

Our valuations of each of the Properties exclude an estimated price inflated or
deflated by special terms or circumstances such as atypical financing, sale and
leaseback arrangement, special considerations or concessions granted by anyone
associated with the sale, or any element of value available only to a specific owner or
purchaser.

EEUREMENGELEEZ BEFRIGRRRIEN (IR RE - SRELTH - HE
BEALATHORRRESETEMEIEHR TREHEEARETNEERR)SIHN
BT -

In the course of our valuations of the Properties situated in the PRC, we have
prepared our valuations on the basis that transferable land use rights in respect of
each of the Properties for its specific term at nominal annual land use fees have been
granted and that any premium payable have already been fully paid. We have relied
on the information and advice given by the REIT Manager regarding the titles and the
interests in the Properties. In valuing the Properties, we have prepared our valuations
on the basis that the owners have enforceable titles to the Properties and have free
and uninterrupted right to use, occupy or assign the Properties for the whole of the
unexpired terms as granted.

RESHUNPEINYZEETHER  SEURERFE T MERBEESEYENE
HRRE A TE S HR B T B 5% 1 3 0 R A I B AR BN ] JE S B0 (B R B T T E - &
ERBETEEARKNEUDENEELERZENLER - ESHWEETHE
W BB ASYEBAIRITHERE - WA RNBESREMARERFHRN - T2 FHE
WEBER  ERANEEYE AR METHE -

No allowances have been made in our valuations for any charges, mortgages or
amounts owing on the Properties nor any expenses or taxation which may be
incurred in effecting a sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the Properties
are free from encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of any onerous nature which
could affect their values.

EEHE 2 HEWREZEYEZEMEMR - BB - S ERATaEE S+ 2 MR 3B
1 - REAHAN  EERENEVEAZEHLEBEC EEEREE  REIKIH -

We are not aware of any significant overseas taxes expected to be charged in respect
of the Properties.
EEW N AETEHAB R EER EABIMTIA
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Method of Valuation In valuing the Property Nos. 1 to 5, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation

HEFE Method and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Income Capitalisation
Method is appropriate for valuations of the Properties held for investment.
HEFNEZRMEETHENS  EERAREERANATIS L BORETINR
B o WHRERNMEEERFHERENYENGEMN S BEE -

Income Capitalisation Method
B E

Income Capitalisation Method estimates the values of the Properties on a market
basis by capitalising the existing rental of all lettable units of each of the Properties
for the respective unexpired terms of contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are
assumed to be let at their respective market rents as at the Valuation Date. Upon
expiry of the existing tenancies, each unit is assumed to be let at its market rent as at
the Valuation Date, which is in turn capitalised for the unexpired term of the land use
right under which the Property is held. The summation of the capitalised value of the
term rental for the leased portion, the capitalised value of the reversion market rental as
appropriately deferred for the leased portion and the capitalised value of the vacant
portion provides the market value of each of the Properties.

W B MO ESE RS EMENE ] BEELNREHEES WARE LB RERFEIA
FTURERE - MEEENAIBRRIZEERRE BNMEES LM @ RTI5EEGYE
HEE - REFHROEME - SEBLERREIZENAERRE BmERS LM -
WARIEZIAY E N LI BN MR F I TIAE R - SIEMENTHERFNRDEE S
HEANESHNENMEEE  tEEBIELEERENERTSESEMBEREE
HOMERCEBENLRM -

Market Comparison Method
hik-1e 43973

For cross-checking of the valuations arrived from Income Capitalisation Method, we
have also made reference to comparable sales evidence of properties with similar
characteristics as available in the relevant market.

AR XpERHERNMOEGHAEETNS - ESM2REEM ST A5 AR
MR R LLIHE R -
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Source of Information

BRI

Title Investigation

EERE

We have relied to a very considerable extent on the information given by the REIT
Manager and have accepted advice given to us on such matters as planning
approvals, statutory notices, easements, tenures, identification of land and buildings,
particulars of occupancy, operation accounts, tenancy details, site and floor areas,
site and floor plans, number of units, interests attributable to China Merchants
Commercial REIT and all other relevant matters.

EERAEE LEREETERAFMRHMONER - WEEARBERIE  ZE@ms
igHE - FH - DHIREFETE - GAFE  KERE - AAFE R REEEE -
B REETEE - BUH8E  HREREREESEGRE RV EMBMEERSG T
EENER -

Dimensions, measurements and areas are based on the copies of documents
or other information provided to us by the REIT Manager and are therefore only
approximations. No on-site measurement has been carried out. We have had no
reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided by the REIT
Manager which is material to the valuations. We were also advised that no material
facts have been omitted from the information provided to us.

Rt EE&EEEL‘A%EEEA%&@E% R RIS E M ERLAEE - WERL
H o BEWEBETERAE - Iﬂﬁml*”}%fﬁﬁ}\ﬁ EREHEEMS B
BEVENNETERE ﬁﬁlﬁof**ﬁiéiﬂ %mﬁﬁ]éfﬂ]ﬂﬁ%@/%&ﬁ%ﬁ%

Eo

We would point out that the copies of document provided to us are mainly
compiled in Chinese characters and the transliteration into English represents our
understanding of the contents. We would therefore advise the REIT Manager to make
reference to the original Chinese edition of the documents and consult your legal
advisors regarding the legality and interpretation of such document.

EERIEH  EEEREOXHBIRFZUP RS - FHEERAAEZHANTHIE
fif - A ESREFAER AT R B1THAEEBMEBZE XM
AVEM SRR -

We have been provided with copies of the title documents relating to the Properties
and have carried out title searches at the Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “)&
JIREEZERF L in February 2022. We have sighted each original title oertlﬂcate
held in safekeeping the local offices of China Merchants Commercial REIT or at the
mortgaged bank in Shenzhen in February 2022. All documents have been used for
reference only and all dimensions, measurements and areas are approximate.
3&%&%&@%?@%%%&2&#@% I 2 7202252 AFEN R fJIW@J EELPOE
TERET - EFEN202F2 AR IRFEREREES RSB MM FEIRII
}Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁm%?%ﬁﬁﬂi FBEXMHEHZZ - MAART - EEREABERYD
e
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Site Inspection Our Shenzhen Office valuation team, Sylvia Cai and Charlie Xie (2 years’ valuation

B R experience) have inspected the exterior and, where possible, the interior of the
Properties in December 2021. No structural survey has been made, but in the course
of our inspection, we did not note any serious defects. We are, however, not able
to report that the Properties are free of rot, infestation or other structural defects.
No test was carried out on any of the services. Our valuations are prepared on the
assumption that these aspects are satisfactory. Unless otherwise stated, we have
not carried out detailed on-site measurements to verify the site and floor areas of the
Properties and we have assumed that the areas shown on the documents handed to us
are correct.
%%\%WW$E%EE%v&mum&mmmmd%ﬂﬂ%%@ammmﬁmﬂﬁ%
MERINIR BT REEEANE - EFWMETHEBAE - HEGRSBER I MEIRT
MERERE - A - EE8EZ i&#@%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ“ﬁ sRiF el (] A IR - 5 UWHE
AR AERE - EF2EEDERZSTEABAEMNEBREMER - BRIERBHA -
BRESWEETFANEMASAZBEMENE LEEEE - BEFE/REERT

EZEH XM PAE R RS ERE o
Currency Unless otherwise stated, all sums stated in our valuation report are in Renminbi
Bk (“RMB”), the official currency of the PRC.

BRIERBHA - HERESAMIISEHNFEIEEEEARE(TARE D27 -

Remarks The existing use of the Properties are considered as the highest and best uses. We
e have not carried out any valuation on redevelopment basis, nor the study of possible
alternative options.
MEZRBERBFERAZS EREAR - EFUBABER/ESETERGESE A
BEAZ— T ABRETHE -

We have been provided with the tenancy schedules and a standard Tenancy
Agreement by the REIT Manager. We have not examined the tenancy documents
for each specific tenancy and our valuations are based on the basis that all tenancy
agreements are executed and are in accordance with the provisions stated in the
tenancy schedules provided to us. Moreover, we assume that the tenancies are valid,
binding and enforceable.

EECDEEFAERAREHERSHRMEEMRERZ - EFEWAEHZBRFTHENH
Extt - BEFNMEDLERMEHERZD BN SEEHNHEERFERME
BRI o N - BEERJFEHORER - BAEHNRN AT °

We hereby certify that we have neither present nor prospective interest in the REIT or
the valuation reported

:.—m%&tﬁﬂﬂ ENFEHEREETESIMERNGHETREEMREGIEER

><

BX I
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Non-publication &
Savings Clause
FENBARRE MR

We are independent of the REIT, the trustee and the manager and each of the
significant shareholders of the scheme within the paragraph 6.5 of the REIT Code.
Mr. Philip C Y Tsang has no potential conflict of interest and is able to provide
ob'ective and unbiased valuations for the Properties.

ﬁ_LBAbE%ﬁﬂFTXﬁﬁE%E% XAARBEEBANREFEESTAIZE65REENET
%ﬂﬂﬁ%fkl&ﬁ TEESCAWEBENNRER  FIRMERREEHELAENME -

The conclusions of market value are based on generally accepted valuation
procedures and practices that rely extensively on the use of numerous assumptions
and the consideration of many market data, not all of which can be easily quantified
or ascertained. This valuation report is prepared on fair and unbiased basis subject to
our general assumptions and limitation conditions.
MEERDERARGERTREN - KEREZEARERELERTZTIZEE - M
WIEPAB R REBARE ST - NMEERS DIREBE S 2 — MR RR KBRS
% mRAFREEERR -

Neither the whole nor any part of this report or any reference thereto may be included
in any document, circular or statement without our prior written approval of the form
and context in which it will appear.
AMEESEREMAE - AREN D EBSATATE S HEAEM B4 - HASAPREIEZR
RABMAERE - BEREER o

Finally and in accordance with our standard practice, we must state that this report is
for the use only of the party to whom it is addressed and no responsibility is accepted
to any third party for the Whole or any part of its contents.

&i& - RIBEZREED - WRRIARGREEHIGARER - BSTEE 2R
=GRS Weﬁﬂ&ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁfﬁo

We enclose herewith a summary of valuations and our valuation e EEEMERGEERS - # BETEE

report for your attention.

Yours faithfully, (A

For and on behalf of BERTERAA
Cushman & Wakefield Limited EE

Philip C Y Tsang B HRE

Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice) M EEREEm(ELREH)
Registered China Real Estate Appraiser R E b E G (ER

MSc, MHKIS MSc, MHKIS

Director FERN
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SUMMARY OF VALUATIONS
HEME

Market value in

Market value in existing state

existing state

attribute to

as at Interest the Group as at
31 December attribute 31 December
Property 2021 to the Group 2021
#2021F12A31H
R2021512A31H B8 BRT =2£E
L/ES BRTHHE PEiLfER EiE™E
(RMB) (%) (RMB)
(AR¥) (%) (AE®)
New Times Plaza, No. 1, Taizi Road, Nanshan 2,077,000,000 100 2,077,000,000
District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
P ERE AT
A LU 3 O K F B 1 R (R %
Cyberport Building, 1,065,000,000 100 1,065,000,000
No. 1079, Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
P ERE AT
A L[ /8 K1 0795k B KB
Technology Building, No. 1067, Nanhai Avenue, 888,000,000 100 888,000,000
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
P ERE AT
LU 2 B KB 1067 S EHE K E
Technology Building 2, 1,101,000,000 100 1,101,000,000
No. 1057, Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
PRI ERE AT
L @ B KE 10575k BHE K2 — 51
Garden City Shopping Centre, 1,615,000,000 100 1,615,000,000

No. 1086 Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
R ERE RIIT

P LI [ F /8 K 81 0865 TE Bk

Grand Total (rounded):
MBI (NE) ¢

6,746,000,000

6,746,000,000
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy* 31 December 2021
#2021512A31H
L/ES BRRED h R RRTzmE
1. New Times Plaza, New Times Plaza is an office building which comprises As at the Valuation Date, RMB2,077,000,000
No. 1, Taizi Road, 2-storey commercial area (Level 1 to Level 2), 34-storey portion of the Property (RENMINBI
Nanshan District, office (Level 3 to Level 33, Level 35, 36 and 38) and 212 with a total Gross TWO BILLION
Shenzhen City, car parking spaces in the basement. The Property was Rentable Area of SEVENTY SEVEN
Guangdong Province,  erected on a parcel of land with a site area of approximately MILLION)
the PRC 8,642.45 sq m and was completed in 1997. 62,135.12 sq m has AR®2,077,000,0007T
F FERBEO—ERERER(1EE28) R3ABHAE  been leased under (NRESRESEF
ERE (31 E3312 ~ 3518 + 3612 )38 ) M Mt E212AZE R 2 8 various tenancies, FEETE)
il FRIAK - ZMERA AR AS,642.45FFRMIME 2  vielding a total monthly
BLE FWERIQ7FET - rent of approximately  (Based on the said total
AFEAG RMB10,557,124, monthly rent as at
RRES The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 87,336.98 exclusive of management the Valuation Date,

sg m with detalils as follows:
ZFBIEEEER87,336.98 T K FHENT

Approximate

Approximate Gross
Gross Floor Rentable Area
Portion Area BATEE
B2 BAREEER BEE
(sam) (sam)
(FAK) (TR
Office 82,591.17 62,654.22
(Level 3 to Level 38)
BTE(3E238E)
Commercial 4,745.81 4,945.81
(Level 1 to Level 2)
BER(1EZ28)
212 car parking spaces N/A N/A
212(EREfAL Tam e
Total: 87,336.98 67,600.03
st

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the
Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

Mt - BEEREFECEREAN  AHSLERARKESER -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for
commercial office use.

FZWEZ HHERREREERERLRE - RES0F - 1
20451 27 HEH] -

fee and value-added tax.

REERS  ZWmE—
Bz AFIHESZR
&4 562,135,125
K BEREZERLAL
i BAESBENA
ANE#10,557,1247C
TEREEBRENEE
e

The remaining part of

the Property was vacant.

ZNENR THOZE -

the estimated net
property yield

of the Property

is 6.10%)

(BB R BRI
GRESERE
ZMEREENE
Wi 56.10%)



Notes:

M

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594829 dated 29 July
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
8,642.45 sq m have been granted to Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FIJIIThse AR BEEEIRER A )
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for commercial office
use. The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Shekou New Times
Real Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZIIfie QR EEE
12 AR A &) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 87,336.98 sq m for
office and commercial culture use.

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Hat -

BREAHB20M4F7A20B 2B EEE(F
400059482957 ) + HiAREIIEAY 48,642.45F F KA 1R
ZIMEREERTRYMEONSREEEEER
NA] EREN QRS - BEIB0F « 1204551 A27
HEHE - ZWE 2 BEREEL A87,336.98F 7K
HETEEBEBNRYMEOFRRBEXEEARA
RIET - B ARBEEUERR -

(2)  We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “% @ RIEBHA202F28 148 2 A HERFELEN
YR EEZLH L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry C BEEADEIRBES DL BT Es R
Form (TB)E K & 2 E79%) dated 14 February 2022:
Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage
AEMEEA FEHEREE %18
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Investment 4000594829 dated 29 July 2014 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
and Management Co., Ltd. HE1/820144F7 A29A M5840005948295% (£ &IRTT (P E) AR A TRIIDT)
(RIIT I AR EBXEEARAA)
(8)  According to Business Licence No. 914403003059177335 dated 4 April 2019, B BEBHA20M9F4AH4H 2L EHB(FE
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Investment and Management Co., 914403003059177335%% ) » FYIHie O FEFREEE
Ltd. (I i O 3R B E B2 A R A7) was established on 23 April 2014 as BARARIN2014F4 A28 K AARAF]
a limited liability company.
(4)  Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 4 BEETXBTEARGZHENER ESYREBLH

provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

RZAMEINLAT -
16 RABIR

Approximate

Type EEil) Gross Rentable Area % of Total
BRTHERER HEBEEBENED
(sam)
(FF5K)
Leased [Suap:| 62,135.12 91.9%
Vacant RE 5,464.91 8.1%
Total: st 67,600.03 100.0%
Lease Commencement Profile TRERBRBN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year 4 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHHEE TLAEERERN =3z LR B (e Y
BEE Aot bk Eidad #E AStt
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (ANEEE)
2017 20174 1,765.22 2.6% 237,484.76 2.2% 2 2.4%
2018 20184 - - - - - -
2019 20194 10,678.40 15.8% 1,550,294.29 14.7% 7 8.3%
2020 20204 16,517.02 24.4% 2,861,784.48 27.2% 17 20.2%
2021 20214F 29,947.61 44.3% 5,378,185.50 50.9% 55 65.5%
2022 20224 3,226.87 4.8% 529,375.24 5.0% 3 3.6%
Vacant HE 5,464.91 8.1% - - - -
Total: st 67,600.03 100.0% 10,557,124.27 100% 84 100.0%
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Notes: (continued)

)

(continued)

Occupancy Profile (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile

Approximate

Biat - (48)
@ (&)

1ERBUR (&)
TREREER

Gross
Expiry Date JEim B Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
BMATHEE IHAE R 8A {RAEREN
BEE Aot He Aotk
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (ARK)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 266.09 0.4% 47,864.76 0.5%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 51,133.67 75.7% 8,901,211.35 84.3%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 3,386.60 5.0% 552,366.25 5.2%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 1,924.37 2.8% 229,110.48 2.2%
2026/12/31 2026/12/31 2,162.44 3.2% 474,296.19 4.5%
2033/12/31 2033/12/31 3,261.95 4.8% 352,275.24 3.3%
Vacant WE 5,464.91 8.1% - -
Total: #Et 67,600.03 100.0% 10,557,124.27 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile HEFER
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year F4 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHTHEE IR 24 IH4KER EizE)
AER Aok He ASk gE GEAZNEIL
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR
Up to 1 year BB 17,416.55 25.7% 2,907,654.14 27.5% 32 38.1%
More than 1 year and 1F LA
up to 2 years BB m2F 23,435.97 34.7% 4,351,881.55 41.3% 26 31.0%
More than 2 years and 2L E
up to 3 years BB A3E 13,638.23 20.2% 2,176,715.24 20.6% 18 21.4%
More than 4 years and 44 LA E
up to 5 years BB RSE 4,382.42 6.5% 768,598.10 7.3% 6 7.1%
More than 13 years and 134 A £
up to 14 years BRIBIB14F 3,261.95 48%  352,275.24 3.3% 2 2.4%
Vacant WNE 5,464.91 8.1% - - - -
Total: st 67,600.03 100.0% 10,557,124.27 100.0% 84 100.0%
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Notes: (continued) Mz - (4%)

©)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: (6) BEERUATERRETHE

(i) Shenzhen Shekou New Times Plaza Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (RIITEOHBEREZSEGRAAF) is in
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer
the Property with the residual term of its land use right at no extra land
premium or other onerous payment payable to the government;

i

(ii) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (ii)
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(i)~ The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the (iii)
relevant government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil (iv)
encumbrances.

AT OMEREXERERATNEEZD
EWESUEERERE - ARBEZNFERRLL
o FREROBR T F Hi T /R B SN AR AT A
HWHESREMEER

FiA LS KA B R R
RROHMBADEYEE

ZMEN R R ERCEABBUT IR
)53

ZMEAABERAENBERATAERHETE
P o

In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of 6 WBEETEEBAREZER EBUIEETFZEER

title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: HOEREFRIEMT ¢
Real Estate Ownership Certificate Yes (above ground) EHEREE BObERLA L)
Business Licence Yes EEIR =l

In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and (7))  REZMEETHER  EECEMREEAMEET

cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used TS L BUAETRNRE - TERIESE LA
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: B RA 2 TEEREMMNT ¢
Income Capitalisation Method KB E AR E
Monthly Reversionary
Use Ag Market Rent Term Yield Yield
SHAMEHES FHWEE BEHEmR=E
(RMB/sq m)
(NREET/FH*K)
Office B5TE 174 4% 4.5%
Commercial EER 188-313 4% 4.5%
Car Parking Spaces [EX==1v2 501 4.5%
* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * FATMGHETBREEEE IEER

tax.
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Market value in

Particulars of existing state as at
Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2021
R2021512A31A
L/E BRREH ERFE RRTzmE
2. Cyberport Building, Cyberport Building is an office building technically zoned for As at the Valuation RMB1,065,000,000
No. 1079, industrial use which comprises a 9-storey office buildinganda  Date, portion of the (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, 6-storey office building, connected by a corridor at Level 1 and  Property with a total ONE BILLION
Nanshan District, 2 respectively. The Property also comprises commercial units  Gross Rentable Area of ~ SIXTY FIVE MILLION)
Shenzhen City, located at Level 1 and 255 car parking spaces in the basement. approximately 28,850.64 A K 1,065,000,0007C
Guangdong Province,  The Property was erected on a parcel of land with a site area of  sq m has been leased (AR R ERET
the PRC 15,561.45 sq m and was completed in 2009. under various tenancies, mAETE)
H HBAEARRM FEIRTERENNLR - m—BIEMAE  yielding a total monthly
ERE ROEMARARN - WEA BRI « ZWEME—1E rent of approximately  (Based on the said total
A SEmEEN RN E2S5EIE BRI - ZMERNA RMB3,310,837, monthly rent as at
BLE [E18/315,561 45T kMR 2 EIP B HR2009F KT exclusive of management  the Valuation Date,
HERE fee and value-added tax. the estimated net
10795 The Property has a total Gross Floor Areaof 40,435.09 sqm ~ IMEEBH - % — yield of the Property
YIEXE with detalls as follows: Br2 A AIHERE is 3.73%)
FEBIEMAEEA40,435.00F 5K - FEOT B#428,850.64F 15 (ERHER St
K- ERBZEEAL BARSRE
Approximate 7 §AMEERBENA ZMERETE
Approximate Gross AK%3,310,8377T * T W& B3.73%)
Gross Floor Rentable Area AEEEE FILET o
Portion Area BHTHE
e BHEEEE #ERE  The remaining part of the
(sqm) (sgm)  Property was vacant.
(FFK) (FAR)  ZOENRTHHEE -
Office 38,957.55 37,455.41
BTE
Commercial 1,477.54 2,985.84
255 car parking spaces N/A N/A
255(EfFEfL @ TEB
Total: 40,435.09 40,441.25
et

Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross
Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area because,
as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common area are also
devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

Mt - BEEREFGERERN  THSLERERKELER -

EEEREANEAERE  REARERESMRENAEFE
ETRABEMAERE - URSRLES o

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for industrial use.
T THFERREDRTIETIERG - AHIG0E - 12057
F5A22R%H -
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Notes: Hiat -

(1) According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595164 dated 5 August 1 WEBHAE20M4F8ASHZEMEERE (F
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately 40005951645% ) + HIAE T &40 /515,561.45°F /5 KA
15,561.45 sq m have been granted to Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real W T REEE TR TEEAEELEREAR
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (£ HBAE S LEEARA AR ETERS - AHS0F - R2057F5H22H 5|
7)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for industrial use. The Bl o sZ ¥ BEEmEEL A40,435.09F K - H
legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate EEEERBNFNTEEAEELEEER AR
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZY|HEEAES X SEHRAT) T EEREERS ©

with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 40,435.09 sq m for research and
production use.

(2)  We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “J% @ REAHR02F2A14B 2 TIHERFELENR
Y EEZFEH L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry C BEEADRINRBES S BT s
Form (T B)E K &2 E79%) dated 14 February 2022:

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

AEMEEA FEiEREE 18

Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment 4000595164 dated 5 August 2014 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
and Management Co., Ltd. HE1/8201448 A5 HHI540005951645%  (2ERTT (FE) ARARRIIHTT)

(RINTEBAEEXERERAF)

(8)  According to Business Licence No. 914403003059178641 dated 14 February B WREBHAE2019F2A14H 2L E£HB(FE

2019, Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management 9144030030591786415%)  RYITEIE X EE X E12
Co., Ltd. (RYITHEIE A E B 5 EILH MR Q7)) was established on 23 April 2014 BIRARNR20145F4 823K BER AT

as a limited liability company.

(4)  Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 4 BEETXBTEARGZHENER ESYREBLH

provided by the REIT Manager is set out below: RZAMEHNET
Occupancy Profile 1 FARER
Approximate
Type pEil) Gross Rentable Area % of Total
BOTHERAER HEEBENESL
(sq m)
(FFAHK)
Leased [Susp:| 28,850.64 71.3%
Vacant RE 11,590.61 28.7%
Total: #st . 40,441.25 100.0%
Lease Commencement Profile TRERBRBN

Approximate

Gross Monthly No. of

Year F4 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHUHEE TLAEEREN LR K ey
BEE Aok SRS Aok #E AStt

(sq m) (RMB)

(FFK) (ANEEE)
2018 20184 4,868.70 12.0% 637,566.67 19.3% 4 9.5%
2019 20194 4,445.68 11.0% 511,866.66 15.5% 3 71%
2020 2020%F 10,732.02 26.5% 1,372,045.71 41.4% 18 42.9%
2021 20214 8,804.24 21.8% 789,358.10 23.8% 17 40.5%
Vacant NE 11,590.61 28.7% - - - -

Total: st 40,441.25 100.0% 3,310,837.14 100.0% 42 100.0%
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Notes: (continued)

)

(continued)

Occupancy Profile (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile

Approximate

Bz ()

@ #E

1ERBUR (&)
TREREER

Gross
Expiry Date JEim B Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
BHHEE TRAEEEN 8A 1REBEEN
BEE Aot He BAL
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFAK) (ARE)
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 6,294.22 15.6% 838,113.33 25.3%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 11,652.34 28.8% 1,465,959.04 44.3%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 8,218.37 20.3% 924,769.52 27.9%
2025/12/31 2025/12/31 729.62 1.8% 81,995.25 2.5%
2026/12/31 2026/12/31 1,956.09 4.8% - -
Vacant NE 11,590.61 28.7% - -
Total: et 40,441.25 100.0% 3,310,837.14 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile HEFER
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year FE5 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BRAHEE {hAEER 8A 1h#BEEM bR 1hEBEH
AEE Aok bk ASk #A AZt
(sa m) (RVMB)
(FFHXK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year THB1E 469.06 1.2% 56,753.33 1.7% 2 4.8%
More than 1 year and 1FAE
up to 2 years BAER2E 2,189.04 5.4% 298,897.14 9.0% 4 9.5%
More than 2 years and 244 b
up to 3 years (ERVEERES 15,992.87 39.5% 1,953,028.57 59.0% 28 66.7%
More than 3 years and 344 b
up to 4 years BT BiB4E 2,283.55 5.6%  270,435.24 8.2% 2 4.7%
More than 4 years and ~ 44FJA E
up to 5 years BB E 7,916.12 19.6% 731,722.86 22.1% 14.3%
Vacant NE 11,590.61 28.7% - - -
Total: et - 40,441.25 100.0% 3,310,837.14 100.0% 42 100.0%




Notes: (continued)

©)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (FYITEIE A EE ZEIE AR A7) is in possession of a proper
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous
payment payable to the government;

(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(i) The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the
relevant government departments; and

(ivy  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil

Ay

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Bz ()

(S

BEERATRFAETMHE

) RNHBEAEEXEEARAAEEZNE
MIEFUEE SR BREEZDFERE L
2 FARE RO R T 4F HA T B /R SROMA BUR U 3t
HRESREMEER

i  FAELMHESRAARE  HERERER
ERMEMEREBBES

(i) FEWFEAR FIEREEBBBTEPIHE
)53

V) ZOEVEEEEAENBELTEALETE

T ARREEETES

encumbrances. e
In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of 6 WBEETEEBAREZER EBUIEETFZEER
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: HOEREFRIEMT ¢
Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground) B EEE B(EREA L)
Business Licence Yes R =l
In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and (7))  REZMEETHER  EECEMREEAMEET
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used TS L BUAETRNRE - TERIESE LA
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: B RA 2 TEEREMMNT ¢
Income Capitalisation Method KB E AR E
Monthly Reversionary
Use A% Market Rent Term Yield Yield
SHAMEHES FHWEE ERERE
(RMB/sq m)
(ARBETT/FHK)
Office B5TE 125 4.5% 5%
Commercial EER 176 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces BN 525 5%
* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * FATGHETEREEEE IEER

tax.
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Property

=

VALUATION REPORT

EEHRE

Description and tenure

BRRFH

Particulars of
occupancy

RS

Market value in
existing state as at
31 December 2021

#2021512A31H
RRT2HE

3. Technology Building,
No. 1067,
Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
h
ERE
A
A
HANE
10675%
REARE

Technology Building is an office building technically zoned for
industrial use which comprises a 7-storey main building and a
6-storey annex building. The Property also comprises 110 car
parking spaces. The Property was erected on a parcel of land

with a site area of 17,563.80 sg m and was completed in 2002.

HEAEARM LEATXRENETERAE  BLER

NEERAERMBETER - ZWETLEN0EEER -
ZER MO B17,563.80F 7 K HH 5,2 42002

FERT o

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 41,578.51 sgm

with details as follows:
ZMELERRAAMN LT8R HENT

Approximate

Approximate Gross
Gross Floor Rentable Area
Portion Area BHTHE
Ba BHREEE BER
(sam) (sarm)
(FAK) (FAXK)
Main building 33,5629.22 33,497.01
g
Annex building 8,049.29 8,049.29
EEF
110 car parking spaces N/A N/A
110fEF TEm TEm
Total: 41,578.51 41,546.30
@it

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the

Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

Mt - BEEREFECEREAN  AHSLERERKESER -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for

industrial use.

ZMFEZ DERRORAETIRRE - AHS0F © K1

2051F1 A7TBER °

As at the Valuation Date,
the Property with a total
Gross Rentable Area of
approximately 41,546.30

s m has been leased

under various tenancies,
yielding a total monthly

rent of approximately
RMB4,673,778,

exclusive of management
fee and value-added tax.

REERS  ZmE—
Brz A AIHERE
TE#1541,546.30F 1

K BREZEREOH
- SREsEENA

AR®46737787 &

BREREREER -

RMB888,000,000
(RENMINBI EIGHT
HUNDRED EIGHTY
EIGHT MILLION)
AR%883,000,00070
(ARFHIERIF
HEETE)

(Based on the said total
monthly rent as at the

Valuation Date,
the estimated net
yield of the Property
is 6.32%)
(ERMEHEREFTLA)
GRMERERE
ZMERNETENE
W% £6.32% )



Notes:

M

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595344 dated 7 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
17,563.80 sg m have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZYIHRIABEEEB AR L T)
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for industrial use. The
legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FIITHRIABEEEE AR A F]) with a
total Gross Floor Area of approximately 41,578.51 sq m with details as follows:

Ay

T ARREEETES

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Hat -

1) WREBHAE0M4FSATAZEMEEE(F
4000595344 5% ) + 8% H 1E 4) 4 17,563.80 F J5 K &Y
W THEREERTRYIMRAEEEEERA
Al fETEA% - AHIS0F - R2051F1 A7HE|H -
U IETEEIEN A4 ,578 51 F K - AT ¥
EEBNRIITMRIABEXERERAR - FEOT

Building Name Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFER ®IHH BEHER
(sgm)
(FFK)
Technology Building 26 June 2002 33,5629.22
BHEARE 200246 H26H
Technology Building 26 June 2002 8,049.29
BHEARE 200246 H26H
Total: 41,578.51
@it

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “)%
YT E)EZFH L, according to Real Estate Information Computer Inquiry

@  RIEHEA2022F2 A14A 2 B EEE RS
BHERE  BEERMRIITEBEZZFA L]

Result Form (T E)E B KB E #45 R R) dated 14 February 2022: EITREES

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

HEMEEA EihEREE 23]

Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate 4000595344 dated 7 August 2014 Nil
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. HEIA201448 A7 HK)5400059534455% &

(FRINTRREXERERAF)

According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917637U dated 15 February
2019, Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (FYITHRKE EEE AR A A]) was established on 25 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

@ WBEBHAE20M19F2ABHZLEEHNR(F
91440300305917637U5%) + RIITMRABXERER
ARIN2014F4 A25 B ABRAT]

@) BEEFREBARGZALEN ESUREEOM
RZAMEINAT -
& FABIR

Approximate

Type fFidl) Gross Rentable Area % of Total
A REELEE HEBEEBENES

(sq m)

(FFAHK)
Leased Stz 41,546.30 100.0%
Vacant RE - -
Total: st 41,546.30 100.0%
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)

Notes: (continued) Biat - (48)
(continued) @ (#)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1 AR (&)
Lease Commencement Profile THERBBRN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHUHEE TRAEEEN =3z {hAEEER bisE) LSy
BEE Bk He Aok A Aok
(sq m) (RVMB)
(FFK) (AR¥E)
2019 20194 11,910.47 28.7% 1,200,234.29 25.7% 7 29.2%
2020 20204 1,413.97 3.4% 173,449.52 3.7% 2 8.3%
2021 20214 28,221.86 67.9% 3,300,094.29 70.6% 15 62.5%
Vacant NE - - - - -
Total: Mat 41,546.30 100.0% 4,673,778.10 100.0% 24 100.0%
Lease Expiry Profile THER R
Approximate
Gross
Expiry Date ==k Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
BHHEE THAEEEN E=3:! RN
BmEE AZt bisk AZt
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AE¥E)
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 14,508.81 34.9% 1,651,780.95 35.3%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 13,525.74 32.6% 1,586,871.43 34.0%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 13,511.75 32.5% 1,435,125.72 30.7%
Vacant NE - - - -
Total: et 41,546.30 100.0% 4,673,778.10 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile HEFERR
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year F Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHTHEE IR 8A bt HH Lt G
AmEE Ak ik ASk E{E] Aok
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFHXK) (AR
Up to 1 year TEBiB14F 7,999.80 19.3% 945,544.77 20.2% 4 16.7%
More than 1 year and 15 LA
up to 2 years (ERNEHERES 10,058.03 24.2% 1,178,926.67 25.2% 7 29.2%
More than 2 years and 24 LA E
up to 3 years BT FBIA3EF 13,234.37 31.9% 1,542,311.43 33.1% 8 33.3%
More than 3 years and 394 b
up to 4 years BT EBR4FE 4,840.64 11.6% 509,973.33 10.9% 1 4.2%
More than 4 years and ~ 44FJA b
up to 5 years BT BIB55F 5,413.46 13.0% 497,021.90 10.6% 4 16.6%
Vacant NE - - - - - -
Total: st 41,546.30 100.0% 4,673,778.10 100.0% 24 100.0%
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Notes: (continued) Mz - (4%)
(5)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: (6) BEERUATERRETHE
0] Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management 0] AYIMBABEXEEBRAREEZMENE
Co. Ltd. (RYIMEABEEERBRAF) is in possession of a proper EEEE  AREEZVEERE T HER
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the R ER T F BT B8 RN BUR U Tt 3%
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous S EMEERIE

payment payable to the government;

(ii) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (ii) FiE i HiES A AR - BB R e M B
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; BERAOEAERE RS

(i)~ The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with @iy EWENBFTREZIFESEMBREARE  WE
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant FEAERAT A FIRLE ¢« &
government departments; and

(v)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil vy BYEIEEEEAENERTERLETE
encumbrances. 77 e

(6)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of 6) WBEETEEBARBZER  EBRKAEFTFZEE

title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: BB RFFRIELAT -
Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground) EHEREE BHEEL L)
Business Licence Yes BEHR =]

(7)  Invaluing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and (7))  REZWEETHER  ZTEERMAWEERET

cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used TS ESEEITRIXBE - BERWRERNMEERY
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BERFEAZ FEREEIMnT :
Income Capitalisation Method W EARIE
Monthly Reversionary
Use )::EeS Market Rent Term Yield Yield
BATHHES FHKEE EEERE
(RMB/sq m)
(NRETT/FHHK)
Office BEE 115 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces =12 427 5%
* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * FATSBHETEIEEIEE MISER -

tax.
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Market value in

Particulars of existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2021
#2021512A31H
L/ES BRREH E AR RRTzmE
4, Technology Building 2, Technology Building 2 is an office building technically zoned for ~ As at the Valuation RMB1,101,000,000
No. 1057, industrial use which comprises two 6-storey buidings and 220  Date, portion of the (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, car parking spaces in the basement. The Property was erected  Property with a total ONE BILLION
Nanshan District, on a parcel of land with a site area of 17,232.03 sgm and was ~ Gross Rentable Area of ONE HUNDRED
Shenzhen City, completed in 2010. approximately ONE MILLION)
Guangdong Province, ~ RIEAEZHARITLEIAT£RENETIEBLAE - MM 34,991.99 sqm has AEH1,101,000,0007C
the PRC TROIE T 18 R E220 RS EAAAM - ZMEEAMEERE  been leased under (NEBREE
F £17,232.03F 7 KAy 2 LW EHR2010F £ T - various tenancies, ZEREE)
BRE yielding a total monthly
el The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 42,531.37 sgm  rent of approximately (Based on the said
BILE with details as follows: RMB3,819,853, total monthly rent
HEKE TR GEREER2531.37T K BT exclusive of management  as at the Valuation Date,
10575% fee and value-added tax. the estimated net
AR Approximate MEERE - ZME— yield of the Property
Approximate Gross HpzAFTARAELTE is 4.16%)
Gross Floor Rentable Area  7£47/534,991.99F 77 (ERME{E R BAT e
Portion Area BATHE K BERZERLL BARSRE
o BAREER BEE B SAMESRENAR EAUELOlRE e
(sqm) (sam) AK#3,819,8537 T WiEE 74.16%)
(F7K) (FAK) BREEREREED -
Technology Building 2 20,991.01 21,080.78  The remaining part of the
Building A Property was vacant.
PHRAE = AR TMENBTHATE «
Technology Building 2 21,540.36 22,010.68
Building B
BMEAE-#BE
220 car parking spaces N/A N/A
2208 E ek ek
Total: 42,531.37 43,091.46
et

Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross

Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area because,
as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common area are also
devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

Mt - BEEREFGERERR  THSLERARKESER -

REREEANEERR  REARBAESMRANBENE -
ETRARENAERE - UESRAES

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
FEZ DEREEREEIEMR - RE60F - K2057
F6A29BEIE



Notes:

M

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595343 dated 7 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
17,232.08 sgq m have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZYIHRIAZHEXE B HR
‘A 7)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FIITHRIAX —HIE X EEER A
aJ) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 42,531.37 sq m with details as
follows:

Ay

T ARREEETES

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Hat -

RIEBHA04F8ATAZEHEEE(F
400059534355 + b EEEITE4Y /17,282.08F 77 KA
B tiFEAEERPRIMRA_SHEEEEAR
AR ETERS - AHS0F - KR2057F6H29H &
B - W ZBEEEEL A42531.37F K - H
EEEERBNRIIMBA—HELEERARAAS
T - AT ¢

Building Name Building Use Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFEER BFERRE BT AM REEE
(sq m)
(F732K)
Technology Building 2 Building A Industrial 3 February 2010 20,991.01
BHEOKRE —HRARR I%¥ 201042 A3H
Technology Building 2 Building B Industrial 3 February 2010 21,540.36
FHXAKE —HiBRE I%¥ 201042 A3H
Total: 42,531.37
Mgt

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “/%&
YR BEZH L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry
Form (T &) E K& LB #K) dated 14 February 2022:

@

RIEBHA2022F2 A14B 2 T B ERIFELEN
% BECRIRYITBES AL ETEEER -

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

HEMEE A FEHEREER 718

Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate 4000595343 dated 7 August 2014 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. HH/A201458 A7 HKI540005953435% (2R RTT (FE) AR AREIIDT)

(RINTHA—HEXERERAF)

According to Business Licence No. 914403003059179017 dated 16 April 2019,
Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (FYITHRIA —HAE 212 AR A T)) was established on 24 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

©

RIEFEAHAE20109F4A16H 2 EEHB(F
9144030030591790175%) « AYIMRIAZHEEER
BIRARNR20145F4 524 H L BAR AT -

REFFTEEARFIENER  EEHRAEOM
RZAMEINEAT -
& AR

Approximate

Type i) Gross Rentable Area % of Total
BHTHEREE HEEENE DL

(sq m)

(FEFK)
Leased [SAusti| 34,991.99 81.2%
Vacant WE 8,099.47 18.8%
Total: @t 43,091.46 100.0%
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Notes: (continued) Biat - (48)
(continued) @ (%)
Occupancy Profile (continued) AR (E)
Lease Commencement Profile THERBBRN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BAHEE {LBEREN 8A {RABEEMN bizE) {REBEH
BEE Aot He )4 A AStt
(sa m) (RMB)
(F7K) (AR¥)
2017 20174 2,826.71 6.5% 278,148.57 7.3% 2 7.4%
2018 20184 4,201.91 9.7% 460,904.84 12.1% 4 14.8%
2019 20194 4,168.05 9.7% 502,915.24 13.2% 3 11.1%
2020 20204 7,433.82 17.3% 814,710.48 21.3% 4 14.8%
2021 20214 16,361.50 38.0% 1,763,173.70 46.1% 14 51.9%
Vacant NE 8,099.47 18.8% - - - -
Total: F 43,091.46 100.0% 3,819,852.83 100.0% 27 100.0%
Lease Expiry Profile THER BN
Approximate
Gross
Expiry Date ==k Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
HBAEELEEE GEEBENEIH SRHES hBENE DL
(sgm) (RMB)
(FFAK) (ARE)
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 5,342.21 12.4% 625,822.86 16.4%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 20,355.62 47.2% 2,174,173.78 56.9%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 6,926.07 16.1% 750,979.05 19.7%
2025/12/31 2025/12/31 2,178.26 5.1% 228,199.05 6.0%
2029/12/31 2029/12/31 189.83 0.4% 40,678.09 1.0%
Vacant NE 8,099.47 18.8% - -
Total: wst 43,091.46 100.0% 3,819,852.83 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBR
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year FE5 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
HBYRHEE {hAEER 8A 1h#BEEM bk LEECE Y
BEE Aok bk AStt #A ADt
(sa m) (RMB)
(FFHXK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year TBiE1F 796.61 1.8% 92,217.14 2.4% 1 3.7%
More than 1 years and ~ 14FJA b
up to 2 years BEB2F 8,719.89 20.2% 898,558.47 23.5% 4 14.8%
More than 2 years and 244 E
up to 3 years B EBIA3E 18,629.62 31.6% 1,573,688.57 41.2% 13 48.1%
More than 3 years and 344 b
up to 4 years BEBAE 2,178.26 5.1% 228,199.05 6.0% 1 3.7%
More than 4 years and ~ 44FIA E
up to 5 years BB E 9,477.78 22.0% 986,511.50 25.8% 7 25.9%
More than 4 years and ~ 44FIA E
up to 8 years BHEB8E 189.83 0.4% 40,678.10 1.1% 1 3.8%
Vacant NE 8,099.47 18.9% - - - -
Total: st 43,091.46 100.0% 3,819,852.83 100.0% 27 100.0%




Notes: (continued)

©)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

@

Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (RITRIAZHEXZEEBRAF) is in
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer
the Property with the residual term of land use right at no extra land
premium or other onerous payment payable to the government;

All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the
relevant government departments; and

The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Ownership Certificate
Business Licence

Yes (above ground)
Yes

In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and

Cross-

in the

checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used
Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below:

111

T FEW RERREEEES

Ay

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Bz ()
B)  EEERATRRETHEE

) RNHHAR-_HEXEEARAAEEZNE
MIEFUEE SR BREEZDFERE L
2 FARE RO R T 4F HA T B /R SROMA BUR U 3t
HRESREMEER

i  FAELMHESRAARE  HERERER

ERMEMEREBBES

(i) FEWFEAR FIEREEBBBTEPIHE
)53

V) ZOEVEEEEAENBELTEALETE
¥ o

6 RBEFFEEZARKZEHN  EERARETZIER

HUERFFATELAT -

R BOBEENL)

EERR B

(7)) REZMFETHER  BFEERAKEENMOET
IATTSHEVRETR XRE - BERREERLAR
EPRAZ T RREHRAT

Income Capitalisation Method KB E AR E

Monthly Reversionary
Use A% Market Rent Term Yield Yield
SHAMEHES FHWEE ERERE

(RMB/sq m)

(ARBETT/FHK)
Office B5TE 123 4.5% 5%
Commercial EER 237 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces BN 475 5%

*

Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added
tax.

* BATSESTEEERE JRER
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Properties held by the Group for investment purposes in the PRC

BEREETESEHERERZNYE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2021
R2021512A31A
L/ES BRREH EA#E BRT2HE
5. Garden City Garden City Shopping Centre is a 5-storey shopping centre As at the Valuation RMB1,615,000,000
Shopping Centre, with various commercial units. The Property also comprises Date, portion of the (RENMINBI
No. 1086 644 car parking spaces and other ancillary faciliies in 2-storey ~ Property with a total ONE BILLION
Nanhai Avenue, basements. The Property was erected on a parcel of land with ~ Gross Rentable Area of SIXHUNDRED
Nanshan District, a site area of 25,629.40 sq m and was completed in 2006. approximately 50,880.58 FIFTEEN MILLION)
Shenzhen City, TEERA—BREERERAENLNSERENTL « ZWET sqm has been AER#1,615,000,0007
Guangdong Province, — BEG4AEEBN RAA2EEMEMEERE - ZWEZ  leased under various (NRERIEE
the PRC PR T8 /525,629, 40 7 KHM R 2 2006 % T »  tenancies, yielding an SHHEETE)
F average total monthly
ERE The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 50,496.85sgm  rent of approximately (Based on the said
el with details as follows: RMB8,667,185, total monthly rent as
2] LY EEEEETREA50,496.85F 7K » HIBIT exclusive of management  at the Valuation Date,
HERE fee and value-added tax. the estimated net
108655 WEEBRE - ZE— yield of the Property
TEE oz At HELEE is 6.44%.)
&4 450,880.58F 7 (ERE{E R BRI
Approximate K ' EREZERLL BRESEE
Approximate Gross i AUMSAENA ZMERETE
Gross Floor Rentable Area AR8,667,1857L * F* Wiz R6.44% ° )
Portion Area mwn EEEERLRGER
"o BAREER HEAHE - . .
e remaining portion of
(sam) (sam) the Property was vacant.
I SGIONEE ) S GES &
Commercial 50,496.85 56,225.51
644 car parking spaces N/A N/A
644 {EFE L TER TEA
Total: 50,496.85 56,225.51
et
Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross

Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area because,

as per the tenancy

details provided to us, some common area are also

devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

it

BEAREFHEREEN  IHSLERERKELER -

THEARRANZAER  RRARERESMRENAEFS
ETRABEAERE - URERLES o

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 40 years due to expire on 14 April 2044 for commercial use.
FEZ DHERECRLERERE - RE4OF  BR
20444 A14BER



Notes:

M

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594827 dated 29 July
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
25,629.40 sg m have been granted to Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZYITEE B EERERE A F) for a
term of 40 years due to expire on 14 April 2044 for commercial use. The legal
title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment
and Management Co., Ltd. (FYITHIEEIM B &2 AR A 7)) with a total Gross
Floor Area of approximately 50,496.85 sq m for commercial use.

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “)#
YIRBEZRH L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry
Form (T E)EK M Z L E ) dated 14 February 2022:

Registered Owner

HMEEA FEHEERR

TR HER/ AEREEERER

VALUATION REPORT / 2 (h{E R4

Hat -

Real Estate Title Certificate No.

BREAHB20M4F7A20B 2B EEE(F
4000594827 5% ) + b A% I 1E £ /325,629.40 F J5 K &)
Mz T EREEE TRYMEEREXETEAR
NE ERERS - AH40F - N2044F4 81485
H o ZWE 2 BIEEEEL A50,496.85F 5K - Bk
TEERBRFMIEEREEERERAAET -
(ESESE o

118 B R2022F2 A 140 2 FHEKMBREN
F ESERDRYITFER RO TR -

Mortgage
718

Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate

Investment and Management Co., Ltd. HHA2014F7 A29H /8
(RYITIEERBEXERERAR) 2540005948275

According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917709L dated 29 November
2018, Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (FYITIEEH B EEIEERAT) was established on 24 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

4000594827 dated 29 July 2014

©

DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
(BRRIT (RE) ARQBEYHTT)

BEAHAE2018F 11 A20B 2 & 2B (F
91440300305917709L5%) + FYITEEH B EEIEH
[RATIR20145F4 24 B ABR AT

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 4 BEEITEBARMBZELER EBESHRBALHOM
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below: RZAWEINAT
Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Approximate
Type ki) Gross Rentable Area % of Total
BAHEAEE HEEENE DL
(sqm)
(FFFAK)
Leased [SAusti| 50,880.58 90.5%
Vacant WE 5,344.94 9.5%
Total: st 56,225.52 100.0%
Lease Commencement Profile
THERIABIR
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHUHEE TRABEREN {hABEEN LS Gy
BEE Aok gAHES Aok HHEAE Aok
(sam) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR
2008 20084 4,101.00 7.3% 396,394.27 4.6% 1 0.8%
2014 20144F 964.00 1.7% 38,285.71 0.4% 2 1.5%
2016 20164 1,1738.73 21% 251,778.34 2.9% 2 1.5%
2017 20174 3,621.62 6.4% 641,010.09 7.4% 6 4.5%
2018 20184 5,711.43 10.2% 810,556.07 9.4% 10 7.6%
2019 20194 9,604.85 17.1% 1,653,391.31 19.1% 16 12.1%
2020 20204 12,115.15 21.5% 2,142,891.71 24.7% 35 26.5%
2021 20214 18,265.59 23.6% 2,652,378.00 30.6% 56 42.4%
2022 20224 323.21 0.6% 80,499.86 0.9% 4 3.1%
Vacant NE 5,344.94 9.5% - - - -
Total: st 56,225.52 100.0% 8,667,185.36 100.0% 132 100.0%

113
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Notes: (continued)

)

(continued)

Occupancy Profile (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile

Approximate

Biat - (48)
@ (&)
1 AR (&)

TREREER

Gross
Expiry Date JEim B Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
% LA
BAREELEE HEDL SRHES HBENE DL
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AE¥)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 - - - -
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 16,517.29 29.4% 3,492,999.72 40.3%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 4,988.99 8.9% 1,216,947.53 14.0%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 3,988.20 7.1% 908,958.12 10.5%
2025/12/31 2025/12/31 9,837.81 17.5% 1,677,871.69 18.2%
2026/12/31 2026/12/31 8,3156.70 14.8% 814,397.31 9.4%
2027/12/31 2027/12/31 2,257.23 4.0% 313,582.99 3.6%
2028/12/31 2028/12/31 4,975.36 8.8% 342,428.00 4.0%
Vacant WE 5,344.94 9.5% - -
Total: @t 56,225.52 100.0% 8,667,185.36 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBRN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHTHEE IR EREN IH4KER LS Gy
AR Aok SAMES ASk AYEAE Aok
(sqgm) (RMB)
(F7K) (AR
Upto 1 year i@ 4 4,907.19 8.7% 1,234,084.77 14.2% 37 28.0%
More than 1 year and 15 LA
up to 2 years BB m2F 4,970.29 8.8% 1,276,130.00 14.7% 29 22.0%
More than 2 years and 294 E
up to 3 years BTNEBIB3F 7,660.99 13.6% 1,568,867.41 18.0% 22 16.7%
More than 3 years and ~ 39FJA b
up to 4 years BEBIB4F 5,108.12 9.1% 1,035,928.22 12.0% 16 12.1%
More than 4 years and 44 LA E
up to 5 years BT EBRSF 10,5651.39 18.9% 1,460,878.77 16.9% 13 9.8%
More than 5 years and 594 b
up to 6 years BB 4,496.30 8.0%  744,964.37 8.6% 6 4.5%
More than 6 years and ~ 64FJA E
up to 7 years BB 1,147.54 2.0%  131,320.32 1.5% 3 2.3%
More than 7 years and 74 LAE
up to 8 years BB 2,466.88 4.4%  307,579.29 3.5% 3 2.3%
More than 9 years and 99 A b
up to 10 years BTHBIE10F 5,470.88 9.7% 516,042.94 6.0% 2 1.56%
More than 16 years and  164FLA
up to 17 years BTBBITF 4,101.00 7.3% 396,394.27 4.6% 1 0.8%
Vacant NE 5,344.94 9.5% - - - -
Total: st 56,225.52 100.0% 8,667,185.36 100.0% 132 100.0%
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Notes: (continued) Mz - (4%)
(5)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: (6) BEERUATERRETHE

(i) Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,

) RN EEREEXERERAREEZMEN

Ltd. (RYITFIEEIME £ EIRER A F) is in possession of a proper legal EREEXERE  AREEZMEERA T HE
title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the PR SR T F EA T (BB BB SR BT S A -t i
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous EERHEMEERIE

payment payable to the government;

(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (ii) FrE Lt ES R AR M B RR i S 5
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; BERAOEAERE RS

(i) ~ The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with @iy EWENBFTREZIFESEMBREARE  WE
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant FEAERAT A FIRLE ¢« &
government departments; and

(v) The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil vy BYEIEEEEAENERTERLETE
encumbrances. 75 e

(6)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of 6) WBEETEEBARBZER  EBRKAEFTFZEE

title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: BB RFFRIELAT -
Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground) EHEREE B(HEE L)
Business Licence Yes BEHR B

(7)  Invaluing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and (7))  REZWEETHER  ZTEERMAWEERET

cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used TS ESEEITRIXBE - BERWRERNMEERY
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BERFEAZ FEREEIMnT :
Income Capitalisation Method W EARIE
Monthly Reversionary
Use AE Market Rent Term Yield Yield
SAMEHES FHRRE BB EHRE
(RMB/sq m)
(AREETT/F7K)
Commercial [GESS 215 6.0% 6.5%
* Monthly market rent covers the rent of anchor tenants and is exclusive of * BAMSHSERETEARPNES BETEE

management fee and value-added tax. BIRE RILER o
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MARKET OVERVIEW

China General Overview

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is the world’s second
biggest economic system (in terms of GDP) and the third largest
country (in terms of total area) with a population of approximately
1.4 billion in 2020. China’s economy has experienced rapid growth
in the past two decades. Despite the volatile global economic
environment and COVID-19, China’s strong economic growth
is evidenced by its nominal GDP growth rate with a significant
CAGR of 8.1% in 2015-2020. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of China and the World Bank, over the past 6 years,
China’s GDP growth has remained healthy, with GDP value
increasing from RMB68,886 billion in 2015 to RMB101,599 billion
in 2020, representing a CAGR of approximately 8.1%, exceeding
the world level (2.6% reported by the United Nations).

Shenzhen City Overview

Shenzhen is one of the four first-tier cities in the PRC. It is situated
at the eastern coast of River Pearl, sitting just across the river from
Hong Kong, with a land area of approximately 1,997.47 square
kilometers. Shenzhen is the first special economic zone in China,
with nine districts and one new zone under its jurisdiction. As one
of the core cities in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, Shenzhen is playing a strategically important role in the
development of financial service, information technology, trade and
logistics.

Shenzhen Office Market

There are several Grade A office submarkets in Shenzhen, including
Luohu, Futian, Nanshan, Bao’an, Longhua and Longgang. More
than 85% of the Grade A office buildings are located at Futian and
Nanshan District.

The Central Business District (CBD) in Futian has the largest supply
of Grade A office buildings in Shenzhen. Many domestic and
multinational corporates, especially those from the finance sector,
choose this area as their priority presence. The Shenzhen Bay-
Houhai area in Nanshan, where many headquarters base, is playing
an increasingly important part in the Shenzhen Grade A office
market. The Qianhai-Shekou Free Trade Area in Nanshan and
Baoan, thanks to the policy, is planned to facilitate the functions of
financial service, international trade, port logistics, and information
technology service, and expected to be the main source of future
office supply.

TSRS

FREREME
REEARLFE([HE]) BERE - KNEER
RZRBANEERER) REZABRR(REE
&5l + 20206 + AOHIA141E - REIEE
FEBE0FRNRER - BEZECBERERS
MR BERRSREEE  FEEEERNEE
HBER2015F 2020 F HEFFARIER - BAF
WRERIZESA%  NEPBELEELRAES - B
FREBXRGTRREERIBITHER  RiBX6
F o hENBRNEEREBEESERE  BREE
#BEM20155F A R #68.886 5 B ITIE N E 2020
FHARMA101.59098ET BAFEREEY
8.1% ' MBI FKTF(EBABIFTRE « ZHMHE
MEAFHRERE2.6%)

RIS
FUAPREA—&HRMm 2 —  NRKIE
B EEBRIIHEE - LHmEEL1,997.47F
FFK FINATFRE —FEALERRE - TEA
B K —EFE - RIEABBRKE R X
DMz —  REsR% - Bl - B5 K&
MEBERFHEEIEEZNEEEER -

R BFETE
FINEZEFERFERRTS - BREEN
wBE - FEIL - BX o BEEENEERM © 85% A LK)
FRRFRUNERRLELERE -

B REFR SR FKROFREFEHE
B REBEARBEAR  FHRERITER
A EERREREBREEGH - mILARY
BRERESRLEMEN  RANFERF
BMEEEEaERNER - BREEKRE
fRE L REZHAEE OB ERTEES S
AR - BFRE S - B O YR KA AR
Eet  WEERARRBSFENEZHER



MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Office Market (continued)
Supply and Demand

Shenzhen’s Grade A office market remained active in 2021, with
annual absorption reaching 672,599 sq m, up 66.8% y-o-y. On
the supply side, several new projects were completed, although
with many being non-market projects for industry support and self-
use. Final new Grade A supply was relatively limited at 359,800
sq m for the year. The citywide vacancy rate in Q4 dropped 6.1
percentage points y-o-y to 19.0%, demonstrating a significant
downward trend. In the fourth quarter, the new supply of Grade A
office buildings in Shenzhen was about 35,000 sgq m, and the city’s
total stock rose to 6,645,695 sq m.

By submarket, Qianhai led leasing demand in 2021, with annual
net absorption accounting for 43.8% of the city’s total, and with
the vacancy rate in Q4 falling by 27.7 percentage points from Q1,
driving down Nanshan’s overall vacancy rate by 13.5 percentage
points from Q1 to 20.9%. Nanshan’s Hi-Tech Park and Houhai
submarkets enjoyed tech-sector clustering effects, accounting
for a combined 20.5% of total net absorption, despite no new
supply. The rapid development and expansion of technology
companies have strongly supported absorption in the region. In
addition to leading firms, ambitious start-ups, unicorns, and newly
listed enterprises have turned more attention to upgrading office
spaces, further strengthening new demand in the Grade A market.
We expect Qianhai to continue to become more attractive, with
improved facilities combined with government rent subsidies,
and, coupled with sustained new supply ahead, Nanshan District
is likely to remain tenants’ most favoured location. In Futian
District, demand from the dominant financial and professional
service industries continues to grow, with the market absorbing
existing stock as well as the limited new supply, driving annual net
absorption to 162,689 sg m, or 24.2% of the city’s total.

By industry sector, education, real estate, and wealth management
companies have markedly downsized in the wake of government
regulations. The TMT sector remains the pillar of the Shenzhen
office leasing market, while the finance and professional services
sectors are also important drivers of activity. Demand in these
sectors is predominantly from small and medium-sized firms,
combined with location and expansion activities from leading
enterprises.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Office Market (continued)
Rent

Despite the future supply pressure, the annual rental level remained
firm on the back of robust market demand, slipping just 0.5% y-o-y
to finish at RMB210.5 per sg m per month.

Market Trend

Approximately 6.53 million sg m of new office supply is in the
pipeline through the next five years. The influx is likely to exert
pressure on rents and push the vacancy rate up. In this intensified
market competition, older projects will remain challenging, and
we expect landlords to adopt flexible leasing strategies. On the
demand side, TMT, manufacturing, and healthcare/life sciences
firms, which are active in the capital market and are in line with the
government’s industrial development plan, are expected to provide
firm support to Grade A office market.

Shenzhen Industrial Park Overview

The supply of Shenzhen industrial parks is not only from old factory
renovation, but also from new completion on the new industrial
land (MO). Shenzhen industrial parks can be found in eight areas,
but most of them are located at Nanshan, Bao’an, Longhua and
Longgang.

Typical industrial parks include High-tech park and Shekou Net
Valley in Nanshan, Vanke Spark Online in Longgang, Baoneng
Tech-park in Longhua, and Taihua Wutongdao in Bao’an. These
industrial parks have attracted companies from the sector of
internet, e-commerce, telecommunication, computer, cultural
creativity and data centre etc.

Supply and Demand

Currently there are over 3,600 sizable industrial parks in Shenzhen,
and 95% of listed technology companies settled in these parks.

The high-tech park in Nanshan is a typical area for industrial parks
in Shenzhen. By the end of 1H 2021, total supply of industrial
parks in the area reached 4.32 million sqg m. With epidemic relief
and economic recovery, the demand of prime industrial parks was
boosting resulting in an increase in net absorption. In addition,
only 60 thousand sq m industrial parks was newly supplied in the
market in the first half year, which results in a lower vacancy rate.
The occupancy in the high-tech park was around 85% to 90%.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Industrial Park Overview (continued)
Supply and Demand (continued)

Shekou Net Valley is a successful case of renovation, with
approximately 420,000 sqg m supply of both renovated factories
and newly built office buildings. The occupancy rate in the area is
around 85% to 90%.

Rent

The current asking rent of prime industrial parks in Nanshan high-
tech parks ranges from RMB120 to 240 per sg m, and rent in
Shekou Net Valley is around RMB80 to 150 per sq m.

Market Trend

The external environment offers a great prospect for the future
development of industrial park. The government sector has carried
out various policies on both city renovation and new industrial
land supply to support the development of the industrial parks.
Meanwhile, as the technology hub in the Greater Bay Area,
Shenzhen is expected to attract more and more technology
companies, thus stimulating the demand for R&D office and
continuously taking up more supply of the industrial parks.

Shenzhen Retail Overview

Shenzhen prime retail properties can be found in districts with
a considerable resident base, such as Luohu, Futian, Nanshan,
Bao’an, Longhua and Longgang, and most of the prime shopping
centres are located in Futian and Nanshan.

Supply and Demand

Shenzhen welcomed a record-breaking 820,000 sg m of new retail
supply for the full year, pushing up total stock to 5.92 million sg m.
However, relatively long periods of pre-leasing activity at sizable
new completions supported occupancy, with the new-entrant
vacancy rate tightened to 5.3%, at 0.8 percentage points lower
than the overall city vacancy level.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Retail Overview (continued)
Supply and Demand (continued)

Malls improved occupancy by leveraging opportunities from
shopping festivals including Golden Week, Double 11 and Double
12. Consequently, the city’s overall vacancy rate dropped 0.8
percentage points g-o-q to record 6.1%, with Futian and Nanshan
falling 3.8 and 0.7 percentage points respectively. New restaurant
entrants were active, particularly for Guangzhou cuisine and
Thai and Japanese restaurants. Hotpot, Tabehoudai Buffet and
BBQ were popular options, influenced by the winter season. F&B
operators are now using social media to offer flash sale promotions
to draw in customer footfall and boost consumption. Chinese-style
refreshment stores are also entering malls, although some coffee,
lemon tea and noodle fast food brands have for now halted new
openings after a wave of expansion last year.

In luxury goods, Harry Winston and Jaeger-LeCoultre both opened
in The MixC Shenzhen Bay in Q4. Galerie Lafayette signed a
partnership contract with Upperhills, reportedly to open a 4,500
sq m store in 2022, demonstrating international brands’ high
expectation in the Shenzhen retail market. Indoor sports stores
including squash, skiing, and surfing operators are also seeking
space. We also witnessed some mall adjustments, with digital
electronics and domestic retail stores shifting to outer mall areas,
while on-brand tea drink brands moved to indoor areas to help
lead mall walking traffic direction.

Rent

By the end of Q4, the citywide average monthly rent climbed 4.1%
y-0-y to RMB852.13.

Market Trend

Shenzhen is expected to add a further 784,083 sq m of new
retail supply in 2022, of which 54.8% will be in the non-core
areas and 45.2% in the cores. However, construction delays
and fierce competition in the core submarkets may postpone
completions. Operators are now more confident on emerging
submarket projects, but consumption levels, retail environment and
professional operating skills remain as key factors for future retail
development. We can expect that rental growth will be constrained
by incoming new projects, while overall vacancy should remain
stable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 129 to 217, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders, consolidated
statement of cash flows and distribution statement and for the year
ended 31 December 2021, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial transactions and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEME

We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements, as

a whole, combined with the significant judgments
associated with determining the fair value.
ERREMEMESAREGRAMBRREBZEEN - N
LEEARBEYREANAE - BPIEEER AERE
=S

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s office buildings and a shopping
centre at Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), which are classified as investment properties
amounting to RMB6,746,000,000, representing
approximately 89% of the Group’s total assets, with

its change in fair value included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. During the year, an increase in fair value of
investment properties amounted to RMB81,507,000.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BAIERREMEHEZRF B

e  evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the Valuer;

AHEGERZER - BB RFEIE

e understanding the Valuer’s valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets in Shenzhen, the PRC, significant
assumptions adopted and key inputs used in the
valuations;
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e  evaluating whether the methodology and
assumptions used in the valuations are in line with
industry norms; and
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter (continued)

BRETSEE (F)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)
REWEMEE)

The Group’s investment properties are carried at

fair value based on the valuations performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”)
who adopted income capitalisation method to arrive at
the valuation of investment properties as at 31 December
2021. Details of the valuation techniques, significant
assumptions and key inputs, namely monthly term rental,
term vyield, reversionary yield and reversionary rental,
used in the valuations are disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited, the manager of
China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “Manager”) has
reviewed and exercised its judgment on the key inputs to
the valuations and result on valuations.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)
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e  assessing the reasonableness of key inputs used in
the valuations by (i) checking the details of monthly
term rental on a sample basis to the respective
underlying existing tenancy agreements; and (i)
comparing them to relevant market information
on rentals achieved, term yield, reversionary yield
and reversionary rental adopted in other similar
properties in the neighbourhood.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Other Information

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the deed of trust dated 15
November 2019, as amended from time to time (the “Trust Deed”)
and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. In addition,
we are required to assess whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Trust
Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the
REIT Code.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Manager.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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FER FRRREERES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT / J8 7 & BBl &

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT / J&~ #Z ST R4

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE AR ETRE (&
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Report on matters under the relevant provisions of the METTRZAYANBREBEIRETESTHIM
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of SCRERAM EME TEEWRE
Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been RFRE  SEEUBERRESEATEEEIR
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the RBEFZANMBEE REEE S SFRIM$%CHT
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure HEOMBBEERGE L ERE -

provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent B A ARB ZS AR ENETER S E A AR

auditor’s report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence. NEE o

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =) « BAEMR S E5HER{T
Certified Public Accountants BE AN

Hong Kong B

22 March 2022 202243 H22H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31ALLFE
2021 2020
20214 20204
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR®T ARETIT
Revenue WS 5 432,831 370,125
Property operating expenses MIEEERT 6 (112,527) (96,182)
Net property income e EnyE ] 320,304 273,943
Exchange gains Ve 7 W e 64,530 132,730
Other income, gains and losses EABA - Wz R E1E 7 11,444 11,038
Increase in fair value of investment WEMEN AR EE
properties =N 81,507 26,032
Manager’s fee EEAEHR 8 (18,934) (18,074)
Trust and other expenses SRt R HE M (13,034) (6,308)
Finance costs B KA 9 (59,252) (59,982)
Profit before tax and distribution to REF R FITA R L B AT
unitholders A AD KA 5 A 10 386,565 359,379
Income taxes P Hi 11 (118,864) (74,327)
Profit for the year, before distribution to Kt R ES Bfi#FA A DK
unitholders B 5 A 35 ) 267,701 285,052
Distribution to unitholders AESBNFEADIK (170,403) (162,667)
Profit for the year, after distribution to &t R E S BAFH A
unitholders D IREYEE A5 A 97,298 122,385
Total comprehensive income KEtREESBEAFAA
for the year, after transactions RGENFRNEHE
with unitholders Was4agE 97,298 122,385
RMBO0.24 RMBO0.25
Basic earnings per unit BESENERZT 12 ARK¥0.24t AR¥0.257T




CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

As at 31 December 2021
12021412 A31H

2021 2020
20214 20204F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T ARETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties wEME 13 6,746,000 6,644,000
Property, plant and equipment Y% - R NaktE 425 535
6,746,425 6,644,535
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E AR IE 14 10,171 8,859
Amounts due from related companies  FEUKEIESE A 71558 25 73,280 69,067
Structured deposits ERE TR 15 - 129,614
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR NS 15 734,089 355,320
817,540 562,760
Total assets BEEHAE 7,563,965 7,207,295
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E fh S FIE 16 105,926 83,417
Amounts due to related companies FE{TREESE A B FI8 25 15,528 18,834
Distribution payable e DR 136,392 142,073
Tax payable FERTHIR 15,172 10,490
Secured bank borrowings BB ITER 17 2,209,875 620
2,482,893 255,434
Non-current liabilities, excluding net ¥ RBEB(FEIEELEN
assets attributable to unitholders BEARLNEEZRE)
Secured bank borrowings BIIRRITER 17 - 2,011,934
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEAE 18 1,074,088 1,030,241
Total non-current liabilities, FRBESEE(TEEES
excluding net assets BNEEAEBLEERE)
attributable to unitholders 1,074,088 3,042,175
Total liabilities, excluding net BEAE(TEEESEN
assets attributable to unitholders BEEANEGREESRE) 3,556,981 3,297,609
Net assets attributable to HEBNEEAEM
unitholders EEZE 4,006,984 3,909,686
Number of units in issue ERTESENHE 19 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
RMB3.55 RMB3.47
Net asset value per unit BESBENNEETFE 20 AR¥3557c AR®3.477C

The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 217 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, as the
Manager of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (“China Merchants Commercial REIT”), on 22 March 2022
and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Jin
2
DIRECTOR
EF

F129FE F 217 B WEr & B R 1202243 A
HERERPEEREREEEES([BE
BRHYRETES ) NEBAEERENEER
RARIMESSHERBEETE - WHTIIA
TREEE

Yu Zhiliang
RER
DIRECTOR
EE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

FER FRRREERES

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE
Issued Other  Profits less
units reserve distribution Total
BRI
HEB W Hthf#E BRI @ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%Tx AR%Tx AR%Tx
(note 19)
(Hiz#19)
Net assets attributable to unitholders as 2019512 431 BE & &1
at 31 December 2019 HEARLEEFE 3,391,529 379,499 16,273 3,787,301
Profit for the year, before distribution to &t RE S EIFFE A
unitholders IR E AR = = 285,052 285,052
Distribution paid and payable B RER DR
~ Interim distribution paid — BN HSR - - (81,932) (81,932)
~ Final distribution payable —ERNERBSR - - (80,735) (80,735)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 M2 E K44 = - 122,385 122,385
Deemed contribution from a significant —&EEBESBRIIFEA
unitholder (note i) HRIEEE (Hit) = 61,338 - 61,338
Distribution commitment from a —ZEEESBNEFA
significant unitholder (note ) 09 kA GE (it = (61,338) = (61,338)
Net assets attributable to unitholders as 72020512 531 BE4 Efi
at 31 December 2020 BREANELEEFE 3,391,529 379,499 138,658 3,909,686
Profit for the year, before distribution to K&t RES BRIEFAA
unitholders D IKKE R R T = = 267,701 267,701
Distribution paid and payable Ef KRR DR
— Interim distribution paid — B HLIR - - (97,600) (97,600)
— Final distribution payable —ENERBSR - - (72,803) (72,803)
Total comprehensive income for the year & R2ERz 45 - - 97,298 97,298
Deemed contribution from a significant —&FBESBAEHAF A
unitholder (note i) RIARIETE (M) = 63,589 = 63,589
Distribution commitment from a —RIERSBAFEA
significant unitholder (note /) B> IRAGE (M) - (63,589) - (63,589)
Net assets attributable to unitholders as 72021412 531 BE4 B
at 31 December 2021 HEARIGEEFE 3,391,529 379,499 235,956 4,006,984
Note: Kzt -

(i) Pursuant to the Distribution Per Unit (‘DPU”) commitment deed as described (i)
in note iv of distribution statement, Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), a company with significant influence over China Merchants
Commercial REIT, shall make a cash payment to the DB Trustees (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Trustee”) for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT of
an amount equal to the shortfall multiplied by the number of units at the record
date. The cash to be received from Eureka for the distribution commitment is
considered as deemed contribution from a unitholder.

RFEDIRK VTR SES B DK ([FESEN
DI FEGERY - HRRRREEAESHEEAY
ENNnEREBEXARAR(RE)BRBEEME
EERESNFBABESER(FR)ERAR(Z

FEADEHBR S -

SRBENEZRRNANTCEAR

HHESEUHE - B0 IRAK B RhEZRRHNRE
BER—BESEMRHAANRIELE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31BIEFE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Profit before tax and distribution to Ret RBEEES BEUFEA
unitholders wapi: o)yl 386,565 359,379
Adjustments for: AT SIBIEL A%
Increase in fair value of investment FEMEN AR EELN
properties (81,507) (26,032)
Depreciation e 110 [
Interest income from structured deposits R E SRR F B WA (1,695) (235)
Interest income from bank deposits REBITIFREF S WA (8,563) (6,246)
Interest expenses FEMAZ 54,452 55,182
(Reversal of) provision for impairment losses  TEAI{E EEEER TREEE
under expected credit loss model (o) Bt (18) 213
Amortisation of loan front-end fee BB AT E A 4,800 4,800
Exchange gains B b e (64,530) (132,730)
Operating cash flow before movements LEECEFPINLCERENE
in working capital 289,614 254,408
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K H M FEGRIBIE AN (1,294) (8,324)
Increase in amounts due from related FEUL AR A B FRIBIE AN
companies (1,962) (1,523)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 RHEMERFIRGINCRD)
other payables 11,601 (644)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to FE{RBHSE A RIFRIE (R ) 350
related companies (3,306) 11,658
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIRE 294,653 255,575
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) paid BB ESHR ([ SEFREH]) (48,783) (44,895)
Withholding tax paid EATENS (10,776) (15,968)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETBRERTFE
ACTIVITIES 235,094 194,712
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Withdrawal of structured deposits TREVEB TR 129,514 63,400
Interest received BUHFE 10,258 6,481
Addition to investment properties NEIREYE (20,493) (8,968)
Placement of structured deposits GFERBIETR = (192,914)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB - WE NG - (821)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING #®&EEBFE(FR)RETE
ACTIVITIES 119,279 (132,322)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Distribution paid BEf5IK (239,497) (97,723)
Interest paid BEfFE (54,320) (54,973)
New bank borrowings raised TELPBITER 256,875 254,982
Contribution from a significant unitholder FEEVESHEANLE 61,338 -
Repayments to related companies MEER RIERK = (1,270,023)
Repayments of bank borrowings RITEFUER = (710)




R FER/ AERREERES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS / #R &R ®mER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREET T

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING @& EEfrE(FiR)Be S8

ACTIVITIES 24,396 (1,168,447)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HERBSEEYEMN

AND CASH EQUIVALENT (RS B8 378,769 (1,106,057)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNRERREEEY

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 355,320 1,461,377
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FXESRESZEY

END OF YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash BNERTTHE B MRS 734,089 355,320
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31BIEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Profit for the year, before distribution to Kt RELENEFEADIKN
unitholders FERER 267,701 285,052
Adjustments: T
Increase in fair value of investment LEMEN AR EELN
properties (81,507) (26,032)
Non-cash finance costs IR SR E LA 4,800 4,800
Exchange gains b 5 e (64,530) (132,730)
(Reversal of) provision for impairment losses A= EEEER TRE
under expected credit loss model 518 (B ) B s (18) 213
Depreciation e 110 77
Deferred tax EIEFLTR 43,847 47,253
Overprovision of withholding tax WA FETEIR S B R
in prior year - (15,966)
Total distributable income to A EELENEEADIRKY
unitholders (note (i) W ABEE (B () 170,403 162,667
Interim distribution, paid to unitholders Eﬁ%/\ EXVESFEPN:ol-t
(note (ii)) DI (HTE2 () 97,600 81,932
Final distribution, payable to unitholders fﬁ%A EXVESFEPN:D)-73
(note (ii)) IR (HTEE i) 72,803 80,735
Total distribution for the year FRADIRABER 170,403 162,667
Payout ratio pa s A= 100% 100%
Distribution per unit (“DPU”) BEESBENSIK
Proposed final distribution per unit i_p;xiﬁél’]t%i 5\ Fx 4%
to be paid DK
Before taking into account the effect of the 5t N7 RFEGE A ZRH] RMBO0.1511 RMBO0.1442
distribution commitment ARM¥0.1511t AK#0.14427T
After taking into account the effect of the SR D IRAEAE R 2% RMB0.2075 RMBO0.1986
distribution commitment (note iv) (H1a#iv) AR¥0.20757t AR¥0.19867T




Notes:

()

(i

(i)

(iv)

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income is profit for the
year, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate the effects of
Adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the relevant year. China Merchants Commercial REIT is required to distribute
to unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable income of each financial
period. The Manager’s policy is to distribute to the Unitholders an amount of
100% of annual total distributable income of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for each relevant period from 10 December 2019 (“Listing Date”) to 31
December 2022, and at least 90% of the total annual distributable income for
each financial year thereafter.

The interim distribution per unit of RMB0.0865 for the six months ended 30
June 2021 is calculated based on the interim distribution of RMB97,600,000 for
the period and 1,127,819,549 units in issue as at 30 June 2021.

The proposed final distribution per unit of RMB0.0646 (2020: RMB0.0716) for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is calculated based on the final distribution
to be paid to unitholders of RMB72,803,000 (2020: RMB80,735,000) for
the year and 1,127,819,549 (2020: 1,127,819,549) units in issue as at 31
December 2021.

FER FRRREERES

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT / 53 k5%

Hat -

(i)

(i)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

RIBEERY - AIDRBABIE AR RES BN
BADRKERNEF - WATELHERRSABRBEEE
e BEREMEERERN AR (FERETERZORN)
NEE - BEREEETESERESBENREAD
IR E S E S B EARE R D R 90% M Al DR IA - BIEA
MERRANESENEEADRBERBERTES
FE20195F12 8108 ([ L HEL ) Z2022612831H
FERA A1 00% FE Al D IRIM AR EE - MEERE
B R FEE DD IRFE A DRI ABERRI90% °

HE2021F6 A0 IEAEABES B A+ H
DIRARKEO0.0865 T HIREEH ARSI RARE
97,600,000 & £2021F6 A30H M B BT HE S B
1,127,819,549fE51 & °

HE221F12A B ILFEBESBUNERRZR
2k A R #0.0646 7T (20204 : A R¥0.07167T) T3
BEFAMNESEMFEAIMNHEEIRARE
72,803,000 7T (2020 4F : A K #80,735,0007T ) K& 7
2021412 A31 H B 817H91,127,819,5491@ (20204 :
1,127,819,54918) E& BAIFHE ©

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed entered into among, Eureka, China vy BEnE - BAREEETESEITAMII NS
Merchants Commercial REIT and the Trustee, Eureka has undertaken to make HEeBUHIRAERZLY  hRCARFICEEEES
a payment to the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT if BASIRKEREEARENF(E RS B RAER
the annualised provisional DPU is less than the annualised committed DPU for RAREAMEENR(ABEEREETEES ATHA)
the relevant periods as set out below: O

Annualised
Relevant period committed DPU
AAEA R FEESENDIREAR
Listing Date to 31 December 2019 T H#ZE2019F12831H HK$0.2360 per unit &£ #170.23607% 7T
12 months ending 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12A31H1E12{E A HK$0.2360 per unit & £ #170.23607 7T
12 months ending 31 December 2021 BZE20215F12A31H1E12fE A HK$0.2541 per unit & E & #470.2541% 7T
12 months ending 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31HIE12{E A HK$0.2614 per unit F £ B170.2614% 7T

The final DPU for the year ended 31 December 2021 after taking into account
the effect of the distribution commitment is HK$0.2541 (equivalent to
RMBO0.2075). All distributions are settled in Hong Kong dollars.

B RDRAEN BRI BEREES BN REE
202151231 B ILFE B0.25M BT (HERARE
0.20757t) ° Fi P IRiGAB TR ©



CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31BIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong Kong collective
investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”). China
Merchants Commercial REIT is governed by the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time
(the “Trust Deed”), entered into between China Merchants
Land Assets Management Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and
the Trustee, and the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong.

The principal activity of China Merchants Commercial REIT
is investment holding and its subsidiaries own and invest
in income-producing commercial properties in Shekou,
Shenzhen with the objective of producing stable and
sustainable distributions to unitholders and to achieve long
term growth in the net asset value per unit. The address of
the registered office of the Manager and the Trustee, are
Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
and Level 60, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road,
West Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

—IREH
HRARRERTES A ERIEREAD
FET1EREF MAE KA FE1041FERD
MNBEEERBEEE  EEASBENRES
AR SHERAR([EBBRAT])ER
Lt - BERREEAEEIEEREN
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F11 A15 BRI L AIEFER A (BEAEHER])
([EEEN ) RBBESFRPESEER
ZEgRMNEHEREETES S
([EFXESTR DFTEE -

HRARREETESNEEER BILER
B MENBARNEZER AHA RIT
Bl OmalkmAYE - BiZAR
EoBUFEARBREERENDIKKE
BEESCEMEEFAENRERIER - 12
ARZEAR GRS RIS B AT
T8 1682005 (= LR B AE
261226032606 E KB N AEfR - @&
150IRRE 5 EI5601E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

China Merchants Commercial REIT and the entities controlled
by it (collectively the “Group”) have entered into various
service agreements in relation to the management of China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its property operations. The
fee structures of these services are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Manager’s fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive:

(@)

on a semi-annual basis, a base fee of 10.0% per
annum of the base fee distributable income; and

on an annual basis, a variable fee of 25.0% per
annum of the difference in DPU in a financial year
compared to the preceding financial year, multiplied
by the weighted average number of units in issue
for such financial year (for the purpose of calculating
the variable fee only, the DPU shall be calculated
before accounting for the variable fee but after
accounting for the base fee distributable income for
the relevant financial year). No variable fee will be
payable for the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2022.

Trustee’s fees

China Merchants Commercial REIT pays the Trustee an
one-off acceptance fee of HK$180,000 upon Listing.
Regular trustee’s fee is calculated and paid semi-
annually as an ongoing fee of not more than 0.025% per
annum of the value of the investment properties (which
may be increased up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum
of the value of the investment properties) subject to a
minimum of RMB56,000 per month.

HEREEBEEAES MEEH

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

RER(E)

| =88 (5118

[A%E DEREHRREEAESNER
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° % EMR
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(i) BEEAEH
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Bt EM25.0%H 78 &/ (2
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Operations manager’s fees

Under the operations management agreement, China
Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.* (HBE®AGEER ORI BRAF) (the
“Operations Manager”) is entitled to receive from the
PRC subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(the “PRC Subsidiaries”): (i) an amount equivalent
to 5.0% of the monthly rental income of the PRC
Subsidiaries, payable on a monthly basis; and (i) an
amount equivalent to 2.5% of the PRC Subsidiaries
semi-annual capital expenditure for refurbishment and
renovation of the properties, payable on a semi-annual
basis.

Property manager’s fees

Under the property management agreements, Shenzhen
China Merchants Property Holding Management Co.,
Ltd.* (RYIHBEDEEREERAAF]) (the “Property
Manager”) is entitled to receive from the designated
account jointly maintained by the relevant PRC
Subsidiaries and the Property Manager: (a) with respect
to Garden City Shopping Centre, a fixed monthly fee of
RMB54,167 (approximate to RMB650,000 per annum);
and (b) with respect to the other properties, a monthly fee
equivalent to 12.0% of the sum of the fees and charges
(except air-conditioning charges and promotional fees)
and car parking fees they have collected.

*

The English names are for identification purpose only.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

Except as described below, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in IFRS Standards and the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (the
“IASB”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current year and prior period and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has
been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the
year. The Group will apply the practical expedient in relation
to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the
interest rate benchmark reform for Secured bank borrowings
measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as
required by IFRS 7 are set out in note 27.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

AR A AT R MY A

© 28 1B 15 K 4 20 Y 3 5T Bl B B A 3R
HEARIEET A

AERE EITF A T BB E R ARE
R ] BIRR B 15 S R R B RT AR

effective.

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-currents
Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?®

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract?
Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-20202

BB B s s 5 22 RBELHR
FATHR GEICHE
BB B 7 s s 22 TRABE S AESE?
FEITIBRTA
BB B 7 s s 22 BEE RS
FIOHLBER SR  OEXAGELE
AR ZE28USRT A ZHEMEENE
AR AL
B PR B T & 2 R 202146 A30H#%E
ERSACHEN Covid-19— &7
AE =R
ReFHERE1S RESIEREAR
Hiae
B S ERIE15R Kk St BEREES
B2 s ERIE S
R B2SRIEFTA
B e+ ERIZESSR  SRHhRTZERS

CHIES
BIFR & FT AR 1257

BRE—XRSAHM

(EHEN EEXEENAE
AR ER 188
B e ERIZE165 W% BEKL
(EEIEN SE BT AR
AT FT{S K182
BEHERIZEI7IR  EEEAL -
(EHEN JBHIRR A2
B PR B T 2 R 2018F £2020F
(EHEN BRSBTS 3RS

AR 2 F R RE?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

EE S

1202144 A1 A sk 2 1% Fta 2 & B AR
20221 A1 Bk 2 & Fth 2 FE BRI E R
202351 A1 A sk 2 1% Fth 2 & B AR
REFE B HAsk 2 18516 2 S AR 4K

FSEY SR SN



R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned
below, the Manager anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e gspecify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

i.  The classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liabilities within 12 months; and

i. If the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying IAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2021, the related terms and conditions stipulated
in the agreements between the Group and the relevant
lenders, the application of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
IAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned above, the
Manager anticipates that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include the relevant
provisions of the Trust Deed, the REIT Code and
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the HKSE.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a net current
liabilities of RMB1,665,353,000. In preparing the financial
statements, the Manager has given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and financial position of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain plans and
measures have been taken by the Manager to mitigate
the liquidity position of the Group and to improve the
financial position of the Group, and the plans and
measures are as follows.

The Group has planned to renew the existing available
banking facilities of RMB2,500,000,000, including term
loans for financing its investment properties.

The Manager are of opinion that, the Group is able to
meet the requirements listed under the draft of banking
facilities letter in financial, operational, legal and litigation
aspects. Therefore, the renewal of existing banking
facilities is just subject to the Group’s discretion.
Moreover, the Group has received quotations from
several other banks who have high interest in providing
banking facilities to the Group if the Group does not
renew the banking facilities with the existing bank.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of investment
properties of RMB6,746,000,000 which is above the total
amount of the banking facilities expected to be renewed
or obtained from other banks. In view of sufficient
headroom between the amount of banking facilities and
the fair value of investment properties, the Manager are
of the opinion that the renewal of existing available bank
facilities or obtaining banking facilities from other banks
are highly probable.

The Manager are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due within twelve months from
the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (representing structured
deposits), which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis. except
for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 16 Lease (“IFRS 16”), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”).

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

In addition, for the financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of China Merchants Commercial
REIT and the entities controlled by China Merchants
Commercial REIT. Control is achieved when China
Merchants Commercial REIT:

° has the power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

3.2

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a controlled entity begins when the
Group obtains control over the controlled entity and
ceases when the Group loses control of the controlled
entity. Specifically, income and expenses of controlled
entities acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains controls until the date when the Group
ceases to control the controlled entity.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

If control of the service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 4

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount to
which the Group has the right to invoice.

Property management services

The Group provides property management services
to the tenants of the properties. Since customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
when service provided, revenue from providing services
is recognised over time in the period in which the
services are rendered. As the Group acts as principal
and is primary responsible for providing the property
management services to the tenants, the Group
recognises the fee received or receivable from tenants as
its revenue.

Advertising income and air conditioning income are
recognised over time in the period in which the services
are rendered.
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R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs in relation to non-qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received. Such grants are presented under “other
income and gains and losses”.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. All of the Group’s
property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed when incurred.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other periods and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 4

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of measuring deferred for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. For
contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combination,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income (including rental income from office
buildings and a shopping centre) from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

When a lease contract contains a specific clause that
provides for rent reduction or suspension of rent in the
event that the underlying assets (or any part thereof)
are affected by adverse events beyond the control of
the Group and the lessee so as to render the underlying
assets unfit or not available for use, the relevant rent
reduction or suspension of rent resulting from the specific
clause is accounted for as part of the original lease
and not as a lease modification. Such rent reduction or
suspension of rent is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments to occur.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
The Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts
with customers” (“IFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date/settlement date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value.
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R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL (representing structured
deposits) are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned
on the financial assets and is included in the “other
income, gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, amounts due from related
companies and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease
receivables (including trade related amounts due from
related companies). The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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FEW BRRREETES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on bank balances has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (i) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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FEW BRRREETES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with IFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when the Group transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

3.2 EXEHBERE)
SHMTEE)

TREERMEE)

v TEHEEEBRZFERERE)
—RME - BREEERIRE
BRRNARBZMEAHNES
mEREASEBEMYE L IR
TREZFEHER - WIREIKE
REETE < BERFRRER - 5LHE
ERYEAEM S - AREEESR
EEBERNE R E BRIEEER
B REERFEI6HFAERE
FEUGRFTAMRE REEM—
B o

MEBWATIRE SR EE < fRmE
RETE  RIFSREERER
BRE  FLBERT - FSWA
AIRIE S B & B 2 #SH A AN AT

st
B o
=

AEERBARMESMTIAZ
REENBaTRRAZTERT
B ZRERE - 185 RYIEIR
BREIRRERERAERE -

RITHER TR EE
AEBEEEEMSRSRERN
BAENEmRN R EENRE
EFTBRERBAEB D E R & 2 ¥k
BETHMOEBRRILERSH
BE -

PRI B AR AE T E RS
BEER  BEREEES KL
FEU A (B 458 2 R =582
TR o



CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, China Merchants
Commercial REIT is required to distribute to unitholders
not less than 90% of its distributable income for each
financial period and has a limited life of 80 years less
one day from the date of its establishment. Therefore,
in addition to the contractual distribution to unitholders,
the units issued by China Merchants Commercial REIT
contain a contractual obligation upon its termination to
distribute a share of all net cash proceeds derived from
the sale or realisation of its assets less any liabilities to
its unitholders in accordance with their proportionate
interests in China Merchants Commercial REIT at the
date of its termination. Accordingly, the units issued
by China Merchants Commercial REIT are compound
instruments that contain both liability and equity
components.

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amount due to related companies, distribution payable
and secured bank borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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FEW BRRREETES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of it liabilities. Instruments, or components
of instruments, that impose on the China Merchants
Commercial REIT an obligation to deliver to the holders
a pro-rata share of the net assets only on liquidation are
presented as equity only when certain specific criteria
are met.

Unit issue costs are the transaction costs relating to initial
public offering and listing of units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT are accounted for as a deduction from
the proceeds raised to the extent they are incremental
costs directly attributable to the transaction that
otherwise would have been avoided. Other transaction
costs are recognised as an expense.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Manager is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Manager has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Manager has reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
tax on investment properties, the Manager has determined
that the presumption of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred tax
on changes in fair value of investment properties using EIT
rate at 25%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) to
perform the valuation. The Manager works closely with the
Valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The valuation report and findings would
be reported to the directors of Manager half yearly to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of
the reporting period based on the valuation performed by the
Valuer. In determining the fair value, the Valuer has based
on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates as
described in note 13.

Where the actual future market data varies, a material
adjustment on the fair values of investment properties may
arise. In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager has
exercised its judgment and is satisfied that the method of
valuation and the inputs to the model is reflective of the
current market conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

AR A AT R MY A

s K 73 EPE R

Revenue recognition W 25 FE 52

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT

Rental income from office buildings and & REEYFHLHESUA
a shopping centre 373,555 312,544
Management fee income EEEWA 39,831 35,254
Carpark income BAA 9,845 7,559
Others Hith 9,600 14,768

Revenue from contracts with BEREEEANREEFREYN
customers recognised over time € 59,276 57,581
432,831 370,125

The Group’s investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
payments for some contracts depend on shopping centre’s
turnover pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in
respective rental agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

The gross rental income from investment properties includes
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate of RMB1,314,000 (2020: RMB1,217,000) for the current
year.

The Group had minimum lease payment receivables on lease
of office buildings and a shopping centre are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARETT

Within 1 year 1FR 295,544 265,588
Between 1 and 2 years 1526 166,990 208,979
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 85,508 105,859
Between 3 and 4 years 3E44F 52,886 47,547
Between 4 and 5 years 455 26,610 28,896
Over 5 years 5FLA F 47,484 55,795
675,022 712,664

Others represent revenue from advertising income and air
conditioning income.

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 are for period of
one year or less, except for management fee income and
others which are provided for a period of one year or more.
For management fee income and others, the Group applied
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to recognise revenue in
the amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price of all these services allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at the end of each
reporting period is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31AILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Manager, being the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM?”), that are used to make strategic
decisions. The Group’s reportable segments are classified as
five investment properties, which are being individual office
buildings, namely New Times Plaza, Cyberport Building,
Technology Building and Technology Building 2, a shopping
centre namely Garden City Shopping Centre.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segment.

B

Wi & o ERE R (A

2 HPE R
AEEREHEEAMERIELERRK
ATEEEEREA ) EHILAAELR
BOREMRE - EEERKEDE - AEH
KERDMOBAAEREDE - 2R
BYRFRFERES BHBAE - &
BRARERBBRAE—H) AR —FmEYH O
(BITEREIR) ©

Pl L6 E 3
AT RRERD WO BN EEY R K E
BT -

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE20215F12831HLEEE
Garden
New City
Times Cyberport Technology Technology Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Centre Total
BMEAE
FRRES HEAE NEKE —H TR “@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR AR®Tr AR¥TR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue 7 EUEs 143,143 47,487 57,604 52,755 131,842 432,831
Segment results DEbEE 115,901 53,120 67,520 58,119 116,623 411,283
Exchange gains B 7 W 64,530
Other income Hig A 1,763
Manager’s fee EBANEM (18,934)
Trust and other expenses ERRkEMRS (13,034)
Finance costs EE N (59,043)
Profit before tax and R RBERES
distribution to unitholders  EfiFH ALK
HEF 386,565
Income taxes Biksois (118,864)
Profit for the year, before ~ FitRELEMNEH

distribution to unitholders A 2IRHEREFI 267,701
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HE2021F12A31AILFE
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WWERDIER (&
(continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued) DEUEE R EE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F 12831 B ILFE
Garden
New City
Times  Cyberport Technology Technology — Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Centre Total
B RE
FRAESZ  EBAE  BERE —H TEE @5t

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARET:R

Segment revenue AU 133,954 39,925 47,096 46,073 103,077 370,125
Segment results DEEE 109,162 32,624 39,323 37,164 92,636 310,909
Exchange gains B 73 W 132,730
Other income HAA 56
Manager's fee EEAER (18,074)
Trust and other expenses 5L R EM S (6,308)
Finance costs BERKA (59,934)
Profit before tax At RBERESEN

and distribution to BB ADRKKSEA

unitholders 359,379
Income taxes PiE=0 (74,327)
Profit for the year, RTRESBUEEA

before distributionto 2RI E R

unitholders

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3. Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by
each segment without allocation of exchange gains, certain
other income, Manager’s fee, certain trust and other expenses
and certain unallocated finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

285,052

E‘i&"ﬁBZA‘ﬁEﬁZ%EﬁiéﬁiW?SFﬁLZ}K%
g ;Hrﬂwﬁifﬁlﬂ o 53 BB 4 A HE FE I 55 e
ERH&Z : :FEWJHSU\ E.E%/\;%’FH °
AT EERAMALZARE FTEMRS
BMEKARZIE /RT%’“*W?%HXZM%RHU@
F o EAMEZEERRARERSE KR
FETARENEE -
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HZE2021F12A31AILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5. W@k EHER(E

(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities ITHEERARE
As at 31 December 2021 7202112831 H
Garden
New City
Times Technology Technology Shopping
Plaza Building  Building 2 Centre Total
MEAE
KBS MEAE -5 TR #@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETRE ARETR AR¥ETRT AR®TR
Segment assets DEVEE 2,244,391 967,463 1,165,638 1,745,494 7,246,605
Unallocated assets ROBEE 317,360
Consolidated total assets 47 A EE 7,563,965
Segment liabilities NEAE 350,015 165,580 215484 266,635 1,201,264
Unallocated liabilities KOEEE 2,355,717
Consolidated total liabilities 47 A& E & 3,556,981
As at 31 December 2020 202012 A31H
Garden
New City
Times Technology Technology ~ Shopping
Plaza Building  Building 2 Centre Total
BHERE
TERES BHERE —H TER Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Segment assets HEHEE 2,216,390 929,037 1,149,415 1,697,898 7,089,330
Unallocated assets RAOEREE 117,965
Consolidated total assets ~ 43A B EE 7,207,295
Segment liabilities aR= =L 333,456 158,572 201,257 248,324 1,130,943
Unallocated liabilities AP EE 2,166,666
Consolidated total liabilities 44 &8 & 3,297,609



FEW BRRREETES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources, all investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, trade receivables, certain other
receivables, certain amounts due from related companies,
structured deposits, certain bank balances and cash, trade
payables, certain other payables, certain amounts amount
due to related companies, tax payable, certain secured
bank borrowings and deferred tax liabilities are allocated to
operating segments. Other corporate assets and liabilities
(including certain other receivables, certain amounts due from
related companies, certain bank balances and cash, certain
other payables, certain amounts due to related companies,
distribution payable and certain secured bank borrowings) are
unallocated.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

Wz & 0 BRE R (A2

THEEREEE)

REENBRARDEER - IEREY
X Y% BELRE  BHRKFUR
£ T H AR “?@&Fﬂ'ﬂﬂﬁ%’&ﬂ*ﬁ
A %%'Iﬂﬁﬁ ETRTESRERS
BIRENFR - ETEMENRIE FT
R BB A RIZUE - BB - BT A
T%ETT%?X&M?@%IEE1%’73‘@535‘“ )
B ﬁfﬁm%ﬁé&%%(@%ﬁ?ﬁl@%
WoR - & TRKEEB ARSIA - BTR
THEHBLAS  ETHEMENRIE ET
Fgﬁﬁﬁ%’ﬁﬁ A BNDIREETAEE
#ﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ*”)ﬂi DEC °

Hitb 7 ZE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12831HLLEE

Garden

New City

Times Cyberport Technology Technology Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Centre Total

BEAE

FRREEZ  HBAE  REXE —H EE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARMTR

ARBTR ARMTR ARBTRT AR®T:R

Addition to investment REREME

properties 1,793 7,453

Increase in fair valug of  REAWER AL BELH

investment properties 10,207 15,547

Depreciation e -

4,060 7,187 20,493

20,000 14,940 20,813 81,507
- - 110 110
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AR A AT R MY A

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &R oOIER (&

(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Hibh &R (Z)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12 A31H ILFfE
Garden
New City
Times  Cyberport Technology Technology  Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Centre Total
BRAE
TRAES BEAE RIRAE = TEE st
RMB’'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETE ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT
Addition to investment  FEREAME
properties 1,144 169 = = 7,655 8,968
Addition to property, plant REYE - KR R R1E
and equipment - - - - 321 321
Increase in fair value of BRMEN AR BEL
investment properties 2,856 2,831 = = 20,345 26,032
Depreciation e - - - - 77 77
Geographical information Ith 3B & %)

AEEN A YRR BN ENER
REPF - MAKRENIERBEEDURF

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities and
customers located in the PRC and the Group’s non-current

assets are all located in the PRC. °
Information about major customers EBEFTERZFMNER

HZE2021F12A3THIEFEE » WEA
R % 106,585,000 7T (2020 & : A R #&
96,997,000 0) SR E I AR - ZEAR A
HBERsEaRAR([BERERET

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of
RMB106,585,000 (2020: RMB96,997,000) was derived from
the related companies which are group of companies under
China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG”).

K)—#A7] °

6. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 6. YIERKLZEFREX
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Advertising and promotion EEREE 4,813 4,133
Agency fee REE 376 365
Property management expenses YMHEEE 55,480 48,787
Operations manager’s fee LEEEARNEMA 19,092 15,612
Other taxes HAnFHIE 30,746 23,831
Others Hib 2,020 3,454
112,527 96,182
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OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

HAbA ~ W K &51E

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Interest income from bank deposits R BFITERFEUA 8,563 6,246
Interest income from structured deposits 3R B 45 f#E1EF BRI B WA 1,695 235
Compensation income (note) wmEWA M Z) 1,081 3,312
Government subsidy TR AT #e G - 1,338
Others HAh, 105 (93)
11,444 11,038

Note: Compensation income represented compensation income from
termination of lease contracts.

MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive
10% per annum of the base fee distribution income for the
year ended 31 December 2021 as remuneration. Base fee
distributable income is the amount of the total distributable
income to unitholders calculated before accounting for the
Manager’s fee payable for the year.

Bt - AR ARER EAEAOFHERA -

EEAEH

BIBEFERL) - HE20215F12A31H IE4F
B BEAGESFRREAERAHEHS
IRRAK10%IEEIE - EASE AR D
IRWA Bt AFAENEIEABRARTE
WAIRES BN A AR A LSS -

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREETTT
Manager’s fee: BEAEBR :
In the form of cash LAIR & S 15 18,934 18,074

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to receive the
Manager’s fee in the form of cash or entirely or partly in the
form of units. If no election is made, the most recent valid
election made by the Manager in a prior calendar year (if any)
shall apply and, if there is no such prior calendar year election
by the Manager, the Manager’s fee shall be paid in cash. The
Manager’s fee is 100% in the form of cash for the both years.

EEAZEEHRBEEREARE SN
L2 EAE D AEES BL T AWIEEA
A - mMAMELEE  RIEEARBERE
FB) RN RIHE IR E/ER
MEERARBEBFL BIEHARME
2 AEBRAEBRABUREXN - KA
FEEBABRAHZBAR S AN -
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EHZE2021F12A31HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. RIERA
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEFRAIF 2L 54,452 55,182
Amortisation of upfront payments B SHATHA 3R 4,800 4,800
59,252 59,982

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND DISTRIBUTION 10. R RBIERESEMIZEA

TO UNITHOLDERS pap)id: OpsEil
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Profit before tax and distribution to ReTRBIERES BT A
unitholders has been arrived at after IRED R B TS H0BR (BT A
charging (crediting): AT B IR ER -
Auditors’ remuneration ZE NS 3,707 2,400
Depreciation e 110 7
Trustee’s remuneration ZFEAE 1,322 1,322
Principal valuer’s fee 1A fhERME A 82 171
Bank charges RITFEE 23 293
Interest income from bank deposits SRITIFFRF BHA (8,563) (6,240)

Interest income from structured deposits #5117 2k F 2 U A (1,695) (235)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

EHZE2021F12A31HILFE
11. INCOME TAXES 11. FriSHi
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Current tax BIERT I8
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) AR B ZERATIS AL ([ 2R B %L
Current year KEE 53,559 42,297
(Over) underprovision in prior years BEFE(GBRR) T2 BE (94) 743
Withholding tax BRI
Current year KEE 21,552 -
Overprovision in prior years BEFETREE = (15,966)
Deferred tax (note 18) EERE (M 5E18) 43,847 47,253
118,864 74,327

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong

in both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in

the BVI.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%

for the current year and prior period.

Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 18.

BfE -

BB

B EE25% -

AR AEERMEFEERB L EEAG
FHERBUER] - A BB BN FHIEH

RELABRIHE((RBEZEHE OH
AR AR B - ANER B8 7B 0 A (] B2 B8 B 2L

RIBFEARAMBERAFBOE([ 3
FREHE) REERASTUERERAR -
B B8 X AR AN B K@ 1 HATR M A TE Y

EFER AR BRI HTEE8
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HZE2021F12A31AILFE

11.

12.

INCOME TAXES (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax and distribution to unitholders as follows:

11. Fr5%

UFEAD

ISR M T

Bi(#&)

REEEHMATERGTRRERESEE
KA R A BRI

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Profit before tax and distribution to EEH'}SURIE&%A BAEFAA
unitholders 7 IRE 8 A 386,565 359,379
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of BB NS ER25%T H A I8
25% 96,641 89,845
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax FLETERIE « BAFRA Z
purpose Mgz E (16,769) (33,668)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  FhetEFE Z Ne[EI 2 B 2
tax purpose Hig 2 22,766 21,289
Deferred tax on earnings of Group’s PRC  ZRE& B R F BB A 7 B FHY
subsidiaries IR TE 16,063 12,074
(Over)underprovision in respect of prior  BFFE (B5E) B &
years (94) 743
Overprovision in respect of withholding tax i@1F 4 & Ta 0T iR 2B B 5
in prior years = (15,966)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 1B A alA Efth Bl AR KA H)
operating in other jurisdictions TEE & 3 10
Others EHAh 254 -
Income tax expense for the year Hh F RS FHAY 118,864 74,327
BASIC EARNINGS PER UNIT 12. BESENEREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per unit before Rt RESBEUREADKNEESE

distribution to unitholders is based on the profit for the year,
before distribution to unitholders of RMB267,701,000 (2020:
RMB285,052,000) with the weighted average number of units
of 1,127,819,549 (2020: 1,127,819,549) in issue during the
year.

There were no dilutive potential units during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, therefore the
diluted earnings per unit has not been presented.

MEARBRFDBRERGTRESEMRFAR
A9k B9 s A1 A R 6 267,701,000 7T
(20204 : AR#285,052,0007T ) K A
B 1T 1,127,819,549 {/ ( 2020 F

1,127,819,5491# ) E & B i iN#E F 19 EX 5T
=

R E 22021412 A31 B &2020%F 12 A
1R EFEREBEEERESEN - ALt
WEZH|GESBEMEERT) -
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HZE2021F12831HILFEE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REWZ
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
FAIR VALUE NiREE

At the beginning of the year £ 6,644,000 6,609,000
Additions during the year FRRE 20,493 8,968

Fair value changes on investment KREMENANRBEED
properties 81,507 26,032
At the end of the year FR 6,746,000 6,644,000

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping centre are
investment properties which are located in Shenzhen, the
PRC and are measured using the fair value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020 by Cushman & Wakefield Limited
(the “Valuer”). The Valuer has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach — income capitalisation
method to arrive the valuation of investment properties as at
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

The income capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer has
taken into account the net rental income of a property derived
from its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which has been then capitalised to
determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

AEENRFEMBYHOAREYE
IR BRI - WA R BERAE -

BRI 2021512 A31 H 2020412
A31BHBERITHR AR ([{HE])#E
1TEf o HEMEE KRB 2L E B LY
EHITHEZABEEARREER -

2021412 531 H K%2020412 A31H -
fHERMRABRATE — Was & A LEPUER
WEYHEGE -

HEMRANBREAMOEEFRERE
A PFER K, HRBE TSP ARG
MERSWAFRE - TERBEZEREW
NENELEERE - BRZASRAF
BIRABEMEREMUNEERAEE -
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HZE2021F12A31AILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are

categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

13. REM= (&
AL EE=R -

TRERNAUETZSRENENAA(E
BOLE R A e A ER R ARR)
AR URREBEAABEENRAR
BRRBREEE AR BEFEETIR

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

MAREBESR(E-RHIES=HH) -

Valuation
Investment properties held by & Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position  higrarchy 0215 2020F  and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REERNGREBMAR  AAEE RMB'000 RMB'O00  fhERMTREE unobservable input(s) MERS e
REhRENZ £ ARETR ARBTT HAHE BN MBRRALE DM EENEE
Property 1 - shopping mallin ~ Level 3 1,615,000 1,587,000  2021: Income
Shekou, Shenzhen =7 capitalisation method
e RSy lEodaliy 20015 : WAA(E
B
The key inputs are
BREAZER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) $HEHE generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
shopping mall of 6.00% (2020: 6.00%)

TR (A R R R TA TR
Riva IR E R REDEAEAR
BB LR R E) £6.00% (20206 -
6.00%) «

(2) Reversionary yield
P EREEE

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 6.50% (2020: 6.50%).

REORE (R BN ENATIEE
Rivs TR EF R REEGARAR
BEARESBBNER)R6.50%(2020% -
6.50%) °

EHnExEs - LrERE
i

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value.

REOH%ES  ArEE
B -
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HE2021F12A31AILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. BREWHE(E)
Valuation
Investment properties held by e Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position - hierarchy 2021E 20006 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REENGARBIAR  DABE RMB'000  RMB'OO0  fAfEIITRES unobservable input(s) IGEECIN ¢
RRNRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT SAEE EXTIEEG YR MEENEE
(3) Monthly term rental ~ N/A N/A
(3 Afg oyl AR
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
() fERe of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) and market average rental  value.
from comparable properties and adjustments  EEEREHS - AL EE
to reflect the conditions and locations of the HEo
shopping mall of RMB215/sq.m./month
(2020: RMB209/s0.m./month).
BE8S CREMEE R (M) 3l T
SRALENEN TS TR VTR
BEMRORA RIS BARE15T/ T
K/ B(000E - ARB29T/FhR/
R)e
Property 2 - office bullding i~ Level 3 888,000 868,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen F=3 method
ME4- TR P8 YRz
578
The key inputs are
BlEAIER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) EHEEx generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, of 4.50% (2020: 4.50%).

EHERE (S RANBNENTATHE
BRmA TS EL HEREGHREN
REEFERRRIE) Ad.50% (2020 :
4.50%) °

FHoEEER  DAER
i
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HZE2021F12A31AILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. REMX (&

Valuation
Investment properties held by e Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position  hierarchy 01 2000F  and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REERNGARBIAR  DREE RMB'000  RMBOO0  fRERRES unobservable inputls) AERBAEE
RRMRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT &AZE BN BERARE A EENERE

(2) Reversionary yield
() EEEEE

(3) Monthly term rental
(3 A

(4) Reversionary rental

() E5HEe

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2020: 5.00%).

REORE (S RABNFHTATIER
R TR E HERETARENIR
BERRESEBNER) £6.00%(20205
5,00%) °

NA
O

Reversionary rental is derived from the average

of the rental as stated in the new rental
agreements (note b) and market average
rental from comparable properties and
adjustments to reflect the conditions and

locations of the office buildings of RMB115/
sg.m./month (2020: RMB112/sq.m./month).

ik CEpiEyEURE Rs=!
i G Lk R S e
HREZERA NS BARE5T/F
ok / B(2020F : \RE12T/Fh%/
A)e

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EEEREHE - ArEE
#fE. -

NA
Ol

The higher the reversionary
rental, the higher the fair
value.

Higds DrEEE

=
e
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(2) Reversionary yield
() BEERE

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, of 4.50% (2020: 4.50%).

EHERE (SR BNENTATHE
BRmA TR AL HEREGHREN
REEFERRRIE) Ad.50% (2020 :
4.50%) °

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2020: 5.00%).

BEORE (SR BNFOTATHER
R TR E N RETARENIR

BERKALEENER)E5.00%(2020F :

5.00%) «

HE2021F12A31AILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE (&
Valuation
Investment properties held by [bE Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position - hierarchy 2021E 20006 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REERNGARBHAR  DAEE RMB'000  RMBOO0  fRERREs unobservable inputfs) AERBABEE
RRNRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT SAEE EXTIEEG YR MEENEE
Property 3 - office bullding i~ Level 1,065,000 1,042,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen F=3 method
IRyl oAal:) Y ER(bE
578
The key inputs are
BlEAIER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) FHEEE generated by market average seling the lower the fai value

FHoEEER  DAEE
i

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value.

BEOREHS - ArEE
A -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. WEMX (&

Valuation
Investment properties held by e Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position  hierarchy 01 2000F  and key input(s) Significant to fair value
AEERGABTIAR  AAEE RMB'000 RMB'O00  fhfERfIRESR unobservable input(s) MIERG Y S
RRMRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT &AZE BN BERARE A EENERE
(3) Monthly term rental ~ N/A N/A
(3 A& i i
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
() 7HRE of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) and market average value.
rental from comparable properties and EEfiens  NhEEY
adjustments to reflect the conditions and 5o
locations of the office buildings of RMB125/
sq.m/month (2020: RMB122/sq.m./month).
{5 S (R AR & e (M) 5 T4
SRABNFETA TR RS
REETERR RS BARK 1257/ F
K/ B0k - ARE122m/ TRk
A)e
Property 4 - office bullding i~ Level 3 1,101,000 1,082,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen EEH method
ME4-TRYIE Pg W&tk

B8

The key inputs are

EREAZES
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HE2021F12A31AILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE(EZ
Valuation

Investment properties held by e Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position - hierarchy 2021E 20006 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REENGARBIAR  DABE RMB'000  RMB'OO0  fAfEIITRES unobservable input(s) IGEECIN ¢
RRNRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT SAEE EXTIEEG YR MEENEE

(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,

(1) EHEgx generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

(2) Reversionary yield
() fEERE

(3) Monthly term rental
(3 A

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the office buildings
and locations of 4.50% (2020: 4.50%).

EHTRE (M R BNFNTRTIE
BRmA TS EL HEREGAHREN
REMEFERRRIE) Ad.50% (2020 :
4.50%) «

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2020: 5.00%).

EETRE(E: RS TIER
R TR E MO RETARENIR
RERKESAENER)A5.00%(2020%
5.00%) ©

NA
AER

FHoEEEE  DAEE
iR

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EEOR%ES -
G

DARE

NA
e
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE(EZ
Valuation
Investment properties held by & Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position  hierarchy 01 2000F  and key input(s) Significant to fair value
AEERGABTIAR  AAEE RMB'000 RMB'O00  fhfERfIRESR unobservable input(s) MIERG Y S
RRMRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT &AZE BN BERARE MEENEE
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
() fHRE of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) and market average value.
rental from comparable properties and EEfeds  NhEEY
adjustments to reflect the conditions and 5o
locations of the office buildings of RMB123/
sq.m./month (2020: RMB112/sq.m./month).
BERS CREMEE R (M) M3l T
SRAEME NS TR TERE
REBTERR RS BARK 1237/ F
K/ B(200E - ARE2T/ TR/
A)e
Property 5 - office bullding i~ Level 3 2,077,000 2,065,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen F=03 method
MES- AL P8 W&tk
578
The key inputs are
BiEaAER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
() FHEGE generated by market average seling the lower the fair value
price and the market average rental fom ~ £EREHS - AHE(E
comparable properties and adjustment to i)

reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, 4.00% (2020: 4.00%).

EHORE (G RAUBIENTETIE
ERTH TS ELHRRE AL
RBETRI0R R 5) R4.00% (20205 :
400%) °
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HE2021F12A31AILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE(EZ
Valuation
Investment properties held by e Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value 2021 2020 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position - hierarchy 2021E 20006 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REENGARBIAR  DABE RMB'000  RMB'OO0  fAfEIITRES unobservable input(s) IGEECIN ¢
RRNRENR 20 ARETR ARBTT SAEE EXTIEEG YR MEENEE
(2) Reversionary yield ~ Reversionary yield, taking into account of The higher the reversionary
() EEEEE yield generated by market average seling yield, the lower the fair
price and the market average rental from value.
comparable properties and adjustmentto  EREHEHS A1 EE
reflect the risk associated with the future HfE o
rental, of 4.50% (2020: 4.50%).
REORE (S RABNFHMATIER
R TR E MR RETARENIR
BERRESEBNER)A4.50%(20205 -
4.50%) «
(3) Monthly term rental ~ N/A N/A
o AEs TER TER
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
[ EERe of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) and market average rental  value.
from comparable properties and adjustments  EERLHE - A% Ef#H
to reflect the conditions and locations of the 5o
office buildings of RMB174/sq.m./month
(2020: RMB169/s0.m./month).
BEHS CREMEE R (M) H3len T
SRABRFHTA TR S RN
REBTERA RIS BARK 147/ T
i/ B(2000F - ARB169T/FAR/
R)e
Notes: Haz -

() Existing rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including
renewal agreements, which are signed before the end of the year.

(b)  New rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including renewal
agreements, which are to be signed or negotiated after the end of the

year.

@ REBEHEEEBEFRAMNFTNEE DD

RE R -

b FEEBEREFRREITIEHENEER

BNEERE -
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AR A AT R MY A

4. B 5 R EAMEWRIR

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 2,982 1,654
Deferred rent receivable JEMGEIE & 6,979 7,205
Other receivables H b e IR 210 -
10,171 8,859

Trade receivables represent lease receivables. Lease
receivables under rental of office buildings and a shopping
centre are generally required to be settled by tenants within
30 days upon issuance of demand note.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the date of demand note:

BIREFIREHERKFIR - BFER
BYh OHEENHERKR—RAKEERE
REEHEI0HABBELEE °

AT ARIBERERH2IINE S RUGK
TEHIBRER DT

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Within 1 month 1E AR 1,438 304
More than 1 month but within 3 months #8818 B8 A3(E A A 1,229 165
Over 3 months EBiE31E A 315 1,185
2,982 1,654

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are
customers with aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,544,000
(2020: RMB1,350,000) which are aged over 30 days and past
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss. Before accepting any new
customers, the Group assessed the credit quality of trade and
other receivables based on historical default rates and the
repayment records and considered adequate allowance has
been made at the end of the reporting period.

ANEEZE SRR ELAHBEERDAE
A R ¥ 1,544,000 7t (2020 & : A R #&
1,350,0007T) 2 BFEFIH « ZFRIARNR
FRA30H B s B E H i AR 0 e -
AEE KL EHRERBIBREE - NENT
AFEEZA  AEEREBATENRER
BRI E S R EMERFENEE
Bx  TRBRRESHARCHE R /8 -
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15.BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 15 881748 RESLUREEMT

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS £
Bank balances carry interest at market rates of 0.01% to RITEBIEN F0.01% E1.73% T 5 E
1.73% per annum (2020: 0.01% to 2.03% per annum). T == (20204F : 0.01% & 2.03% H) 5 Fl| =& )
FTE e
Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following SRITEBRRIRE TIA T EEHE
currencies:
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARETFT
RMB ARE 688,546 429,729
Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$”) sr([#x)) 45,536 55,105
United States Dollar (“USD”) E(Erx)) 7 -
734,089 484,834
Structured deposits represent products issued by banks in the EREEFETRERPEZIERTRITHE
PRC which pay interest rates that has an inverse relationship o BRI RE TSR R R o 3%
to the market interest rate. These structured deposits do LEBUERIT I EFEAREAES NS KR
not meet the solely payments of principal and interest on the HMAEBEALSAE  WMOoBEAEEALEBE
principal amounts outstanding and therefore are classified as SABENEHEE - BEGEERERD
financial assets at FVTPL. Details of fair value measurement of AR BEFEZ BN E27 -

the structured deposits are set out in note 27.
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16. &5 R HMENFIE
2021 2020
202145 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Trade payables B S RIE 3,836 537
Other taxes payables HibpETiIa 12,554 1,687
Rental receipt in advance AW S 3,796 8,351
Receipt on behalf of tenants (note) REBPUGR(HTE) 9,038 10,078
Rental deposit received from tenants HEFPWEWESES 62,067 54,661
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R M EREIR 14,635 8,203
102,090 82,880
105,926 83,417
Note: Bzt -
The Group collected the turnover of tenants, who operate food and beverage ANEBRRXEAPLAE YR OUELER G LR TR
business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them and is obligated to remit to TP EEE - WEGLEAMMBEER -
them every half month.
The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges HrER A AN E B H A= EEN F30290
from 30 to 90 days. The following is an ageing analysis of B TXEHINES2RPRIEEZAHE
trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the 5|2 B S ENTIBERR DT -
end of each reporting period:
2021 2020
20216 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE  ARETR
Within 1 month 1@ AR 2,458 159
More than 1 month but within 3 months 838118 B{ERA3E A K 1,128 -
Over 3 months HBiE31E A 250 378

3,836 537
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HE2021F12A31AILFE

17. BIRFRITER

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Secured bank borrowings BERRITER 2,214,475 2,021,954
Front-end fee RIERE M (4,600) (9,400)
2,209,875 2,012,554

The maturity of the secured bank borrowings are as follows:

BHEMRRITEFOIHAMT

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Within one year 1FR 2,209,875 620
More than one year but not exceeding HBiE1FE - BN EBRE2E

two years - 2,011,934

2,209,875 2,012,654

As at 31 December 2021, secured banking borrowings
with a total amount of RMB2,101,478,000 (2020:
RMB1,905,484,000) bear interests at fixed rates of 1.20% to
4.50% per annum (2020: fixed rates of 2.18% to 4.50% per
annum). The remaining amount of secured bank borrowing of
RMB112,997,000 (2020: RMB116,470,000) bears interest at
Hong Kong Inter bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 0.9% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2021, all secured bank borrowings will
mature in December 2022 and are classified as current
liabilities.

As security for the term loans granted to the Group,
investment properties with an aggregate fair value of
RMB5,858,000,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB5,776,000,000) together with the assignments of sales
proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental income, revenue and
all other income generated from these properties have been
pledged to the bank.

R2021F 128318 - HEFRITIEEEE
AR#2101,478,0007T (20204F : AR
1,905,484,0007T ) ¥9 12 [ & 4 #1| & 1.20 [F
£ 4.50[E (20204 : 1Z[E EFF|E2.18F
F450E)FME - 8 N2 HEMRITERE
28 A R #112,997,0007T (20204 : A RH#E
116,470,0007T ) 12 BB RITRI EHF EINF
FIR0.9EFE ©

R2021FE12 A31H » BB BEMIRITE
FEF2022F12 BRI - W EARESE

& o

ERRASEBERE N THERNER -
R2021 E12 AT B AR BEAHEAR
& 5,858,000,000 T ( 2020 & : A R #&
5,776,000,0007T ) K5 & ¥ % 32 [F 35 & BT
S308 ~ REREE - S WA RIS
EERRERFTE A MR 2 8= E T
FER1T ©
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18. DEFERRED TAX 18. IEFERIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MRNEE B RES M S - EEFIIE
of financial position, the deferred tax assets and liabilities have BELKBEDER - LLNARSFREER
been offset. The following is the major deferred tax liabilities RNEBRIEHBEEE(BE) M EEF)

(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the
reporting period:

Withholding
tax on
retained Provision for ~ Change in
Accelerated earnings expected fair value of

tax to be credit investment
depreciation  distributed losses  properties Total

BT AR REME

mERE  REEFN RHEE AREE
e stk EiERE 25 #@st

RVB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARRTR ARETRL

At 31 December 2019 120195124318 164,236 9,478 274 809,548 982,988
Charged (credited) to BERAMRGIA)

profit or loss 28,724 12,074 (53) 6,508 47,253
At 31 December 2020 120205124318 192,960 21,652 (327) 816,056 1,030,241
Charged to profit or loss EE&EMR 28,724 16,063 235 20,377 65,399
Release upon distribution of ~ RDIREFIE R

gamings (note 11) (Hit11) - (21,552) - - (21,552)
At 31 December 2021 2021512 H31H 221,684 16,063 (92) 836,433 1,074,088
The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be levied on RN EAEREEThEE R A EEE
distribution of profits earned by PRC entities for profits Ro¥sErEEE A BE MK R
generated after 1 January 2008 at rate of 5% for Hong SR AEEBTMR IR ETATEERD
Kong resident companies, or at rate of 10% for companies oo ph 2 (RN ED AN B BB 25 TEA A)
incorporated in the BVI or Hong Kong that do not fulfil the PRo0084E1 B 1 B FFE £ MR AT IR
requirement as a Hong Kong resident company, which are BB TER - TR DRI A5%%10% °
the beneficial owners of the dividend received. Deferred tax is 0214128318 » Sk DIEFE &t
provided in full in respect of the undistributed earnings as at IR R TE RS o

31 December 2021.



19.

20.

21

22.

FER FRRREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

ISSUED UNITS

Movements of units in issue are as below:

e,

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

ERITESEM
ERTESERORHMT -

Number
of units RMB’000
BNEE AR¥T T
Units issued for acquisition of subsidiaries 7 i B HARt U EE M B A =]
on Listing Date BITHEAS BN 377,819,549 1,162,025
Units issued for initial offering on Listing  #tH 1 B HI & K3 E381T
Date ME S EA 750,000,000 2,305,934
Units issue cost A BN BITHA - (76,430)
Balance at 31 December 2020 and 31 420205128318 &
December 2021 202112531 H &gk 1,127,819,549 3,391,529

Upon the completion of the acquisition of Frontier Shekou,
China Merchants Commercial REIT issued 377,819,549 units
and made cash payment to Jumbo Pacific Holdings Limited
(“dJumbo Pacific”) in exchange for all of the issued shares of
Frontier Shekou on Listing Date.

On Listing Date, China Merchants Commercial REIT issued
750,000,000 units at HK$3.42 per unit, amounting to
RMB2,305,934,000.

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the
net assets attributable to unitholders as at 31 December
2021 of RMB4,006,984,000 (2020: RMB3,909,686,000)
by the number of units in issue of 1,127,819,549 (2020:
1,127,819,549) units as at 31 December 2021.

.NET CURRENT LIABILITIES/ASSETS

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current liabilities,
calculated as current assets less current liabilities, amounted
to RMB1,665,353,000 (2020: net current assets of
RMB307,326,000).

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets less
current liabilities amounted to RMB5,081,072,000 (2020:
RMB6,951,861,000).

20.

21.

22.

A 52 A U B Frontier Shekou% » BB
¥EAE LM L™ A # M Jumbo Pacific
Holdings Limited ([ Jumbo Pacific |) 217
377,819,5491EX & B8 RIEH RSN -
LAZZ#aFrontier ShekouZ 262 381 TRZD °

RETMBH  BEREEERIECERE
B E & B (13.4278 7T 17750,000,0001E
S BN A ARK2305,934,0007T °

BEEEVHNEEFE

FESEMMEEFEIIENR2021F12
ANEECBENFEBEARBGEEEFEA
R ¥ 4,006,984,000 7 (2020 4F = A R#&
3,909,686,000 7T ) B& LA 722021 £ 12 A 31

H & 2 17891,127,819,549 1@ ( 2020 4 :
1,127,819,5491# ) & BT H -

mEas EEFE
R2021F12H318 » AEBR RSB EF
BUZRBEERASDEETE) BARK

1,665,353,0007T (20204 : B & EFE
AR #307,326,0007T) °

BEABERREBAE

R20216F12 8318 » "EBREELER
mENAE A ARKS5,081,072,0007T (2020
F : AR¥6,951,861,0007T) °
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23. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND 23 & ZBELAWEBRIEES

RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM EREER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amounts
due to Interest
related payable
companies Secured (included in
(non-trade  Distribution bank other
nature) payable borrowings payables) Total
FEf
YN FEAFIE
MIE(E BHEH (FTAHA
E5M1HE) B2k BITER FEfFRE) #@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31H 1,270,406 14,371 1,887,632 2,178 3,174,587
Financing cash flows BMERENE (1,270,023) (97,723) 254,272 (54,973)  (1,168,447)
Distrioution declared EERAIK - 224,005 - - 224,005
Amortisation of upfront B RER AT
payments - - 4,800 - 4,800
Interest expenses FEF% - - = 55,182 55,182
Exchange difference fE X Z3E - 1,420 (134,150) - (132,730)
At 31 December 2020 2020128318 383 142,073 2,012,554 2,387 2,157,397
Financing cash flows RERSNE - (239,497) 256,875 (54,320) (36,942)
Distribution declared BEERAIK = 233,992 = = 233,992
Amortisation of upfront BEATEAR
payments - - 4,800 - 4,800
Interest expenses R - - - 54,452 54,452
Exchange difference ERESR - (176) (64,354) - (64,530)
At 31 December 2021 2021612 A31H 383 136,392 2,209,875 2,519 2,349,169
24. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 24. BAENE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Capital expenditure in respect of BRI AEmARRERE B HREA
the improvement works of investment FHEA IR E MR NE TIEN
properties contracted for but not provided BRI
in the consolidated financial statements 46,950 15,209
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25.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 25 BEATKREBEELERS
TRANSACTIONS

During the current year and prior period, the Group entered REENMBAERBA  NEEHEREEAL
into the following transactions with connected and related KR ET NS
parties:
2021 2020
20215 20204
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL EEES BB Hiet ARET T AREFTT
Rental income HE WA
Shekou TV (“Shekou TV”) wOERA((EASERE]) (a & (c)
@kc) - 54
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. BERTRH AR AT
(“CM Bank”) ([EmRT ) (@) - 5,278
China Merchants Energy Shipping  EREsREGRDER AR
Co., Ltd. (“CM Energy”) Gi:E0) (a) 4,124 5,330
China Merchants Shekou Industrial B /Et 0 I RS
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd (‘CMSK”)  BRAR([#E@Ekn]) @) 10,002 3,790
Sinotrans Shipping Limited HINBYIR AR A A
(“Sinotrans Shipping”) ([rohEMR]) (a) 7,810 7,420
China Merchants Real Estate R BEEERR AT
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ([AEEE])
(“CM Real Estate”) @) 34,395 32,194
China Merchants Investment BEBREERER AR

Development Company Limited ([BERRERE])
(“CM Investment Development’)  (FIf&[ =BT D

(formerly known as “Z& 3|7 BEEEEERAR])

RN EEEEARAA

China Merchants Shekou Asset (@ & (c)

Management Co., Ltd.”) @k(c) 8,643 7,857
China Merchants Life Insurance B B ASREEAD

Company Limited BRAT

(“CM Life Insurance”’) ([BERLCMASRR]) (@) 2,179 1,835
China Merchants Commercial R B EREBRAF

Property Investment (Shenzhen) ([EEEE))

Co., Ltd. (“CMCP”) @) 12,589 11,841
China Merchants International B REERHE AR A

Technology Co., Ltd. (R ERR )

(“CM International Technology”) (Fif&E[FrEREE
(formerly known as “BrEBEIFE EERMBERAF])

BRMABRRAR]

China Merchants International (@ & (c)

information Technology Co., Ltd.”) @k 3,632 3,278
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas YRR AT

Shipping Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen BRAT]

Huanan Liquefied”) (FEYEERER]) (a) 669 572
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25. BEBEATRBEHMAIRS(Z)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BMEAL BEHLEE Hiat AR®T T ARET T
China Merchants Shekou Digital et Qg m R
City Technology Co., Ltd ARAF (@ & (c)
(“Digital City Technology”) ([ mRE) @ k) 5,945 3,260
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise 187540 01 %518 CRYI)
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd ARAF (@ & (c)
(“CM Shekou Enterprise”) (MBmOtE]) (@)X (c) 489 361
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping RYIBRZERERR A R (@ & (c)
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen Ming Wah”)  ([iF3JIBFZE |) (@) R(c) 1,801 868
China Merchants Xiong’an e RELIEREE
Investment Development Co., Ltd ARAF (@ & (c)
(“CM Xiong’an”) ([BERER]) @)X (c) - 598
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping ¢ A BEZEMIE AR A A (@ & (c)
Co., Ltd. (‘Minghua Shipping”) ([ BZEMTE ) @5 () 232 75
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping BEINEIERTE AR A A
Co., Ltd (“Guangzhou Haishun ([ EMNEIERHE ) @ & (c)
Shipping”) @k(c) 446 143
Shenzhen Haishun Marine FIEIEEEREER AR
Services Co., Ltd (FFYIBIEEE]) (@) & (c)
(“Shenzhen Haishun Marine”) @)X 575 185
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui YRR B R ERHY
Technology Co., Ltd (“Daojiahui ARAF (@ & (c)
Technology’) ([BIRERE ) (@X(c) 35 32
China Merchants Taiping Bay HERAK T EREEE
Development & Investment Co., R AR
Ltd. (“CM Taiping Bay”) ([HBEAFE]) (@) 703 -
International Container Leasing Co., BIFREHEFEHEGR A A
Ltd. (“International Container”) ([EIpREHERE]) (@) 91 -
94,360 84,971
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25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 25 BEATREHESRS(EZ)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL L SR Hiat ARET T ARETT
Car park income EEZIFA

CM International Technology i BB RHE (@) & (c)
@ X%(c) 52 33

CM Investment Development BRI EER @ & (c)
(@) k(c) 110 79

Minghua Shipping BRZE T (a) & (c)
@ X(c) 56 9

Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FYIERRIER (a) & (c)
@ X(c) 12 -
CM Real Estate BrREHE @ 252 222
CMCP BEEeE @) 23 32
Sinotrans Shipping RINEYTR (@) 72 87

577 462
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25.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 25 BEEATREHARS(EZ)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BMEAL BEHH B HizF AR¥T R ARETIT
Interest income FIEHA
CM Bank HBrEiReT @) - 6,068
Building management fee income  EFEIREIA
CMSK Bt D @ 148 82
CM International Technology e BRI R (@ & (c)
@ R(c) 680 584
CMCP BEEeE @ 831 945
CM Investment Development B R EER (@ & (c)
@kc) 1,098 1,192
CM Real Estate B EE (@) 3,951 4,668
Shekou TV BOERE @ - 10
CM Bank BERT © - 479
Sinotrans Shipping RINEYDR (@) 1,453 1,341
CM Energy el (a) 730 1,044
Minghua Shipping BREEMN S (@) 37 6
Shenzhen Haishun Marine wEIEEE @ & (c)
@k (c) 91 15
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FYIERRIER (@ & (c)
@)k (c) 134 22
CM Xiong’an B Rz (@) & (c)
@)% (c) - 115
CM Shekou Enterprise sty A3 (@ & (c)
@% () 32 74
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping RN B 7S (@ & (c)
@k (c) 7 12
Digital City Technology W mEhY (@ & (c)
(@ %(c) 835 139
Shenzhen Ming Wah YRR (@ & (c)
@)k (c) 362 121
CM Taiping Bay BT E (@) & (c)
(@)X (c) 385 -
International Container BIFR &R 5548 (@) & (c)
@k (c) 13 -
China Merchants Nine Commercial 1B 57 @£ B (RI)
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd ~ HR A 7] (a & (c)
(“CM Nine Commercial”) (TBEAAEE] (@)X (c) 430 -

11,281 10,849
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25.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 25 B@EATREEHERS(Z)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BMEAL BEHAHEE k23 AR¥T T ARET T
Other income H A
CMSK Bawen (@) 9 -
CMCP BREAE @ 22 15
CM Investment Development HEREEERE (a) & (c)
@X%(c) 1 51
CM Real Estate B EHhE (@) 280 459
Sinotrans Shipping FRINEYDT (@) 4 3
CM Energy HBEELIR (@) 1 3
CM International Technology BRI RE @ & (c)
@X(c) - 1
CM Bank BERT 9 - 181
Digital City Technology T EHE @ & (c)
(@) %(c) 19 2
CM Nine Commercial BN EE (@) & (c)
@) %(c) 31 -
367 715
Manager’s fee EHEANEH
China Merchants Land Asset HRERENEERR AT
Management Co. Limited (@) 18,934 18,074
Trustee’s remuneration KEEAFHY
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited ~ EEEE5E(EH)BRAF (b) 1,322 1,322
Principal valuer’s fee AR 1EATE
Cushman & Wakefield Limited HERITERAT (b) - 171
Property management expense YEEIEE
Shenzhen Investment Promotion FYBEYHEE R BRAF]
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd  ([3R&3IJIFBE])
(“SZ Investment Promotion”) (@) 55,480 48,787

Operations manager’s fee LEEEANEH
Shekou Enterprise O (@) 19,092 15,612
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25.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Balances with connected and related parties are as follows:

25. BEBEATRBEHMAIRS(Z)

EAREE AL MR 2 SEERIN T

2021 2020
2021 20204F
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BMEAL BEHLERE iz ARET T AREFTT
Amounts due from JEW LA AL
Trade nature B514E
SZ Investment Promotion wIYIHBRE (@) & (d)
(@) R (d) 9,691 7.701
CMSK Brwn (@ & (d)
@)X (d) - 28
Non-trade nature (note 1) IEE SIS (52
Eureka Iz (@) & (f)
(@) M 63,589 61,338
73,280 69,067
Amounts due to JE(TLA A LB
Trade nature B8
CM International Technology BRI R (@ & (e)
@ ke) 704 590
CMG BraRsE (€ 518 518
CM Investment Development HERREER @), (c) &
(e)
@~ (c)&
e 984 773
CM Shekou Enterprise HRrgie Q2 (@) & (e)
(@) 5 (e) 2,211 3,366
CM Energy HReeR @) & (e)
@) ke) 1,271 1,211
Sinotrans Shipping FRONEYDTR (@ & (e)
@)% 1,367 1,367
CM Life Insurance BB MASRE (@) & (e)
(@) Ee) 404 404
CM Bank RER1T (@) - 1,019
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FIEERRIER (@ & (e)
@)% (e) - 127
Daojiahui Technology BIRERHY (@), (c) &
(e)
@~ ()X
(e) 4 4
The Manager BEA (@ & (e)
@R 7,682 9,072
Non-trade nature (note ) B S (M atr)
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) B & GEYI) (@ & (f)
Limited BRAT (@) 50 363 363
Eureka s (@ & (f)
(@)X 20 20

15,528

18,834
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25. EALT KRB AR S (&

2021 2020
20214 20205

Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BEAL A SR Hiat ARET T ARETT

Deposits placed with the Group for — ZLiHERNEE %

the lease of the Group’s properties — JRANEE 7 a1E %

CM International Technology BRI R (@ & (c)

@kc) 704 590

CMG BEREE 518 518

CM Investment Development B RREER (@) & (c)

@kc) 956 773

CM Energy REEEIR (a) 1,271 1,211

Sinotrans Shipping FRYNETR (a) 1,367 1,367

CM Life Insurance s B M A SRR (a) 404 404

CM Bank iR T (9) = 1,019

Shenzhen Huanan Limited Y ZER AR AR (@) & (c)

@kc) - 127

Daojiahui Technology BIRERHY (@ & (c)

@k(c) 4 4
5,224 6,013

Notes: Haz -

(@) These companies are the subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by CMG, @ HEATABHREE(BERREETESZ
a substantial unitholder of China Merchants Commercial REIT. FEESBEU/FAAN) EEXEEREOMNER

o

(o)  These are connected parties as defined in the REIT Code. Cushman & ) WREEFTESSFH ZEABEAL - HEZR
Wakefield Limited is the principal valuer of China Merchants Commercial TERARDARBERAXEXESNAME
REIT. With effect from 4 December 2020, the principal valuer of China Rl - B2020F 12 4B - BrEREEETES
Merchants Commercial REIT is no longer classified as connected parties REGEMTNERRERES TR TN
under the REIT Code. BATL e

(€)  The English name is for identification purpose only. © ENEBEHRSE -

(d)  The Group generally required amounts to be settled within 30 days after 0 AEE—RER@BHIHRAEEEREERSE
issuance of demand note for its provision of rental and management RERE R R EB0R NAE BRI - BRERE
services to its related parties. The demand note would be issued on the BAE—EI{ERRL - BRAZIEMNKRKIZE
first working day of each month. The aging of the amounts are due within ZHBEF—EA R -
one month based on the date of invoice.

(e)  The amounts due to related companies are aged within one month based e ENEEBARZIEMNRRAZEZEA B —E
on date of invoice. AR .

()  The Group’s non-trade amounts due from/to related companies are ( ANEB R FENR FEfT BN A B3RS 51 E 5k IE
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand or within one year. BERE - 6B RBIEERN—FANEE -

(@  As CMG directly or indirectly hold less than 30% of CM Bank, CM Bank is 0 BRBEREEEEXHEEREBERITIN

no longer classified as a 30%-controlled company of CMG and classified
as connected parties under Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
REIT Code.

30% - FIL BRI TR ARRRERE
EHB0%EEN AT URBAEEMARS
FIERARES ETARRF AT REFES T
APAETHRBEAL -
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26. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
unitholders through the optimisation of the debt and net assets
attributable to unitholders. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged throughout the current year and prior
period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes secured bank borrowings and non-trade nature
amounts due to related companies, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and net assets attributable to the unitholders of
the Group, comprising issued units, other reserve and profits
less distribution.

The Manager reviews the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the Manager considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Manager, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the distributions or, issue of
new units as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption
of existing debts.

26. EANE e EIE

AEEEEHEER - UREREEMAES
Bre  WEBRB(EBRESEMRKA
ABRIEEEFERESEUREATRKER
RNEH - NEEZ BRRAERAFE RB
EHAR mEE

AEENENEBEBRLHRAS LIRS
FEMOEBFR(BRARIFRITERR
FENBERE A RIIER BIEERR) - UEAE
BESBUREARGEEFE(BEDE
TESEN - EtRHEHRENRDIK) °

EEATHRRMELRERE - (FREHO—
R BEEABEEEARARERERH
HEER - EREEANERER A%
B EREN K - BITHESEMRBEITH
EkERIR A EY - FEHERENGE -



R FER/ AERREERES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / 45 & B1 1% i 2= Bd 5

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12831HILFEE
27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. €mIT A
Categories of financial instruments SRT EER
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETTT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised costs BB AT ENEREE 810,351 426,041
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRNESHEE - 129,514
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised costs BHENATTEN S RAE 2,440,415 2,242,498

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, financial
assets at FVTPL (representing structured deposits), bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, distribution
payable, amounts due to related companies and secured
bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
certain of these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Manager
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate interest bearing bank balances,
structured deposits and bank borrowing. The Manager will
review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates
and ensure they are within reasonable range.

SRIESEE B ERBR
AEENTESRTABEE R
B YR ARIIA - RAABEFTA
BEaneREEBEBIEER) - RITHE
#HERE  EHREMENRIE  BED
&~ PR RERE R RISRIR A R A EIRRITE
R AAZEERIANFBEER ST
PR o METZEERT AERENER
LA R an el 8 5% 55 LB M R B an T o
EEABTEYEEZERAR - UHERKE
BRUIRBUEE 155 -

TSR

1327 2aN
T

AEE T EEE Y SF S ZRMITAERR
RBRUEERRRITERRSREN TR
@ o B ARKERE R SFBEKLA -
WiERZFEEBNEIEHRER
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. EMITE(E)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its
fixed-rate bank borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy in relation to its cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. However, the Manager monitors interest
rate exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of HIBOR.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared assuming
the variable-rate interest bearing bank borrowing outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and reasonably possible change in interest rate.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest bearing bank
borrowing and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year would decrease/increase
by RMB472,000 (2020: RMB486,000).

CREREEEERBKR(E)

miE ()

D
Ve,

AEBZ AR EENRRREEEE SR
TTEER

AEERFYEGELRSRENZER
KR BENRRERZFIREHPEER o R
- BERAREEENXAR  YHRE
2R EEEIPEANEERE o

AEEREREMNEEREBETNES
RITRENE RE AR

BTN XEENRARE LR EIE
17 BRI TFERBROE RN RERE
DI|ITAXFEER - BANKEELNEYH
AEBRRERRBEOZEARERE R
BRI [T IS BN AN RE M R
B | o

FEE AT
AT BRE ST TY RN IR 25 E L > 3%
SREET BRI RN BEREETR
8o NEAEEEEA SRS RERE
AL ok FIE50MEEE - FIRT A

BALEE -

HAF BRI R B 2 SBITHERFIE EFH/
NEES0EELEE (20204 : S0EEZL) mFTA
Hi S HRETE  AEEFAKRTIE LG
FMigEiRd 1 hn A R#472,0007T (2020
& AR¥486,0007T) °
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. TRIT B (&
Financial risk management objectives and policies tREREERERBE(E)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) TSR (Z)
Foreign currency risk SE R
Several subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT HEREEEAESE THEARIZFAIMN
have foreign currency denominated monetary item, which INEHERMEEIEE @« S AEBEmEEINE
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group [B\ [ o 2N [ IR B f 4 ) 5T (F ] N B i ep
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. BER - A - BIEASERINER - I
However, the Manager monitors foreign exchange exposure SHASEREEHTEREERR -
and will consider hedging significant currency risk should the
need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and REREER - NEBUAREUINE
monetary liabilities, denominated in currencies other than M ERNEBEENEEAGEMNEREEN
RMB at the end of each reporting period are as follows: T
Assets BE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
HK$ BT 109,125 116,444
uSD =TT 7 -
Liabilities BfE
2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

HK$ VBT 2,337,036 2,153,407
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. TRIT A (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of exchange
rate of the relevant foreign currency against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currency
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. 5% represents the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates if currency risk is to be assessed
by key management. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding relevant foreign currency denominated monetary
items. The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
(negative) number below indicates an increase (decrease) in
post-tax profit where the relevant foreign currency weakens
by 5% against RMB. For a 5% strengthening of the relevant
foreign currency against RMB, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit.

CREREEEERBKR(E)

miSER(E)

SME R ()

AREE T EXARINE A RKEE X KB
HIERE o

TRAVIAKEERINE LA RE TR
BT BE E M E R 7t K T B8 5% 2 Bk
B - 5% NEREEEHTEERREER
ARERAMSIEEE - FREDMERR
BAMUINSSHENHERERAR - TR
FRIDRERBENS%HEEL LI - TR
EE(RBORTE RSN L ARBAE
KNEE%E - BB BEME) LA () -
ERRNE LARBNER ETH5%E - &
HRMNELFEEARNTE

2021 2020
20214 20205

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

HK$ impact B2 111,396 101,848
USD impact ETE 1 -
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amounts of these
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due from
related companies, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spreads over a number of
counterparties and customers.

Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of rental income receivables from
tenants. The Manager monitors their balances on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the Manager
before rental agreements are entered into with tenants or
counterparties. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually
or based on provision matrix. In this regard, the Manager
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Manager has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. Except for credit-impaired tenants which are
assessed individually, the Manager determines the expected
credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix,
grouped by past due status.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

27. EMT R (&

CREREEEERBEKR(E)

FERR KA

RS ERERARRZHEFREBITRE
MEE  AIXAKERSHECERERMEE
R A EERR SN MHARIE
N EFEEMNREE

B e Uk BEESE R B SRR EE SRR -
AEEYEBREEETRER - MEARD
BRZERZHFREP

57 5 72 | 2 TE
B 5 JE W IE

BHRWKBABREKEF 2HSHA -
EEASREETEE P RKFIRNGER
EEASRERFPARZHFFILHER
AETTEERME © 1o - AREREE
HEEBIEEL - §EZREETR(ER M
S A B AR I R )T TIRUE RS  Bhitt
mE @ ERARKSAKEZEERREX
REFE e

EEADERBERMBEREERFIRF
WML A E BRI FURR 2 BITAHE
EBBEBHERE - RYHRERRE
M PETEBNEIN - BEEARBMER
BREREETZERENENEEESSE
Wi 4 -
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. EMITE(E)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

As part of the credit risk management, the Manager uses
trade receivables’ aging to assess the impairment because
these trade receivables consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the tenants
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific tenant is updated.

To mitigate the risk of financial loss from default, tenants of
the rental properties are required to pay two months deposits
upon entering into leases. The Group has the right to offset
the deposits against the outstanding receivables should the
tenants default rental payments.

Tenants of the rental properties is required to settle the
demand note within 30 days. Rental is payable in advance
and interest is charged immediately on overdue balance at the
rate of 1% per day during the year. In addition, the Manager
is responsible for follow up action to recover the overdue
debt. The Manager also reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debtor regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts.
Based on the ECL assessment, reversal of impairment loss
for trade receivables of RMB18,000 had been recognised
(2020: loss allowance of RMB213,000) during the year ended
31 December 2021.

CREREEEERBKR(E)

(EERBRRAETE ()

EREERRERN R BEEAZRE
ZRMGRIBRERHERE - AXFESE
WHIRBIEAE AR BRI/ N
BF - AIRBEFREA QERFEEN
B HAFIRRBES ©

AETBRLERDREBEEFRERFHAN
BEBSRENL XM - UBEAREER
ZPRANSHE S BN AT IS eV ATRE (£ B RHE
AE - BESMATERREEEERN - A
ERERSEHEPNEBENEEES -

RIFERRER ZMBIERRR  HEY
EZHEPANRFT AR AN REA 2R
T o WEHEPIERES  AEEBEINIE
S IHAREE 2 BIFOR -

THEWMENAFL FHE0AANLEHENE -
FRN - BEABRAEXAEE - M S5
HA4E 5215 15 B FI 3R 1% BB UER © BEoh -
EIEABERETEARLBIPERS - &
B AR TSR SEMERE S ERER
RZ AW el e3R8 - FREREAKE 2 &
BRERARHREERE - REBHEEES
BalE - HZE2021F12A31HIEFER
RE 5 E W E R B 1R B R A
R #18,0007T (20204F : EiEBHE A REE
213,0007T) °
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from related companies

The Manager has made periodic assessments as well as
individual assessment on recoverability based on historical
settlement records and adjusts for forward looking
information. In view of the strong financial capability of these
related parties under CMG in respect of amounts due from
related parties with gross carrying value of RMB73,280,000
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB69,067,000) and
considered the future prospects of the industry in which these
related parties operate, the Manager does not consider there
is a risk of default and does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these related parties, and accordingly, no
impairment was recognised in respect of the amounts due
from related parties.

Bank balances

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high credit
ratings. The credit risk for bank balances is considered as
not material as such amount is placed in reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL on these balances
are by reference to probability of default and loss given default
by credit rating grades published by international credit rating
agencies and concluded that the expected credit losses are
insignificant and thus no impairment loss has recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A31AILFE

27. EMT R (&

CREREEEERBEKR(E)

EERBRRRER G ()

7 I BE A N =] 2
JEUS GG B0 R

EEABENBELE LR ]I E
o AR R AE BT - SRR ATRE M E R
EL AR - ERNEE RS EZEEE 50
BEHHEE - 732021512 831 B #)fE 1
% 5 FOB R BR A 4818 A A R #73,280,000
7t (20204 : AR #69,067,00007T) + I
BE BRSNS E B TR
Rilx  BEEARATNGFEELNRRKETRE
BT g RZERY 5 T B mABEEME
K B ESLE IR R 5 BB ERRRE o

AEBETEESEREFRANRITETR
5 ROIEHRZEERRERRBEIE
K BRARZEFEREFHRNEERSFAE
BREEFARBLETREEIRZR
17 - ARE N2 EEREEFEBELMH
MEEFRER2EOME RENEREX
B SRS 12(8 A EREEERETT
% EwmARHEEBRYTEAN - At
I EFERIRERE
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. EMITE(E)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Manager monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The Group had a net current liabilities of RMB1,665,353,000.
In preparing the financial statements, the Manager has given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and financial
position of the Group and its available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain plans and
measures have been taken by the Manager to mitigate the
liquidity position of the Group as detailed in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Manager are taking active steps to improve the future
liquidity position of the Group by generating sufficient
operating funds internally and renewal of existing available
banking facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities, which has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. The undiscounted amount
is calculated based on effective interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.

CREREEEERBKR(E)

REBEEZRE
AEERBDESRERMNE - AREERL
HRRE MRS FEYNEEERRESN
ZKRF - BAREXRBGREES - WK
Ren8RBHcTE - BEAEREAR
TRERWIER - WHERETERES

AEBRHABEFEREARE
1,665,353,0007T ° IAAREE IER&TEF + B
BARTHEAEBRES A RHANTIEER
FECEERR - EEAEBRRNTH
MR B RO M AT e A OB E T R
ZE o BEADLRIE THEI RIEE -
DFEARENREBES KN - 5B
BI4r & B ISR MIEES.1 -

B ALEBRRITE - BEABELT
RONEEES  UEBERAAISRITA
B MEAKERARKRBEDNNR

TRFAMARERETETASRARE
MRS E - DERRBAREER
WERNRNRTF BN EREEZARRE
BREREFTESFH - TREEME LA
TREME - RERESBEHERRE R
MERFMEGTE -
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. TRIT B (&
Financial risk management objectives and policies tREREERERBE(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRRE)
Weighted  On demand Total
average or 1-30 31-90 91-365 1-2 2-5 undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate days days days years years  cash flows amount
i | REX REE

ToRE 108 3E08  91-3658 1-2F 255 EEREHE B
%  RMBOOO  RMB'OOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBIO0O
ARETT  ARETR  ARMTL  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

2021 N5
Trade and other payables oA tERTE - 20,261 2014 14,042 15,507 25,396 78,620 78,620
Amounts due to related companies  FERTEBIATIZUE - 15,528 - = - = 15,528 15,528
Distrbution payable EfAR - 13302 - - - - 136002 136392
Bank horrowings FiTtes
-fixed rate -8 255 4,464 8928 2,141,654 - - 2155046 2,007,979
- variable rate -i38 125 118 2% 114,058 - - 11482 1118%
176,763 1,178 220,654 15,507 5806 2499098 2440415
2020 pl3
Trade and other payables BaREMENE - 18,070 833 12411 14613 2,10 69,037 69,037
Amounts due to related companies  JERTERIARIEVE - 18,834 - - - - 18,834 18,834
Distrbution payable EfAR - 142073 - - - - 1073 142013
Bank borrowings Fites
- fired rate -8 27 4313 8,6% 39433 1,985,077 - 2007448 1896625
- variable rate -28 159 145 291 132 118183 - 1991 115,929

183,435 9,749 53236 2,067,833 810 2307363 224249
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27.

28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Financial assets at FVTPL (representing structured deposits)
are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
and the fair value measurement is categorised as level 2. The
fair value is determined by discounted cash flow where future
cash flows are estimated based on expected return.

The fair values of the other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis.

The Manager considers that the carrying amounts of the other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 17, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
borrowings will or may be subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the relevant
IBOR regulators and acknowledgements from the banks.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant HIBOR bank
borrowings has been transitioned to the relevant replacement
rates during the year.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”)
has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no
plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been
adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-
exist.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings are
secured by its investment properties with carrying amounts of
RMB5,858,000,000 (2020: RMB5,776,000,000).

27

28.

AR A AT R MY A

SWMTAM)
ETMIRZAAEETE
BonBEFABENEEEAE (AEHEE
FRORBERRZAAEETE - MR
BEAESB/E A - WAKRERE
BERAHERER G - AAEEERMERR

AP B ke
CREET °

HiteREERSBAE
BERBRERSRENN
BT -

EF

DR EETR
NREERE

EEARR » NEHERADFRN AR
BROEMCEREERSRBAENEREE
HENAEERE °

RREEYE

FAAMEE7PIS - AEEBEREBIRTT
R B XG B2 RITEF S 2L A8
BN REERE 7 AR o REBEIEZYE
EMi5 - URBREREENRETER
TE - BREABRITRAEFEEEHBIE
HZ NERIRITIE 2 FER

AR B R (TR 25 B 2 R
BRRAAEEDBEEAMEARE - 4
ARETHEAMBRALEYE -

FRBRITRARFE
BEBITBERFHEHCRIET /T BIR
TRZEFEMB R - B B AL EFE
ERAEBRITRAEF NS - BEERR
ZRNELFHR - MEBEBRITRERE
KBTI FIEBEKE LT

BEERM

2021612318 « AEBMRITERE
JEBR T B A A R 5,858,000,0007T (2020
£ . AR¥5776,000,0007T) IR E W %
{EHAR -
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29.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 29.%’5@%%”%%%%@21%%

SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS NG

COMMERCIAL REIT

At the end of reporting period, China Merchants Commercial RpEHR  HREAEERTESNUAT
REIT has direct and indirect shareholdings/equity interests in B ATIHA EiE R EERE A fERS

the followings subsidiaries:

Place and Shareholding/
date of Issued and fully equity interest
incorporation/ paid capital/ attributable to
establishment/ registered and the Group as at
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
ERTR Ar5E
AMAYL/ BRI,/ BRES R “12A318
WEARERE EENERAH REZER EERERAES TEEHK
2021 2020
2021% 2020F
% %
Directly held:
BERE
Treasure Supreme International Limited BV USD1 100 100 Investment holding
2 July 2020 E REER
RERUHES
20207 H2H
Indiirectly held:
R -
Frontier Shekou Commercial BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited 16 April 2014 1E7T B
HERTES
2014644168
Shekou Times Limited BV USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 127 BEBR
RERTES
20144 H23H
Shekou Garden City Limited BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 ET AR
EERTES
20144 H238
Shekou Net Valley Technology Limited BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 S BB
RERUHES
20144 H23H
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Limited BV USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 E WEIERR
EERUHES

201444 A23H
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29.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 20 ¥R ERETEESZTEN
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS IEPNGIEIE=)),
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)
Place and Shareholding/
date of Issued and fully equity interest
incorporation/ paid capital/ attributable to
establishment/ registered and the Group as at
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
ERTR XEE
SMALRY,/  BRESER M12831R
WEARER EENERAH REHEX FEAERRAE R AR TERER
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
% %
Indirectly held: (continued)
FERE (&
Shekon Net Valley Garden City BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
Cyberport Limited 23 April 2014 e BB
HERTES
201464 H23H
Shekou Times (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
wOEA (BB ERAR 26 May 2014 ARBAT BB
e
20145 H26H
Shekou Garden City (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
AR (F8)BRAR 26 May 2014 ARBAT REER
0
201455 H26H
Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREAT AR
wOBARIR(EE)BRAT BE
20145 H26H
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AR#ITT BB
BORARE (BB ERAT EB
2014F5A726H
Shekou Net Valley Garden City Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
Cyberport (Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREAT BB
ORI (BE)BERAR 30
201445 H26H
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. 23 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007T holding
MM OHEREXERER AR H FEREME
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HE2021F12A31AILFE
29.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 20 ¥R HYXETESTEMN
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS B AR (E)
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)
Place and Shareholding/
date of Issued and fully equity interest
incorporation/ paid capital/ attributable to
establishment/ registered and the Group as at
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
ERTR rx5E
AR R BRER R M12A31A
WEAREMH EEBNRAS REZER AL IR IR AR TEEK
2021 2020
20214 2020F
% %
Indlirectly held: (continued)
A (&)
Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. 24 April 2014 AR 2,000,000 holding
MImEENEEEREBARAT H FHEREME
2014F4 A23H
Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate  The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. 25 April 2014 AE#2,000,0007T holding
RYTRAREXERERAA] h REREME
20144 H258
Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. 24 April 2014 AR #2,000,0007C holding
RTRAZHEXERER AR H FAERENME
2014547248
Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate  The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. 23 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007T holding
A TEEAREXERAR H REREME
201454 A23H
Note: The English name is for identification only. Wit - RXERERSE -
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

Reporting 2020
Year  Relevant Year
BREFE THEAFE
Net assets attributable to Unitholders EeBUBEARLEEFE
(RMB million) (AEEBET) 4,007 3,910
Net assets per unit attributable to Unitholders E& B E AEETES B
(RMB) BEFE(ARET) 3.55 3.47
(Equivalent to HK$) (IEET) 4,34 412
Highest traded unit price (HK$) REAREE(HET) 3.04 3.36
Highest premium of the traded unit price to XX BEBEEFESEMNEEFELZ N/A REH N/A N5
the net asset value per unit (Note i) S (E ()
Lowest traded unit price (HK$) RIER AR EE(BTT) 2.37 2.03
Highest discount of the traded unit price to XX BEBEFESEMNEEFELZ
the net asset value per unit EEiTE 45.5% 50.7%
Market capitalisation (Note ii) (HK$ million)  m{&E(FiTi) (B & T) 2,944 2,763
Units issued BEITESEN 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Annualised Provisional DPU yield (Note iii) Fo 8 EFES B R = (M i) 7.1% 7.0%
Notes: et -

i The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value per unit
attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2021. Accordingly, premium of
the traded unit price to the net asset value per unit has not been recorded.

ii. Market capitalization is calculated based on the closing unit price of HK$2.61 i,
(2020: HK$2.45) times the unit issued as at 31 December 2021.

iii. The annualized net yield per unit is calculated based on the total distributable i,
income per unit for the period and the closing unit price HK$2.61 (2020:
HK$2.45).

kR EERR2021F12 A31 BE L BLEH AR
EEESBN 2 EEFE - At - WESSARERE
REESEMEEFEIRE -

TEER2021F12 A31 BHES B TE2.6187T
(2020%F : 2458 ) RIAREKITES B E -

FEESBEMFRSERENPRSES BN AES
IRUE A 4B RE B E & B A7 T {E2.61 7870 (2020%F : 2.45
PETC)ETE ©
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